A COMPENDIUM OF RESEARCH IN OPERATOR ALGEBRAS AND OPERATOR THEORY

JAYDEB SARKAR

ABSTRACT. This chapter surveys the advances of the past decade arising from the contributions of Indian mathematicians in the broad areas of operator algebras and operator theory. It brings together the work of twenty mathematicians and their collaborators, each writing from the perspective of their respective research fields and beyond. Several problems highlighted here are expected to shape the future development of the subject at a global level.

Contents

For	eword	2
1.	Some problems in operator theory and related topics	2 3
2.	Fourier theory, angle, Pimsner-Popa bases and regularity for inclusions of	
	C^* -algebras	10
3.	Contributions in Banach space theory	12
4.	Quantum dynamical maps and quantum Gaussian states	14
5.	On Carathéodory approximation	16
6.	Operator theory on quotient domains	18
7.	Trace formulas in operator theory	21
8.	Dilation of operators and algebraic varieties	23
9.	The Weighted Discrete Semigroup Algebra $\ell^1(S,\omega)$	24
10.	Cartan isometries and Cartan contractions	26
11.	Norms on operator space tensor products and C^* -envelopes of operator	
	systems	29
12.	Bohr's Inequality and the Gleason–Kahane–Żelazko Theorem	31
13.	von Neumann Algebras	33
14.	Applications of Birkhoff-James orthogonality in studying the geometry of	
	operators between Banach spaces	35
15.	Commutators and Lie algebras of compact operators	37
16.	On subclasses of norm attaining operators on Hilbert spaces	39
17.	Generalized Parrott homomorphisms and Banach space geometry	41
18.	Large time behaviour of operator semigroups	43
19.	Recent developments in E_0 -semigroups and product systems	45
20.	C^* -algebras, K-theory and Dynamics	48
Ref	References	

FOREWORD

Operator algebras and operator theory are subfields of analysis, more specifically of functional analysis. Broadly speaking, these areas concern linear operators, as well as the algebras, subalgebras, and vector spaces formed by such operators. The origins of the subject lie in the study of matrices and matrix spaces. It is also important to note that the nature of the underlying spaces, even at the level of finite-dimensional vector spaces, plays a significant role in the broader theory. This perspective is particularly apparent in the theory of Banach spaces.

The core of these areas touches upon nearly all major branches of mathematics, including harmonic analysis, partial and ordinary differential equations, complex analysis (both one and several variables), geometry, topology, and even number theory. The broader field also connects with control theory, branches of engineering, and recent developments in quantum computation and machine learning. The central aim of this area of linear analysis is to investigate the structure of linear operators as well as the spaces generated by such operators, much as one does for matrices. It has produced a number of results and connections of broad mathematical interest. Notable examples include the Atiyah–Singer index theorem; Brown–Douglas–Fillmore theory on the essential spectrum and index theory; the solution of the Bieberbach conjecture; the algebraic and topological approaches to the classification of C^* -algebras; the solution of the Kadison–Singer problem; Taylor's Koszul complex approach to the spectrum of tuples of operators; the profound theory of the geometry of Banach spaces; wavelet theory; and the role of algebraic varieties and complex geometry in understanding the structure of operators in several variables, among other developments.

The theory of linear analysis, or more specifically matrix theory, was formally initiated through the work of Grassmann and Sylvester. However, it was Stefan Banach and John von Neumann who laid much of the foundation for the modern theory of linear operators on Hilbert and Banach spaces. Not long after this period, the culture of linear analysis in India also flourished and soon became a subject of great interest to many Indian mathematicians. The subject was then led by a number of mathematicians working in India including K.R. Parthasarathy, M.G. Nadkarni, Ashoke Kumar Roy, K.B. Sinha, Rajendra Bhatia, V.S. Sunder, Gadadhar Misra, Subhash J. Bhatt, B. V. Limaye, and Ameer Athavale, among others.

The baton from these senior mathematicians has been carried forward by a much larger and still-growing community working in operator algebras and operator theory in India today. In particular, the past decade has witnessed remarkable results from Indian mathematicians, including a surge of contributions from younger researchers.

It is both timely and important to report on the achievements of Indian mathematicians in these areas in the past decade and to highlight future directions and possibilities. This chapter consists of 19 contributions, along with a special extended section of open problems contributed by Gadadhar Misra. Together, these contributions cover a broad spectrum of mathematics within operator algebras, operator theory, and related topics. All the contributors are well-established researchers who have been active in the field for a considerable time. Collectively, their work showcases the present strength and the emerging future leadership of Indian mathematics on the global stage.

It is important to emphasize that our role in this chapter is primarily to bring together all the contributors on a common platform and to organize their work in a coherent manner. That said, the full scientific credit for the content of this chapter belongs to the authors of the 20 individual sections. The names, affiliations, and contact details of the contributors to each section are provided immediately after its title.

1. Some problems in operator theory and related topics

By Gadadhar Misra [gm@isibang.ac.in] from ISI Bangalore and IIT Gandhinagar.

Introduction. The development of multi-variate operator theory has paralleled that of function theory in several complex variables except that the non-commuting co-ordinates pose an entirely new set of challenges. The introduction of methods of commutative algebra for studying problems in this area by viewing a pair $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{T})$, where $\mathbf{T} := (T_1, \ldots, T_n)$ is a commuting n-tuple of operators on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , as a Hilbert module via the multiplication $(p, h) \mapsto p(\mathbf{T})h$, $p \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$, $h \in \mathcal{H}$, was the beginning of a systematic new development. This perspective is powerful because it allows the application of tools from commutative algebra. On the other hand, these techniques don't apply directly because of the continuity assumption of the module multiplication either in just the first variable, or in both the variables. A choice is made depending on the problem at hand.

A second ingredient has been the action of a group locally compact second countable topological group G on the module $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{T})$. Assume that X is a nonempty subset \mathbb{C}^d and that the action of $g \in G$ is holomorphic in some open neighbourhood of \overline{X} . If \mathbf{T} is a d- tuple and X is the Taylor joint spectrum of $\sigma(\mathbf{T})$, then $g \cdot \mathbf{T}$ is defined by the usual holomorphic functional calculus. The classification of imprimitivity systems $\left(X,G,(\mathcal{H},\mathbf{T})\right):=\left\{\mathbf{T}:U_g^*p(\mathbf{T})U_g=(g\cdot p)(\mathbf{T})\right\}$, defined as the set of d- tuples \mathbf{T} satisfying $U^*gp(\mathbf{T})Ug=(g\cdot p)(\mathbf{T})$ for all $g\in G, p\in \mathbb{C}[\mathbf{z}]$; where U_g is a unitary representation of the group G and $g\cdot p=p\circ g^{-1}$, is an important problem. One may study such imprimitivities by choosing a group G acting on X. This choice might vary from a transitive action to an action, where the number of orbits of G in X are quite large. For a typical example, consider $X=\overline{\mathbb{D}}^n$, the n-fold product of the unit closed disc, and the group G to be either the bi-holomorphic automorphism group of $\overline{\mathbb{D}}^n$ or simply the permutation group \mathfrak{S}_n acting on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}^n$.

The study of these problems are greatly facilitated by the analysis of a class holomorphic curves in the Grassmannian $Gr(\mathcal{H}, n)$ of rank n in some separable complex Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . These holomorphic curves arise from a class of operators acting on some Hilbert space \mathcal{H} introduced in the paper [159]. The operators in this class possess an open set $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ of eigenvalues of (constant) multiplicity k and characterized by the existence of a holomorphic map $\gamma:\Omega\to\mathcal{H}$ such that $\gamma(w):=(\gamma_1(w),\ldots,\gamma_k(w)), T\gamma_i(w)=w\gamma_i(w), 1\leq i\leq k, w\in\Omega$. For k=1, one of the main features of the operator T in this class is that the curvature $\mathcal{K}_T(w):=-\partial\bar{\partial}\log\|\gamma_T(w)\|^2$ of the holomorphic Hermitian line bundle E_T determined by the holomorphic map γ_T equipped with the Hermitian structure $\|\gamma_T(w)\|^2$ is a complete unitary invariant for the operator T.

A complete set of invariants, originally obtained by Cowen and Douglas for any $k \geq 1$, have been refined to provide a tractable set of invariants for large class of Cowen-Douglas operators in $B_k(\Omega)$, $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}$, [238, 241]. In these papers, after imposing a mild condition

on the Cowen-Douglas bundles, it is shown that the curvature together with the second fundamental form serves as a complete set of invariants.

Homogeneous operators. It is easy to see that if T is a contraction in the Cowen-Douglas class of the unit disc \mathbb{D} , then $\mathcal{K}_T(w) \leq \mathcal{K}_{S^*}(w)$, where S^* is the backward unilateral shift acting on ℓ^2 . Choosing a holomorphic frame γ_{S^*} , say $\gamma_{S^*}(w) = (1, w, w^2, \ldots)$, it follows that

$$\|\gamma_{S^*}(w)\|^2 = (1 - |w|^2)^{-1}, \ \mathcal{K}_{S^*}(w) = -(1 - |w|^2)^{-2}, \ w \in \mathbb{D},$$

with respect to the frame γ . Thus the operator S^* is an extremal operator in the class of all contractive Cowen-Douglas operator. R. G. Douglas asked if the curvature \mathcal{K}_T of a contraction T achieves equality in this inequality even at just one point, then does it follow that T must be unitarily equivalent to S^* ? It is easy to see that the answer is "no", in general. However, if T is homogeneous, namely, $U_{\varphi}^*TU_{\varphi} = \varphi(T)$ for each biholomorphic automorphism φ of the unit disc and some unitary U_{φ} , then the answer is "yes". Of course, it is then natural to ask what are all the homogeneous operators.

Assume there exists a projective unitary representation σ of Möb such that $\varphi(T) = \sigma(\varphi)^*T\sigma(\varphi)$ for all for all Möbius transformations φ . If this is the case, the operator T is homogeneous and we say that $\sigma(\varphi)$ is associated with the operator T. A Möbius equivariant version of the Sz.-Nagy-Foias model theory for completely non-unitary (cnu) contractions is developed in [67]. As an application, we prove that if T is a cnu contraction with associated (projective unitary) representation σ , then there is a unique projective unitary representation $\hat{\sigma}$, extending σ , associated with the minimal unitary dilation of T. The representation $\hat{\sigma}$, which extends σ , is given in terms of σ by the formula

$$\hat{\sigma} = (\pi \otimes D_1^+) \oplus \sigma \oplus (\pi_{\star} \otimes D_1^-),$$

where D_1^{\pm} are the two Discrete series representations (one holomorphic and the other anti-holomorphic) living on the Hardy space $H^2(\mathbb{D})$, and π , π_{\star} are representations of Möb living on the two defect spaces of T and defined explicitly in terms of σ and T. Moreover, a cnu contraction T has an associated representation if and only if its Sz.-Nagy-Foias characteristic function θ_T has the product form $\theta_T(z) = \pi_{\star}(\varphi_z)^*\theta_T(0)\pi(\varphi_z)$, $z \in \mathbb{D}$, where φ_z is the involution in Möb mapping z to 0. We obtain a concrete realization of this product formula for a large subclass of homogeneous cnu contractions from the Cowen-Douglas class; these are the holomorphic imprimitivity systems among the homogeneous contractions.

Problem 1.1. Find all the homogeneous contractions using the product formula for the Sz.-Nagy – Foias characteristic function.

Given a pair of positive real numbers α , β and a sesqui-analytic function K on a bounded domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}^m$, we investigate the properties of the real-analytic function

$$K^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\boldsymbol{z},\boldsymbol{z}) := \left(\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \bar{z}_j \partial z_i} K^{(\alpha+\beta)} \log K(\boldsymbol{z},\boldsymbol{z}) \right) \right)_{1 \leq i,j \leq m}, \ \boldsymbol{z} \in \Omega,$$

taking values in $m \times m$ matrices. The kernel $K^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is non-negative definite whenever K^{α} and K^{β} are non-negative definite. In this case, a realization of the Hilbert module determined by the kernel $K^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is obtained. Let \mathcal{M}_i , i=1,2, be two Hilbert modules over the polynomial ring $\mathbb{C}[z_1,\ldots,z_m]$. The tensor product $\mathcal{M}_1\otimes\mathcal{M}_2$ is clearly a module over the ring $\mathbb{C}[z_1,\ldots,z_{2m}]$. This module multiplication restricts to $\mathbb{C}[z_1,\ldots,z_m]$ via the

diagonal map $z \mapsto (z, z)$, $z \in \Omega$. Now, a natural decomposition of the tensor product $\mathcal{M}_1 \otimes \mathcal{M}_2$ very similar to the Clebsch-Gordon decomposition of the tensor product of two irreducible unitary representations occurs relative to the multiplication restricted to $\mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_m]$. Two of the initial pieces in this decomposition have been identified in [203]. The first of these is simply the restriction of $\mathcal{M}_1 \otimes \mathcal{M}_2$ to the diagonal set $\Delta := \{(z, z) : z \in \Omega\}$, while the second piece in the decomposition is the module determined by the kernel $K^{(\alpha,\beta)}$. Moreover, if Ω is a bounded symmetric domain, then $K^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is covariant whenever K is covariant under the action of the bi-holomorphic automorphism group of Ω .

Problem 1.2. Find all the components in the decomposition of the tensor product of two Hilbert modules. This would be analogous to the Clebsch - Gorden decomposition for tensor product of two unitary representations.

Holomorphic imprimitivity. Let $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{T})$ be a Hilbert module over a ring \mathcal{R} . Suppose that a group G acts on \mathcal{H} , that is, there exists a map $U: G \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ defined by $U(g, f) = U_g f$ for some unitary homomorphism $U_g, g \in G, f \in \mathcal{H}$. Assume also that the group G acts on the ring \mathcal{R} and let us denote this action by $(g, \phi) \to g \cdot \phi, g \in G$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{R}$. The imprimitivity condition is the requirement

$$U_g^* m_{\phi}(f) U_g = m_{g \cdot \phi}(f), \ g \in G, h \in \mathcal{H}, \phi \in \mathcal{R}.$$

Specializing to the case where the ring \mathcal{R} is a commutative C^* algebra, that is, \mathcal{R}) = C(X) for some locally compact Hausdroff space X, where X is a G - space gives the Mackey imprimitivity. In this case, the module $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{T})$ can be identified with $L^2(X, d\mu)$ and \mathbf{T} is the commuting tuple of multiplication operators on $L^2(X, d\mu)$, where $d\mu$ is a measure on X quasi-invariant under the action of the group G. Thus the commuting tuple \mathbf{T} is a commuting tuple of normal operators. The condition of imprimitivity is the requirement that \mathbf{T} is homogeneous, that is,

$$U_g^* \mathbf{T} U_g = g \cdot \mathbf{T}, \ g \in G,$$

where the continuous action of G on X is nothing but a continuous function on X and the $g \cdot T$ is defined via the usual continuous functional calculus for a commuting tuple of normal operators. The imprimitivity has an apparent stronger form. The action of G on X induces a * - homomorphism of C(X) given by the formula $\phi_g : \phi \to \phi \circ g$, $\phi \in C(X)$. Now, the imprivity relation can be written in the form

$$U_g^*\phi(\mathbf{T})U_g = \phi_g(\mathbf{T}), \ g \in G, \ \phi \in C(X).$$

Mackey's imprimitivity theorem says that these imprimitivities are in one to one correspondence with induced representations of the subgroup H, where H is determined by realizing X in the form X := G/H. An imprimitivity system is called irreducible if there is no closed subspace $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ such that \mathcal{M} is invariant under the representation U_g of the group G and the * - representation $\phi \to \phi(T)$. One of the early results of Mackey is that irreducible representations of the subgroup H corresponds to irreducible multiplier representations of the group G. There is a vast literature on this subject. However, there has been no attempt to understand the subspaces \mathcal{M} invariant under both U_g and M_{ϕ} , $g \in G$ and $\phi \in C(X)$. The restriction of an imprimitivity to such an invariant subspace corresponds to homogeneous subnormal operators. In joint work with A. Korányi, we are in the process of describing these invariant subspaces in one of the simplest cases, namely,

where $X = \mathbb{D}$ is the open unit disc and G is the Möbius group of biholomorphic automorphisms of the disc \mathbb{D} . These invariant subspaces, typically, consist of holomorphic functions defined on X, hence we choose to call the restriction of an imprimitivity (in the sense of Mackey) to an invariant subspace "holomorphic imprimitivity".

Consider for example, the Hilbert space $L^{(\lambda)}$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, of measurable (complex-valued) functions on the open unit disc \mathbb{D} , such that

$$||f||_{\lambda}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{D}} (1 - |z|^2)^{\lambda - 2} |f(z)|^2 dA_z < \infty.$$

 $(dA_z \text{ stands for } dxdy, z = x + iy.)$ Let G be the simply connected covering group of SU(1,1); g(z) and $g'(z) = \frac{\partial(g(z))}{\partial z}$ still make sense for $g \in G$. The group G acts on $L^{(\lambda)}$ via a unitary representation U_g defined by the multiplier $g'(z)^{-\lambda/2}$. Explicitly (it is simpler to write down $U_{q^{-1}}$ than U_q),

$$U_{g^{-1}}f(z) = g'(z)^{\lambda/2}f(g(z)).$$

Unitarity follows from the identity $(1 - |z|^2)|g'(z)| = 1 - |g(z)|^2$.

The representation induced in the sense of Mackey by the character $-\frac{\lambda}{2}$ of K, the stabilizer of 0 in G, is U_g . This follows by observing that any $g \in K$ acts by a rotation $g(z) = e^{i\theta}z$, and then $g'(z)^{-\lambda/2} = e^{-i\frac{\lambda}{2}\theta}$. The subspace $H^{(\lambda)}$ of holomorphic functions in $L^{(\lambda)}$ is invariant under $\{U_g : g \in G\}$. This subspace $H^{(\lambda)}$ is not zero if and only if $\lambda > 1$; in this case, the restriction of $\{U_g : g \in G\}$ to $H^{(\lambda)}$ is the holomorphic discrete series. The subspace $H^{(\lambda)}$ is also an invariant subspace for the operator M defined by Mf(z) = zf(z).

Problem 1.3. Is $H^{(\lambda)}$ the only subspace invariant under both $\{U_q: g \in G\}$ and M?

The question of classifying the holomorphic imprimitivities on a bounded symmetric domain Ω amounts to classification of commuting tuples of homogeneous of operators in the Cowen-Douglas class of Ω . There is a one to one correspondence between these and the holomomorphic homogeneous vector bundles on the bounded symmetric domain Ω . The homogeneous bundles can be obtained by holomorphic induction from representations of a certain parabolic Lie algebra on finite dimensional inner product spaces. The representations, and the induced bundles, have composition series with irreducible factors. In joint work with A. Korányi [258, 257], our first main result is the construction of an explicit differential operator intertwining the bundle with the direct sum of its factors. Next, we study Hilbert spaces of sections of these bundles. We use this to get, in particular, a full description and a similarity theorem for homogeneous n-tuples of operators in the Cowen-Douglas class of the Euclidean unit ball in \mathbb{C}^m . A different approach is in [303]. The initial study of these questions restricted to the case of homogeneous holomorphic line bundles is in [107].

All these examples involve transitive action of the group G on a homogeneous G- space, namely, $\Omega = G/H$ for some closed subgroup $H \subseteq G$. The study of homogeneity under the action of a group not necessarily acting transitively is more complicated. A small class of operators homogeneous under the action of the unitary group has been identified in [205].

Problem 1.4. Let \mathbb{B} be the Euclidean ball in \mathbb{C}^d and T be a commuting d- tuple of operators in the Cowen-Douglas class $B_k(\mathbb{B})$. The unitary group $\mathcal{U}(d)$ acts on any d-

tuple of commuting operators as follows

$$u \cdot T := ((u_{11}T_1 + \dots + u_{1d}T_d), \dots, (u_{d1}T_1 + \dots + u_{dd}T_d)), u \in \mathcal{U}(K).$$

We say that T is $\mathcal{U}(d)$ - homogeneous if $u \cdot T$ is unitarily equivalent to T for all $u \in \mathcal{U}(d)$. Find all the $\mathcal{U}(d)$ - homogeneous operators in $B_k(\mathbb{B})$.

Algebraic geometry and operator theory. The very successful Sz.-Nagy – Foias model theory for contractions has two parts. First, one identifies a Hilbert module over the disc algebra which serves as an universal object and then obtain every contractive Hilbert module as a quotient of this universal object. Second, for any contractive module (\mathcal{H}, T) , Sz.-Nagy and Foias define a characteristic operator Θ_T and show that it is a complete unitary invariant for (\mathcal{H}, T) . The Nagy – Foias theory builds on two fundamental results, the first is the von Neumann - Wold decomposition of an isometry and the other is the Beurling's characterization of the invariant subspaces of the shift operator. Here is a special case: Any contractive Hilbert module (\mathcal{H}, T) in the class $C_{\cdot 0}$ is a quotient of the Hardy module $H_{\mathcal{E}}^2(\mathbb{D})$ by a submodule \mathcal{E} which must be of the form $\Theta H_{\mathcal{E}}^2(\mathbb{D})$ for some inner function Θ by Beurling's theorem. Moreover, Θ is a complete invariant for the module (\mathcal{H}, T) .

One proof of the Beurling's theorem can be made up from the observation that all the submodules of the Hardy module are isomorphic. Interestingly, the quotient modules corresponding to these provide models for "practically" all the contractive modules. It is easy to produce examples in submodules of $H^2(\mathbb{D}^2)$ that are not of the form one would predict from the Beurling characterization. For example, take the submodule S_0 consisting of functions vanishing at (0,0). Not only that the submodule S_0 is not isomorphic to $H^2(\mathbb{D}^2)$ as opposed to the case of one variable. On the other hand the submodules fail to detect the class of the quotient module. To see this, consider the submodules S_1 and S_2 of functions vanishing on the set $\{z_1 = 0\}$ and $\{z_2 = 0\}$ respectively. The quotient modules in this case are both isomorphic to the Hardy module $H^2(\mathbb{D})$.

One of the main difficulties here is that the dimension of the eigenspace of a submodule, in general (unless it is the completion of a principal ideal), is not necessarily constant. Thus these fail to define a holomorphic vector bundle. Indeed, for the submodule S_0 of $H^2(\mathbb{D}^2)$, we have $\dim \cap_{i=1,2} \ker M_i^* = 2$ while $\dim \cap_{i=1,2} \ker (M_i - w_i)^* = 1$ if $(w_1, w_2) \neq (0,0)$. Thus the map $(w_1, w_2) \to \cap_{i=1,2} \ker (M_i - w_i)^*$ does not define a holomorphic vector bundle on \mathbb{D}^2 , however, it defines a coherent sheaf on \mathbb{D}^2 with a Hermitian structure inherited from that of $H^2(\mathbb{D}^2)$.

In general, determining the moduli space for the isomorphism classes of sub-modules of a Hilbert module is a difficult problem. Thanks to Beurling's theorem, the moduli space for submodules of the Hardy module $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ is a singleton; that is, all submodules are isomorphic. However, a rigidity phenomenon occurs in $H^2(\mathbb{D}^n)$, namely, no two sub-modules of $H^2(\mathbb{D}^n)$ are isomorphic barring a very few exceptions. This rigidity phenomenon is typical in multivariable settings.

Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}^m$ be a bounded connected open set and $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{O}(\Omega)$ be an analytic Hilbert module, that is, the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} possesses a reproducing kernel K, the polynomial ring $\mathbb{C}[\underline{z}] \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is dense and the point-wise multiplication induced by $p \in \mathbb{C}[\underline{z}]$ is bounded on \mathcal{H} . We fix an ideal $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathbb{C}[z]$ and let $[\mathcal{I}]$ denote its completion in \mathcal{H} . Let $X : [\mathcal{I}] \to \mathcal{H}$

be the inclusion map. Thus we have a short exact sequence of Hilbert modules

$$0 \to [\mathcal{I}] \xrightarrow{X} \mathcal{H} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{Q} \to 0,$$

where the module multiplication in the quotient $\mathcal{Q} := [\mathcal{I}]^{\perp}$ is given by the formula $m_p f = P_{[\mathcal{I}]^{\perp}}(pf)$, $p \in \mathbb{C}[\underline{z}]$, $f \in \mathcal{Q}$. The analytic Hilbert module \mathcal{H} defines a subsheaf $\mathcal{S}^{\mathcal{H}}$ of the sheaf $\mathcal{O}(\Omega)$ of holomorphic functions defined on Ω . For any open $U \subset \Omega$, it is obtained by setting

$$\mathcal{S}^{\mathcal{H}}(U) := \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} (f_i|_U) h_i : f_i \in \mathcal{H}, h_i \in \mathcal{O}(U), n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

This is locally free and naturally gives rise to a holomorphic line bundle on Ω . However, in general, the sheaf corresponding to the sub-module $[\mathcal{I}]$ is not locally free but only coherent.

Localising the modules $[\mathcal{I}]$ and \mathcal{H} at $w \in \Omega$, we obtain the localization X(w) of the module map X. The localizations are nothing but the quotient modules $[\mathcal{I}]/[\mathcal{I}]_w$ and $\mathcal{H}/\mathcal{H}_w$, where $[\mathcal{I}]_w$ and \mathcal{H}_w are the maximal sub-modules of functions vanishing at w. These localizations define anti-holomorphic line bundles $E_{[\mathcal{I}]}$ and $E_{\mathcal{H}}$, respectively, on $\Omega \setminus V(\mathcal{I})$. However, there is a third line bundle, namely, $\operatorname{Hom}(E_{\mathcal{H}}, E_{[\mathcal{I}]})$ defined by the anti-holomorphic map $X(w)^*$. The curvature of a holomorphic line bundle \mathcal{L} on Ω , computed relative to a holomorphic frame γ is given by the formula

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{L}}(z) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z_{i} \partial \bar{z}_{j}} \log \|\gamma(z)\|^{2} dz_{i} \wedge d\bar{z}_{j}.$$

It is a complete invariant for the line bundle \mathcal{L} . Now, consider the alternating sum

$$\mathcal{A}_{[\mathcal{I}],\mathcal{H}}(w) := \mathcal{K}_X(w) - \mathcal{K}_{[\mathcal{I}]}(w) + \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{H}}(w) = 0, \ w \in \Omega \setminus V_{[\mathcal{I}]},$$

where \mathcal{K}_X , $\mathcal{K}_{[\mathcal{I}]}$ and $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{H}}$ denote the curvature (1,1) form of the line bundles E_X , $E_{[\mathcal{I}]}$ and $E_{\mathcal{H}}$, respectively, on $\Omega \setminus V_{[\mathcal{I}]}$. Thus it is an invariant for the pair $([\mathcal{I}], \mathcal{H})$.

Problem 1.5. The eigenspace distribution of an analytic Hilbert module $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{T})$ defines a coherent sheaf $\mathcal{S}^{\mathcal{H}}$ over Ω possessing a Hermitian structure. Find tractable unitary invariants for analytic Hilbert modules $(\mathcal{H}, \mathbf{T})$ from the sheaf model.

The work along these lines was initiated in [185, 118, 117, 188], however, see [119, 427, 428, 429] for the most recent work on this topic.

Flag Structure. Fix a bounded planar domain Ω . Let E be a holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle of rank n in $\Omega \times \mathcal{H}$. By a well-known theorem of Grauert, every holomorphic vector bundle over a plane domain is trivial. So, there exists a holomorphic frame $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n : \Omega \to \mathcal{H}$. A Hermitian metric on E relative to this frame is given by the formula $G_{\gamma}(w) = (\langle \gamma_i(w), \gamma_j(w) \rangle)$. The curvature of the vector bundle E is a complex (1,1) form which is given by the formula

$$\mathcal{K}_E(w) = \sum_{i,j=1}^m \mathcal{K}_{i,j}(w) \, dw_i \wedge d\bar{w}_j,$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}_{i,j}(w) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{w}_j} \left(G_{\gamma}^{-1}(w) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial w_i} G_{\gamma}(w) \right) \right).$$

It clearly depends on the choice of the frame γ except when n=1. A complete set of invariants is given in [159]. However, these invariants are not easy to compute. So, finding a tractable set of invariants for a smaller class of vector bundles which is complete would be worthwhile. For instance, in the paper [238], irreducible holomorphic Hermitian vector bundles, possessing a flag structure have been isolated. For these, the curvature together with the second fundamental form (relative to the flag) is a complete set of invariants. As an application, at least for n=2, it is shown that the homogeneous holomorphic Hermitian vector bundles are in this class. A complete description of these is then given. This is very similar to the case of n=1 except that now the second fundamental form associated with the flag has to be also considered along with the curvature. All the vector bundles in this class and the operators corresponding to them are irreducible. The flag structure they possess by definition is rigid which aids in the construction of a canonical model and in finding a complete set of unitary invariants. The study of commuting tuples of operators in the Cowen-Douglas class possessing a flag structure is under way.

The definition of the smaller class $\mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$ of operators in $B_2(\Omega)$ below is from [238]. One may similarly define $\mathcal{F}B_n(\Omega)$, n > 1, and discuss the properties of this new class, see [238].

Definition. We let $\mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$ denote the set of bounded linear operators T for which we can find operators T_0, T_1 in $\mathcal{B}_1(\Omega)$ and a non-zero intertwiner S between T_0 and T_1 , that is, $T_0S = ST_1$ so that $T = \begin{pmatrix} T_0 & S \\ 0 & T_1 \end{pmatrix}$.

An operator T in $B_2(\Omega)$ admits a decomposition of the form $\begin{pmatrix} T_0 & S \\ 0 & T_1 \end{pmatrix}$ for some pair of operators T_0 and T_1 in $B_1(\Omega)$ (cf. [243, Theorem 1.49]). Conversely, an operator T, which admits a decomposition of this form for some choice of T_0 , T_1 in $B_1(\Omega)$ can be shown to be in $B_2(\Omega)$. In defining the new class $\mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$, we are merely imposing one additional condition, namely that $T_0S = ST_1$.

An operator T is in the class $\mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$ if and only if there exist a frame $\{\gamma_0, \gamma_1\}$ of the vector bundle E_T such that $\gamma_0(w)$ and $t_1(w) := \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \gamma_0(w) - \gamma_1(w)$ are orthogonal for all w in Ω . This is also equivalent to the existence of a frame γ_0, γ_1 for the vector bundle E_T satisfying $\frac{\partial}{\partial w} |\gamma_0(w)|^2 = \langle \gamma_1(w), \gamma_0(w) \rangle$ for all $w \in \Omega$.

Theorem [238, Theorem 2.10]. Let $T = \begin{pmatrix} T_0 & S \\ 0 & T_1 \end{pmatrix}$, $\tilde{T} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{T}_0 & \tilde{S} \\ 0 & \tilde{T}_1 \end{pmatrix}$ be two operators in

 $\mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$. Also let t_1 and \tilde{t}_1 be non-zero sections of the holomorphic Hermitian vector bundles E_{T_1} and $E_{\tilde{T}_1}$ respectively. The operators T and \tilde{T} are equivalent if and only if $\mathcal{K}_{T_0} = \mathcal{K}_{\tilde{T}_0}$ (or $\mathcal{K}_{T_1} = \mathcal{K}_{\tilde{T}_1}$) and

$$\frac{\|S(t_1)\|^2}{\|t_1\|^2} = \frac{\|\tilde{S}(\tilde{t}_1)\|^2}{\|\tilde{t}_1\|^2}.$$

Cowen and Douglas point out in [159] that an operator in $B_1(\Omega)$ must be irreducible. However, determining which operators in $B_n(\Omega)$ are irreducible is a formidable task. Operators in $\mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$ are always irreducible. Indeed, if we assume S is invertible, then T is strongly irreducible.

Recall that an operator T in the Cowen-Douglas class $B_n(\Omega)$, up to unitary equivalence, is the adjoint of the multiplication operator M on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} consisting of

holomorphic functions on $\Omega^* := \{ \bar{w} : w \in \Omega \}$ possessing a reproducing kernel K. What about operators in $\mathcal{F}B_n(\Omega)$? For n = 2, a model for these operators is described below.

For an operator $T \in \mathcal{F}B_2(\Omega)$, there exists a holomorphic frame $\gamma = (\gamma_0, \gamma_1)$ with the property $\gamma_1(w) := \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \gamma_0(w) - t_1(w)$ and that $t_1(w)$ is orthogonal to $\gamma_0(w)$, $w \in \Omega$, for some holomorphic map $t_1 : \Omega \to \mathcal{H}$. In what follows, we fix a holomorphic frame with this property. Then the operator T is unitarily equivalent to the adjoint of the multiplication operator M on a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \text{Hol}(\Omega^*, \mathbb{C}^2)$ possessing a reproducing kernel $K_{\Gamma} : \Omega^* \times \Omega^* \to \mathcal{M}_2(\mathbb{C})$. The details are in [238]. It is easy to write down the kernel K_{Γ} explictly: For $z, w \in \Omega^*$, we have

$$K_{\Gamma}(z,w) = \begin{pmatrix} \langle \gamma_{0}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{0}(\bar{z}) \rangle & \langle \gamma_{1}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{0}(\bar{z}) \rangle \\ \langle \gamma_{0}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{1}(\bar{z}) \rangle & \langle \gamma_{1}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{1}(\bar{z}) \rangle \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \langle \gamma_{0}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{0}(\bar{z}) \rangle & \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{w}} \langle \gamma_{0}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{0}(\bar{z}) \rangle \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \langle \gamma_{0}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{0}(\bar{z}) \rangle & \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial z \partial \bar{w}} \langle \gamma_{0}(\bar{w}), \gamma_{0}(\bar{z}) \rangle + \langle t_{1}(\bar{w}), t_{1}(\bar{z}) \rangle \end{pmatrix}, w \in \Omega.$$

Setting $K_0(z, w) = \langle \gamma_0(\bar{w}), \gamma_0(\bar{z}) \rangle$ and $K_1(z, w) = \langle t_1(\bar{w}), t_1(\bar{z}) \rangle$, we see that the reproducing kernel K_{Γ} has the form:

$$K_{\Gamma}(z,w) = \begin{pmatrix} K_0(z,w) & \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{w}} K_0(z,w) \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial z} K_0(z,w) & \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z \partial \bar{w}} K_0(z,w) + K_1(z,w) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Problem 1.6. Give an intrinsic definition of operators in the class $\mathcal{F}B_n(\Omega)$. Find a smaller class of commuting d- tuples of operators in $B_n(\Omega)$ for a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^d$ possessing a tractable set of unitary invariants similar to the case of n = 1.

Final Remarks. This note does not address several important and interesting themes, such as:

- (1) Curvature inequalities (cf. [116, 204, 378, 299, 445, 426, 274]),
- (2) Similarity problems within the Cowen-Douglas class (cf. [239, 240, 242, 231, 274]), and
- (3) Refinements of Cowen-Douglas operators exhibiting a flag structure (cf. [448, 450, 241]).

The references provided are intended to be representative, rather than exhaustive. That said, I hope this brief account can help future work in these areas.

2. Fourier theory, angle, Pimsner-Popa bases and regularity for inclusions of C^* -algebras

By Keshab Chandra Bakshi [keshab@iitk.ac.in] from IIT Kanpur; and Ved Prakash Gupta [vedgupta@jnu.ac.in, vedgupta@mail.jnu.ac.in] from JNU, New Delhi.

As is evident in various categories, it is a widely accepted line of thought in mathematics that the study of subobjects of a given object (from qualitative as well as quantitative perspectives) is one of the most effective methodologies employed to obtain a good understanding of the structure and properties of the ambient object. In fact, this approach has led to some remarkable classification results in the categories of groups, von Neumann algebras and C^* -algebras.

Over the last five decades or so, various tools and techniques have been developed by various authors to study the relative positions between subalgebras of operator algebras.

This report focuses primarily on our recent research related to (i) developing the Fourier theory for inclusions of C^* -algebras; (ii) a new tool of angle between compatible intermediate operator subalgebras of finite-index inclusions of operator algebras; (iii) some questions of Jones and Popa regarding Pimsner-Popa bases (a heavily used tool to study inclusions of operator algebras); and, (iv) obtaining a better understanding of the so-called regular inclusions of operator algebras, which depended heavily on the progress that we made under (iii).

• Angle and Fourier theory for inclusions of C*-algebras

Very recently, (along with some other authors) we introduced the notions of interior and exterior angles between compatible intermediate subalgebras of finite-index inclusions of certain operator algebras (see [41, 46]). Here is a very brief report on this development.

Vaughan Jones ([245]) introduced the notions of index and basic construction for any unital inclusion $N \subset M$ of II_1 -factors. Later, Bisch ([111]) showed that there exists a dictionary between intermediate subfactors of a finite-index inclusion $N \subset M$ and the so-called biprojections in the relative commutant of N in the basic construction M_1 . Using this correspondence, the notions of interior and exterior angles between any two intermediate subfactors of a finite-index inclusion $N \subset M$ was introduced in [41]. As an application, when a finite-index inclusion $N \subset M$ is irreducible (i.e., $N' \cap M = \mathbb{C}$), employing some aspect of the (well-known) Fourier theory on the relative commutants of the subfactor, a question of Longo ([279]) was answered positively by improving his bound for the cardinality of the lattice of intermediate subfactors of $N \subset M$. Later, some explicit calculations of angle between intermediate subfactors of group-subgroup subfactors were obtained in [44].

Motivated by [41], using Watatani's theories of index and basic construction (from [443]), the notions of interior and exterior angles between the so-called compatible intermediate C^* -subalgebras (as in [233]) of a finite-index inclusion $B \subset A$ of unital C^* -algebras was introduced recently in [46] (and some calculations were done in [222]). (Following Watatani, the underlying theory for this line of research has been the notion of Hilbert C^* -modules.) Interestingly, when $B \subset A$ are both simple, then there is a unique conditional expectation $E_0: A \to B$ with minimal Watatani index. Then, like the Jones' basics construction tower, one obtains an increasing tower of simple unital C^* -algebras $\{A_k: k \geq 1\}$. Motivated by the theory of subfactors, we developed a Fourier theory on the relative commutants $\{B' \cap A_k, A' \cap A_k : k \geq 0\}$ in terms of shift and rotation operators, which was enhanced further in [43, 42]. As an application, in [46] itself, we could provide a bound for the cardinality of the lattice of intermediate C^* -subalgebras of a finite-index irreducible inclusion of simple unital C^* -algebras (whose finiteness was already proved by Ino and Watatani ([233]); and, we could improve Longo's bound for the lattice of intermediate subfactors of finite-index irreducible inclusions of type III factors as well.

• Pimsner-Popa bases and regularity for subfactors and inclusions of simple unital C^* -algebras

Over the last four decades or so, the notion of the so-called Pimsner-Popa basis ([341]) for finite-index inclusions of II_1 -factors has played an indispensable role in the development of the theory of subfactors (via Fourier theory, Popa's λ -lattices and Jones' planar algebras, to name a few). Jones was particularly impressed by their utility and went on to

ask (on more than one occasion) whether every so-called extremal inclusion of II_1 -factors always admits a two-sided Pimsner-Popa basis or not. This question remains open till date. However, in [45], we provided a partial answer to Jones' question by proving that a finite-index regular inclusion of II_1 -factors always admits a two-sided Pimsner-Popa basis and has integer index. (An inclusion $P \subset Q$ of unital C^* or W^* -algebras is said to be regular if the unitary normalizers of P in Q generate Q in the C^* or W^* sense.) This was achieved by an appropriate application of the notion of path algebras developed independently by Sunder and Ocneanu.

Recently, Popa ([346]) asked whether every integer-index irreducible inclusion of II_1 -factors admits an orthonormal (Pimnser-Popa) basis or not. In [47], we gave a positive answer to Popa's question for finite-index regular subfactors with simple or commutative relative commutants. These results then allowed us to deduce (from [314]) that such a subfactor is isomorphic to a crossed-product subfactor with respect to a minimal action of a so-called biconnected weak Kac algebra on a II_1 -factor.

Based on the progress made in [47] and some techniques from the world of Quantum Information theory, Crann et al ([160]) recently showed that every finite-index regular subfactor admits an orthonormal (Pimsner-Popa) basis and thereby answering a conjecture of ours from [47]. As a result, a proof from [47] implies that every finite-index regular subfactor has depth at most 2. In the finite-dimensional setting, for appropriate inclusions of finite-dimensional C^* -algebras, Popa's question has been further investigated in [40] (once again) by employing some techniques from Quantum Information Theory.

Over the last 3 decades or so operator algebraists have been actively trying to find similarities between the theory of subfactors and the theory of inclusions of simple C^* -algebras. From the works of various authors, it is well-known that every irreducible finite-index subfactor is isomorphic to a crossed-product subfactor with respect to an outer action of a finite group. Motivated by this characterization, quite satisfyingly, we have recently been able to show (in [48]) that every finite-index regular inclusion of simple unital C^* -algebras is isomorphic to a reduced cocycle crossed-product inclusion with respect to an "outer" action of a finite group. Moreover, we were also able to prove that any such inclusion of simple unital C^* -algebras has integer (Watatani) index, has depth at most 2 and the minimal conditional expectation of such an inclusion admits a two-sided Pimsner-Popa basis.

3. Contributions in Banach space theory

By Pradipta Bandyopadhyay [pradipta@isical.ac.in] from ISI Kolkata.

On L_1 -predual spaces: A Banach space X is called an L_1 -predual space or a Lindenstrauss space if $X^* = L_1(\mu)$, for some measure μ .

In [189], motivated by Bratteli diagrams of Approximately Finite Dimensional (AF) C^* -algebras, the authors consider diagrammatic representations of separable L_1 -predual spaces and show that, in analogy to a result in AF C^* -algebra theory, in such spaces, every directed sub-diagram represents an M-ideal. The converse, namely, the question whether given an M-ideal in a separable L_1 -predual space X, there exists a diagrammatic representation of X such that the M-ideal is given by a directed sub-diagram, remains open in general. We refer to this as the "main problem". In [189], the authors give affirmative answers to this in some special cases.

Continuing this study, we have shown in [61] that for a compact metric space K, in C(K)-space, our "main problem" has an affirmative answer. Similar results are true also for the spaces $C_0(T)$, \mathbf{c} and \mathbf{c}_0 .

In [56], we present characterizations of polyhedrality (I), (II) and (III) in a separable L_1 -predual space in terms of its representing matrix. We also show that in a polyhedral (IV) predual of L_1 , our "main problem" has an affirmative answer.

In [55], we study non-separable Gurariy spaces and their almost isometric ideals. The main result is that a (non-separable) Banach space is a Gurariy space if and only if every separable almost isometric ideal (a.i.-ideal) in X is isometric to the separable Gurariy space \mathbb{G} . We also obtain a similar characterization of L_1 -predual spaces in term of ideals. Along the way, we show that the family of ideals/a.i.-ideals in a Banach space is closed under increasing limits. And hence, the family of all separable ideals/a.i.-ideals in a Banach space is a skeleton.

Continuing in [62], we show that if a Banach space X is almost isometric to a Gurariy space, then it is also a Gurariy space. In the separable case, this answers a question posed by Rao [372, Remark 6] in the affirmative. We also prove an analogue of this result for the noncommutative Gurariy space. We also show that a Banach space X is a Gurariy space if and only if it is an a.i.-ideal in every superspace in which it embeds as a hyperplane, thereby answering another question posed by Rao [371, Question 17] in the affirmative.

On Mazur Intersection Property and its variants: The Mazur Intersection Property (MIP)—every closed bounded convex set is the intersection of closed balls containing it—is an extremely well studied property in Banach space theory.

A complete characterisation of MIP was obtained in Giles, Gregory and Sims [212], most well-known criterion stating that the w*-denting points of $B(X^*)$ are norm dense in $S(X^*)$. The paper also considered w*-MIP in dual spaces.

A much less studied uniform version of MIP (UMIP) was introduced by Whitfield and Zizler [445]. Characterisations similar to [212] were also obtained, but an analogue of the w*-denting point criterion was missing, which perhaps is a reason for its being less pursued. A long standing open question regarding UMIP is whether UMIP implies that X^* has a uniformly convex renorming.

Chen and Lin [151] introduced the notion of w*-semidenting points and showed that a Banach space X has MIP if and only if every $f \in S(X^*)$ is a w*-semidenting point of $B(X^*)$.

In [57], we show that a Banach space X has UMIP if and only if every $f \in S(X^*)$ is a uniformly w*-semidenting point of $B(X^*)$, thus filling a long felt gap. In the process, we obtain simpler proofs of some characterisations in [445].

In [214], we introduce two moduli of w*-semidenting points and characterise MIP and UMIP in terms of these moduli. One of the moduli was motivated by the modulus of denting points discussed by Dutta and Lin [190]. We introduce a property called Hyperplane UMIP (H-UMIP), which is slightly stronger than UMIP, and show that it characterises uniform convexity of X^* . This turns out to be also equivalent to the notion of uniform denting points of [190]. In this paper, we also analyse conditions, in terms of these moduli, for the stability of UMIP under ℓ_p -sums, $1 . In particular, we show that <math>\ell_p(X)$ has UMIP if and only if X has UMIP.

Given a family \mathcal{C} of closed bounded convex sets in a Banach space X, we say that X has \mathcal{C} -MIP if every $C \in \mathcal{C}$ is the intersection of the closed balls containing it. This

has also been studied in the literature for specific families and also in some generality. Instead of considering just a family \mathcal{C} , in [58], we discuss representation of sets of the form $\overline{A + \lambda B(X)}$, for $A \in \mathcal{C}$ and $\lambda \geq 0$, as intersection of closed balls. It is easy to see that this is stronger than \mathcal{C} -MIP. We call this strong \mathcal{C} -MIP and show that it is a more satisfactory generalisation of MIP inasmuch as one can obtain complete analogues of various characterisations of MIP in [212]. We also define and characterise uniform versions of (strong) \mathcal{C} -MIP. Even in this case, strong \mathcal{C} -UMIP appears to have richer characterisations than \mathcal{C} -UMIP.

We say that a property P of a Banach space is residual if it satisfies the following: If X has one norm with property P, then "almost every" (residual with respect to some suitable metric) equivalent norm on X also has property P. In [59], we prove the residuality of UMIP, uniformly smooth and asymptotically uniformly smooth norms. Some of these are already known to be ball separation properties. For others, we first obtain a ball separation characterisation and then use them to obtain the residuality results.

It is well-known that Fréchet smoothness implies MIP. And since Fréchet smoothness is hereditary, it actually implies hereditary MIP, that is, all subspaces of X also have MIP. How about the converse? Does hereditary MIP imply Fréchet smoothness? It is easy to see that hereditary MIP implies smoothness. In [60], we obtain some sufficient conditions for hereditary MIP in terms of the set N of non-Fréchet smooth points of S(X). In particular, we show that if X is smooth and N is finite, then X has hereditary MIP.

Borwein and Fabian in [126] proved an infinite dimensional WCG Asplund space X admits an equivalent smooth norm such that $N = \{\pm x_0\}$ for some $x_0 \in S(X)$. Thus, the Borwein-Fabian norm has hereditary MIP, but is not Fréchet smooth.

4. Quantum dynamical maps and quantum Gaussian states

By B V Rajarama Bhat [bhat@isibang.ac.in, bvrajaramabhat@gmail.com] from ISI, Ban-galore.

Here is a brief account of developments in recent years, through contributions by Indian mathematicians, in some mathematical areas that I am familiar with. This text had to be prepared in a rather short period of time. Unfortunately this means that majority of the papers cited here are from my collaborators and myself.

Quantum Gaussian states: Quantum Gaussian states on Boson Fock spaces are quantum versions of Gaussian distributions of classical probability. The concept has been beautifully explained in the essay "What is a Gaussian state?" by K. R. Parthasarathy [323]. In his late years he worked vigorously on this topic and discovered various features of convexity and symmetry properties of finite mode quantum Gaussian states. He posed the problem of extending the theory to the infinite mode. This was carried out in [89]. It is seen that every quantum Gaussian state comes with a 'covariance matrix', which is now a symmetric and invertible real linear operator. A complete characterization of covariance operators of quantum Gaussian states in infinite mode has been obtained and it involves some delicate trace conditions which are not seen in finite mode. A unitary operator in the Boson Fock space is called a Gaussian symmetry if it preserves Gaussianity of states under conjugation. It is shown that the symplectic spectrum is a complete invariant for Gaussian states under conjugation by Gaussian symmetries.

The equivalence of separability and complete extendability for bipartite quantum Gaussian states is seen in [93]. Some of the questions raised by K R Parthasarathy have been answered recently in [180]. In [244] we can find a novel new parametrization for quantum Gaussian states. It is very useful in some of the computations involving these states [322] and perhaps its full potential hasn't yet been exploited.

As mentioned above, while dealing with quantum gaussian states the symplectic spectrum plays an important role. This has triggered interest in studying approximation and perturbation properties of symplectic eigenvalues ([95], [254]).

 C^* -convexity of completely positive maps: There have been several approaches to generalize the notion of convexity to the quantum context. One such idea is to replace positive scalars in the interval [0,1] as coefficients for convexity by positive, contractive and invertible elements in a C^* - algebra. A study of the C^* -convexity structure of normalized positive operator valued measures (POVMs) on measurable spaces has been carried out in [63]. One of the surprising results is that C^* -extreme points of normalized POVMs on countable spaces (in particular for finite sets) are always spectral measures (normalized projection valued measures). This does not hold if one considers usual convexity! A Krein-Milman type theorem for POVMs has also been proved.

The set of all unital completely positive (UCP) maps on a unital C^* -algebra taking values in the algebra of all bounded operators on a Hilbert space is known as generalized state space and its convexity structure is of considerable interest. It is also a C^* -convex set. The article [91] links C^* -extremity of this set with factorization property of certain algebras. Here also a Krein-Milman type result can be proved. This work brings forth an important connection between C^* -convexity theory and some classical concepts from operator algebra theory, like nest algebras (infinite dimensional analogues of upper triangular matrices) and logmodular algebras. A not necessarily *-closed subalgebra \mathcal{A} of a C^* -algebra \mathcal{M} is said to be logmodular (resp. has factorization) if the set $\{a^*a:a\in\mathcal{M} \text{ is invertible with } a,a^{-1}\in\mathcal{A}\}$ is dense in (resp. equal to) the set of all positive and invertible elements of \mathcal{M} . One major result in [92] is that the lattice of projections in a (separable) von Neumann algebra \mathcal{M} whose ranges are invariant under a logmodular algebra in \mathcal{M} , is a commutative subspace lattice. Further, if \mathcal{M} is a factor then this lattice is a nest. As a special case, it follows that all reflexive logmodular subalgebras of type I factors are nest algebras, and this settles a question which has been open for over a decade. As a special case a complete characterization of logmodular subalgebras in finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras has been obtained.

Recently the concept of C^* -convexity in the context of entanglement breaking (EB) maps has been studied in [84]. This has implications in quantum information theory.

Peripheral Poisson boundary: Unital completely positive (UCP) maps are quantum analogues of stochastic maps of classical probability. Suppose \mathcal{A} is a von Neumann algebra and $\tau: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a normal UCP map. The space of fixed points of τ is a vector space but in general it is not a subalgebra of \mathcal{A} . However, it can be given a *-algebra structure with a modified product called Choi-Effros product. Taking motivation from classical probability, M. Izumi called this as the noncommutative Poisson boundary of the UCP map. The noncommutative Poisson boundary has been computed for some specific Markov maps on the full Fock space in [83] and it produces some interesting von Neumann algebras.

It was noted in [90] that Choi-Effros product can be extended to the closed linear span of the space of peripheral eigenvectors of τ :

$$E_{\lambda}(\tau) = \{x \in \mathcal{A} : \tau(x) = \lambda x\}, \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, |\lambda| = 1.$$

This way we get a C^* -algebra called the *peripheral Poisson boundary* of τ . Surprisingly it may not be possible to get a von Neumann algebra. The construction used *dilation theory* of completely positive maps developed earlier in [82] and related papers. This concept is very important as the asymptotic behaviour of quantum dynamical semigroups are determined by peripheral eigenspaces.

Iterative roots of functions: Consider a self-map f on a non-empty set. A self-map g is said to be an iterative n-th root of f if $f = g^n$, where the power is taken with respect to composition. A powerful and widely applicable new method has been developed in ([85]-[87]) to prove non-existence of such roots under very general situations. For instance if there is distinguished point x_0 , such that $f(x_0) \neq x_0$, $f^{-2}(\{x_0\})$ is infinite and $f^{-1}(\{x\})$ is finite for $x \neq x_0$, then f has no iterative roots of any order $n \geq 2$. This method can be used to prove that continuous self-maps with no iterative n-th roots (for fixed n > 1) are dense in the space of all continuous self-maps for various topological spaces such as the unit cube in \mathbb{R}^m . Existence and non-existence of iterative roots is of interest even in the theory of stochastic maps and quantum dynamical semigroups [88].

5. ON CARATHÉODORY APPROXIMATION

By Tirthankar Bhattacharyya [tirtha@iisc.ac.in] from IISc; and Poornendu Kumar [poornendukumar@gmail.com] from University of Manitoba, Canada.

Approximation by polynomials or rational functions for holomorphic maps on the open unit disc \mathbb{D} does not, in general, ensure any nice boundary behavior. Motivated by this limitation, Carathéodory, in 1926, proved the following remarkable theorem:

Theorem (Carathéodory, [129].) Any holomorphic function $\varphi : \mathbb{D} \to \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ can be approximated uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{D} by the finite Blaschke products.

This theorem is a powerful tool in both holomorphic function theory and operator theory. For example, it can be used to prove the von Neumann inequality [187], derive the Herglotz integral representation [97], and establish the Halmos conjecture—or more generally, the Berger–Stampfli theorem; see, for instance, [293, Section 12].

When seeking generalizations of this theorem, one must note that Carathéodory's original proof relies heavily on the power series expansion of holomorphic functions on \mathbb{D} , which does not extend naturally to matrix-valued or operator-valued settings, nor to more complicated domains such as multiply connected ones. It is not difficult to observe that the finite Blaschke products are precisely the rational inner functions. Here, an inner function refers to a bounded holomorphic map on \mathbb{D} whose boundary values have modulus one almost everywhere with respect to the arc length measure on the unit circle \mathbb{T} . This notion extends naturally to the matrix-valued or operator-valued setting, where the modulus-one condition is replaced by the requirement that the boundary values are isometries almost everywhere on \mathbb{T} .

There is a proof of Carathéodory's approximation theorem via the Pick-Nevanlinna interpolation theorem. This approach has the advantage of extending naturally to the

matrix-valued case; see the discussion in the introduction of [12]. However, this depends on the existence of inner solutions to the Pick-Nevanlinna interpolation problem, and such results are not known on multiply connected domains. Thankfully, one can deduce the Carathéodory approximation result on multiply connected domains from Grunsky's work [215], and a different version exists due to Fisher [198]. However, these approaches do not extend to matrix-valued settings. Hence, it requires new techniques. Recently, using the Herglotz integral representation and extreme point theory in the certain class, see [97], this approximation theorem has been extended to the matrix-valued case. Moreover, taking into account the discussion at the beginning, we have that the Carathéodory approximation theorem and the Herglotz integral representation are essentially equivalent.

Furthermore, for a nice class of domains, it has been shown that once a matrix-valued Carathéodory approximation result is established [97, Theorem 4.4], it can be lifted to the operator-valued setting. Therefore, it suffices to focus on the matrix-valued version of the approximation theorem. As a result, operator-valued Carathéodory approximation theorems have now been obtained for multiply connected domains.

Moving to the several-variable setting, the scalar-valued Carathéodory approximation theorem has been established on the open unit ball independently by Aleksandrov [7] and Rudin [382]. Moreover, Rudin extended this result to the polydisc [384]. More recently, the theorem has been proved for tube domains [442] and quotient domains related to the polydisc [106], domains arising from the classification of pseudoreflection groups.

However, existing techniques do not directly extend these results to matrix-valued settings in several variables. That said, through the use of the Nevanlinna-Pick interpolation theorem, it is possible to prove a matrix-valued analogue in the bidisc \mathbb{D}^2 . In recent work [12], this theorem has been proved using operator theory, more specifically, dilation theory and realization formulas. Moreover, several applications of matrix-valued Carathéodory approximation results have been provided. To mention a few, Carathéodory's theorem for matrix-valued functions and Potapov's elegant characterization of matrix-valued rational inner functions on \mathbb{D} [347] have led to a generalization of Fisher's theorem [197]—namely, that a matrix-valued function which is holomorphic in \mathbb{D} and continuous on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ can be uniformly approximated on \mathbb{D} by convex combinations of matrix-valued rational inner functions—as well as to a version of Carathéodory's theorem for functions taking values in the symmetrized bidisc or the tetrablock.

To include one proof in this note, we have chosen the proof of Carathéodory's theorem using dilation theory on the disc. The same proof works for the bidisc. Given a holomorphic function $f: \mathbb{D} \to M_d(\mathbb{C})$ with $||f(z)|| \leq 1$ for all $z \in \mathbb{D}$, one may first approximate it by rational functions. If f is rational, then it admits a finite contractive realization, i.e., $f(z) = A + zB(I - zD)^{-1}C$, where the associated colligation contraction matrix $T = \begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{bmatrix}$ acts on $\mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^m$ for some m. When T is unitary, the resulting function f is rational inner. This realization is a disc-version of the Kalman–Yakubovich–Popov lemma, see [181] for an indefinite version of it, and its analogue in \mathbb{D}^2 has been recently proved by Knese [259, Proposition 4.2].

Let D_{T^*} and D_T be the defect operators $(I - TT^*)^{1/2}$ and $(I - T^*T)^{1/2}$ respectively. For each N, consider the space $\mathcal{K}_{N+1} = (\mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^m) \oplus \cdots \oplus (\mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^m)$, where $(\mathbb{C}^d \oplus \mathbb{C}^m)$ occurs (N+1) times and the N-step unitary dilation of the contraction T (first done by

O. Nevanlinna [311] and later greatly popularized by Levy and Shalit [277]) given by

$$U_{N} := \begin{bmatrix} T & 0 & \dots & \dots & D_{T^{*}} \\ D_{T} & 0 & \dots & \dots & -T^{*} \\ 0 & I_{\mathcal{H}} & \dots & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & I_{\mathcal{H}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{N} \\ C_{N} & D_{N} \end{bmatrix}$$

acting on the space K_{N+1} where B_N, C_N and D_N can be appropriately read off. Consider the rational inner function $f_N(z) = A + z B_N (I - z D_N)^{-1} C_N$. A straightforward calculation shows that $f_N \to f$ if and only if $A_N \to A$ and $B_N D_N^k C_N \to B D^k C$ for each k. The proof is complete because $B_N D_N^k C_N = B D^k C$ for all $N \ge k + 2$.

Knese [260] used the scalar-valued Carathéodory theorem on \mathbb{D}^2 to establish the necessity in the Nevanlinna–Pick interpolation problem on \mathbb{D}^2 . We conclude with an open problem.

Open Problem. Does a Carathéodory approximation theorem hold for matrix-valued functions on the polydisc?

The first named author is supported by ANRF(JCB/2021/000041) and the second named author is supported by a PIMS post-doctoral fellowship.

6. Operator theory on quotient domains

By Shibananda Biswas [shibananda@iiserkol.ac.in] and Subrata Shyam Roy [ssroy@iiserkol.ac.in] from IISER Kolkata.

Models for n-tuples of operators with the polydisc and the Euclidean ball in \mathbb{C}^n as spectral sets have been studied in depth. A natural progression is to examine such models on inhomogeneous domains [6, Corollary 4.4]. The class of Γ_n -contractions provided the first instance in this pursuit. Agler and Young [4, 5] found that many of the fundamental results (e.g substantial part of the Sz-Nagy-Foias model theory) in the theory of single contraction has close parallels for Γ_2 -contractions - commuting pair of operators with closed symmetrized bidisc Γ_2 as a spectral set. Motivated by these developments, our attention turned to functional models on (open) symmetrized polydisc \mathbb{G}_n [120], beginning with the construction of a Schaffer dilations for Γ_2 -contractions [101] and exploring possible generalization to n-tuples. A Beurling-Lax-Halmos type theorem for joint invariant subspaces of a pure Γ_n -isometry is obtained by generalizing the same in [394] for n=2 case. In fact on Γ_2 , a number of questions were answered satisfactorily, for example, description of distinguished variety [318], on realization, interpolation and extension of holomorphic functions [102, 2, 100]. The generalization of several results in this direction beyond the case n=2 has been hindered by their dependence on dilation theory as positive results towards rational dilation of Γ_n -contraction, for n > 2, remained elusive beyond restricted subclasses [317]. A graph-theoretic model for a large class of n-tuple of operators that includes Γ_n -contractions as a special case was considered in [209].

On the other hand, in [297], function theory on \mathbb{G}_n was studied by introducing a Hilbert space method to compute the Bergman kernel of \mathbb{G}_n which was earlier obtained in [193] appealing to Bell's formula [75]. This work naturally led to the consideration of Hilbert

function spaces on \mathbb{G}_n and the study of operators acting upon them. In [120], we constructed functional models for Γ_n -contractions on weighted Bergman spaces $\mathbb{A}^{(\lambda)}(\mathbb{D}^n)$, $\lambda > 1$, and on the Hardy space $H^2(\mathbb{D}^n)$ as the limiting case $\lambda = 1$. These spaces decompose into orthogonal direct sum of submodules over the invariant ring $\mathbb{C}[z]^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, each of which corresponds to an irreducible representation of the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n and hence, indexed by partitions p of n - denoted as $p \vdash n$. The restrictions of $(M_{s_1}, \ldots, M_{s_n})$ to these submodules are Γ_n -contractions. In [114], this framework was generalized to Hilbert spaces with \mathfrak{S}_n -invariant reproducing kernels K, leading to reducing submodules $\mathbb{P}_p\mathcal{H}$ with kernel imm^(p) $(K(z_i, w_j))_{i,j=1}^n$, where imm^(p) is the immanant corresponding to a partition p and the map $\mathbb{P}_p : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ is an orthogonal projection given by the formula

$$\mathbb{P}_{p}f = \frac{\deg p}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{p}} \chi_{p}(\sigma^{-1})(f \circ \sigma^{-1}), \ f \in \mathcal{H},$$

 $\chi_{\boldsymbol{p}}$ being the character of the representation corresponding to $\boldsymbol{p} \vdash n$. A finer decomposition into the reducing submodules $\mathbb{P}_{\boldsymbol{p}}^{ii}\mathcal{H}$, $1 \leq i \leq \deg \boldsymbol{p}$, was also obtained. This naturally led to the study of unitary equivalence, similarity, and minimality of these reducing submodules as well as their realization on \mathbb{G}_n .

On unitary equivalence. Each $\mathbb{P}_p\mathcal{H}$ is a locally free Hilbert module of rank $(\deg p)^2$. Thus, if $\deg p \neq \deg q$, then the submodules $\mathbb{P}_p\mathcal{H}$ and $\mathbb{P}_q\mathcal{H}$ are not unitarily equivalent. When $\deg p = \deg q$, the problem remains open in general. However, if $\deg p = \deg q = 1$ and $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{A}^{(\lambda)}(\mathbb{D}^n)$ for the reducing submodules corresponding to the trivial and sign representations of \mathfrak{S}_n are not equivalent for $\lambda > 0$ [114]. This follows from the identification of the submodule of $\mathbb{A}^{(\lambda)}(\mathbb{D}^n)$ corresponding to the sign representation of \mathfrak{S}_n as the weighted Bergman module $\mathbb{A}^{(\lambda)}(\mathbb{G}_n)$, and by obtaining a formula for the reproducing kernel of $\mathbb{A}^{(\lambda)}(\mathbb{G}_n)$ in the coordinates of \mathbb{G}_n invoking Giambelli's formula which is of independent interest.

On similarity. Even when unitary equivalence fails, the possibility of similarity remains. If $\mathbf{p} = (n)$ and $\mathbf{q} = (1^n)$, then a candidate for implementing such an isomorphism is the operator of multiplication by Vandermonde Δ , where $\Delta(\mathbf{z}) = \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} (z_i - z_j)$, from $\mathbb{P}_p \mathcal{H}$ to $\mathbb{P}_q \mathcal{H}$. Multiplication by the Vandermonde is injective, therefore it remains only to check if it is surjective to make it invertible. We rephrase the question of surjectivity in the realm of a division problem: If for $f \in \mathbb{P}_q \mathcal{H}$, suppose there is a g such that $\Delta g = f$, then does it follow that g is in $\mathbb{P}_p \mathcal{H}$? It would be really interesting to know, as the results that are known mostly in the case of strictly pseudoconvex domains, extend to the case of the product domain \mathbb{D}^n , even in the degree 1 case (cf. [354] and references therein).

On minimal reducing subspaces. For each partition $p \vdash n$ and each index i with $1 \le i \le \deg p$, the submodules $\mathbb{P}_p^{ii}\mathcal{H}$ are reducing for the n-tuple $(M_{s_1}, \ldots, M_{s_n})$. A natural question, therefore, is whether these submodules are minimal reducing. A more general perspective considers a finite complex reflection group G with homogeneous generators $\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n)$ of the invariant ring $\mathbb{C}[\boldsymbol{z}]^G$. Within this framework, multiplication by $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ on a Hilbert module \mathcal{H} with G-invariant reproducing kernel over a G-invariant domain Ω yields reducing subspaces $\mathbb{P}_{\varrho}\mathcal{H}$ and $\mathbb{P}_{\varrho}^{ii}\mathcal{H}$, where $\varrho \in \widehat{G}$, $1 \le i \le \deg \varrho$ and \widehat{G} is the equivalence classes of irreducible representations of G [112]. It follows from [383, Proposition 2.2] and [422, Proposition 1, p.556] that the mapping $\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n) : \Omega \to \boldsymbol{\theta}(\Omega)$, is a proper holomorphic map. In particular, $\boldsymbol{\theta}(\Omega)$ is a domain, and the quotient topological

space Ω/G admits the structure of a complex analytic space biholomorphic to $\theta(\Omega)$ justifying the nomenclature *Quotient domains*. In [383], it was shown that every proper
holomorphic mapping which is factored by automorphism is intimately related to a basic
polynomial map θ . Thus, generalizing from the symmetric group to finite complex reflection groups offers a new perspective on the problem of minimal reducing subspaces under
proper holomorphic mappings [186, 453] and naturally links to our works in [120, 114, 112].
Recently, this has been explored extensively in the literature; see, for instance, [207, 230].

On realizations on quotient domain. In [112], it was established that the submodules $\mathbb{P}_{\varrho}\mathcal{H}$ admit a realization as analytic Hilbert modules of rank $(\deg \varrho)^2$ over $\mathbb{C}[z]$, consisting of holomorphic functions on the quotient domain $\theta(\Omega)$. This result was obtained through a generalization of the Chevalley–Shephard–Todd Theorem to the setting of algebra of holomorphic functions. It plays a crucial role to obtain a substantial improvement of the earlier result [114, Corollary 3.12] for the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n , where it was shown that for any partition $p \vdash n$, the module $\mathbb{P}_p\mathcal{H}$ is locally free of rank $(\deg p)^2$ only on an open subset of $s(\Omega) \setminus s(\mathcal{Z})$. Here $s: \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ denotes the symmetrization map, and \mathcal{Z} is the set of critical points of s. This provides a powerful framework for developing geometric and analytic unitary invariants [159, 161], offering an avenue towards complete classification of the reducing submodules $\{\mathbb{P}_{\varrho}\mathcal{H}\}_{\varrho\in\widehat{G}}$ up to unitary equivalence.

In recent years, attention has broadened from the symmetrized polydisc to other quotient domains such as the tetrablock, monomial polyhedra, and fat Hartogs triangles. This line of investigation typically unfolds along two directions: on the one hand, extending results obtained for special domains to broader families of quotient domains, and on the other, applying general structure theorems to recover more refined information in concrete settings. For example, the Hilbert space method of [297] for computing Bergman kernels was extended in [422] to arbitrary proper holomorphic maps, and in [206] to quotient domains which includes monomial polyhedra and fat Hartogs triangles as special cases. Parallel activity have taken place on Hardy spaces. In [297], a natural notion of Hardy space on \mathbb{G}_n was introduced and its reproducing kernel was obtained explicitly. This construction was later generalized in [211] to quotients of bounded symmetric domains, where Brown-Halmos type theorems for Toeplitz operators were also established - some of which were studied in the context of the symmetrized polydisc in [99, 174]. Toeplitz operators on the Bergman space were investigated in [210]. More recently, the structure theory for pure isometries and invariant subspaces, in the spirit of the Beurling-Lax-Halmos theorem, was extended from \mathfrak{S}_n to the broader family of reflection groups G(m, p, n) [115]. The study of invariant subspaces is closely tied to the theory of inner functions, raising questions analogous to those addressed for the symmetrized bidisc in [1] on quotient domains. Along these lines, [106] examined the structure of rational inner functions on $\boldsymbol{\theta}(\mathbb{D}^n)$ for G = G(m, p, n). Notable progress has also been made in multiple directions: L^p -regularity of Bergman and Szego projections on quotient domains [77, 208, 232], the Hankel operators [98], homogeneous analytic Hilbert modules under non-transitive action of automorphism group [113], among others. Taken together, these studies highlight the emergence of a rich and interconnected theory of Hilbert function spaces on quotient domains - one that intricately weaves together operator theory, complex geometry, and representation theory - thereby opening numerous avenues for further exploration.

7. Trace formulas in operator theory

By Arup Chattopadhyay [2003arupchattopadhyay@gmail.com] and Saikat Giri [saikatgiri90@gmail.com] from IIT, Guwahati; and Chandan Pradhan [chandan.pradhan2108@gmail.com] from IISc.

Let \mathcal{H} be a complex separable Hilbert space. For $1 \leq p < \infty$, the Schatten class of order p on \mathcal{H} is denoted by $\mathcal{S}^p(\mathcal{H})$ [408].

Trace formulas are central objects in operator theory, motivated both by physics and mathematics. In 1953, Krein [263], building on earlier work of Lifshitz [278], established a fundamental formula for self-adjoint operator H_0 perturbed by a self-adjoint trace-class operator $V \in \mathcal{S}^1(\mathcal{H})$:

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f(H_0 + V) - f(H_0)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f'(\lambda) \, \xi_{H_0, V}(\lambda) \, d\lambda, \tag{7.1}$$

valid whenever the Fourier transform of f' belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{R})$.

The function $\xi_{H_0,V}$, known as the spectral shift function (SSF), describes how the spectrum changes when the operator is perturbed. Since its introduction, the SSF has become a cornerstone of perturbation theory, spectral flow, mathematical physics, and noncommutative geometry [36, 37, 408]. In [147], Chattopadhyay–Sinha analyzed the classical Carey–Helton–Howe–Pincus trace formula via Krein's SSF. These advances inspired many generalizations of trace formulas to broader operator frameworks, including noncompact perturbations and non-normal operators.

Analogues of (7.1) for unitary operators and contractions have been extensively studied [9, 148, 192, 264, 265, 290, 291]. Unlike previous work, Chattopadhyay–Sinha [148] established a trace formula for pairs of contractions in which the SSF is supported on the unit disk, rather than the unit circle as in earlier results [290, 291].

Extending Krein's trace formula beyond trace-class perturbations has been difficult. For $V \in \mathcal{S}^2(\mathcal{H})$, Koplienko [261] replaced the left hand side of (7.1) with a Taylor remainder. Higher-order formulas were attempted in [145, 191, 403], but only for $\mathcal{S}^2(\mathcal{H})$ -perturbations (see also [310, 338, 352]). A full generalization was established by Potapov–Skripka–Sukochev [348] for $V \in \mathcal{S}^n(\mathcal{H})$, proving

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(f(H_0+V) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{k!} \frac{d^k}{dt^k} \Big|_{t=0} f(H_0+tV)\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f^{(n)}(\lambda) \, \xi_{n,H_0,V}(\lambda) \, d\lambda. \tag{7.2}$$

The proof relies on the machinery of multiple operator integrals (MOIs) [408], a powerful tool in modern perturbation theory. MOIs were introduced by Peller [339] and, independently, by Azamov–Carey–Dodds–Sukochev [36], as a far-reaching generalization of Birman–Solomyak's classical double operator integral [110]. Since their inception, MOIs have become a central technique in the analysis of operator perturbations, allowing for significant extensions of trace formulas such as (7.2). For instance, they have enabled versions of (7.2) for contractions [349], for unitary operators [351, 406]. In a related development, Aleksandrov–Peller [8] established (7.2) for functions in Besov spaces, extending the class of functions considered in [348]. It is worth noting that recently, Coine–Le Merdy–Sukochev [157] introduced a MOI that encompasses the largest class of scalar functions.

Explicit representations of SSFs are rare. To address this, Voiculescu [438], Sinha–Mohapatra [304, 305], and Potapov–Sukochev–Zanin [353] employed finite-dimensional approximations. Later, Chattopadhyay–Sinha, followed by Chattopadhyay–Das–Pradhan, established second-order trace formulas for self-adjoint [144], unitary [134], and contraction operators [135]. Higher-order cases, however, remain inaccessible.

Significant progress has been made on higher-order results for broader operator classes. Chattopadhyay-Pradhan-Skripka [143] proved trace formulas for contractions and maximal dissipative operators, removing earlier restrictions [141, 292, 291, 406], and showed that for contractions the higher-order SSF can be supported on the unit disk. For Dirac and Schrödinger operators with noncompact perturbations, formulas of type (7.2) were obtained for relatively Schatten-class perturbations [149, 432, 433, 350, 404] and for τ -compact resolvents [142, 407], assuming bounded perturbations. More recently, Chattopadhyay-van Nuland-Pradhan [140] treated unbounded perturbations: for self-adjoint H_0 and symmetric, relatively H_0 -bounded V, they derived explicit formulas for $\frac{d^n}{dt^n}|_{t=0}f(H_0+tV)$, proved convergence of the noncommutative Taylor expansion, and established higher-order SSFs under natural summability assumptions. The last result extends the work of Yafaev [449] and Aleksandrov-Peller [10] to the higher-order case.

Another direction concerns enlarging the admissible function class for (7.2). Peller [340] (self-adjoint case) and Aleksandrov–Peller [9] (unitary case) identified optimal classes for Krein trace formulas, but none are known for higher-order cases. Recently, Chattopadhyay-Coine–Giri–Pradhan [132, 133] unified differentiability results for self-adjoint, unitary, and contractive operators, establishing second-order trace formulas for the broader scalar function class so far. In [132], they further obtained modified higher-order trace formulas with optimal scalar function classes, extending earlier results of Skripka [406] and Bhattacharyya–Chattopadhyay–Giri–Pradhan [103].

The situation is more subtle in several variables. Aleksandrov-Peller-Potapov [11] proved that no analogue of (7.1) holds for noncommuting self-adjoint tuples, and asked whether for commuting tuples of self-adjoint operators $\mathbf{H}_n = (H_1, \dots, H_n)$, $\mathbf{H}_n(1) = (H_1 + V_1, \dots, H_n + V_n)$ with $V_i \in \mathcal{S}^1(\mathcal{H})$, there exist measures μ_j such that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f(\mathbf{H}_n(1)) - f(\mathbf{H}_n)) = \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \lambda_j} d\mu_j.$$
 (7.3)

This is resolved assuming $\mathbf{H}_n(t) := (H_1 + tV_1, \dots, H_n + tV_n)$ commutes for all $t \in [0, 1]$: first for bounded operators by Skripka [405], then for unbounded ones by Chattopadhyay–Giri–Pradhan–Usachev [137]. Moreover, [137] shows that if V_i lie in the Lorentz ideal and Tr is replaced by a bounded singular trace τ [283], then (7.3) holds without this additional commutativity assumption. Higher-order cases were studied in [136], but the general multivariable problem remains open. Notably, Chattopadhyay–Sinha [146] studied a different type of trace formula (a Stokes-like formula) in the multivariable setting.

Thus, the theory of trace formulas—ranging from Krein's original result to modern higher-order and multivariable extensions—continues to evolve, revealing deep connections between perturbation theory, noncommutative analysis, and spectral theory.

Research on trace formulas and spectral shift functions is longstanding and active. Since providing a complete list of contributions is beyond the scope of this survey note, the authors may unfortunately omit some important references; however, further sources can be found in the works we cite.

8. Dilation of operators and algebraic varieties

By B. Krishna Das [bata436@qmail.com] from IIT Bombay.

Dilation theory forms a cornerstone of operator theory, providing a framework to understand commuting contractions on Hilbert spaces via their extensions or dilations to isometries or unitaries. The foundational results by Sz.-Nagy and Foias ([417]), and its extensions by Ando ([15]), provide dilation theorems for single and pairs of commuting contractions, respectively. However, beyond two variables, the existence of such dilations generally fails. The limitations of these classical results motivate further study of dilation theory and add the need to understand operator tuples that fall outside these known theorems. The following summary synthesizes advances made in several papers, jointly with my collaborations, on isometric dilations of tuples of commuting contractions and its connection to algebraic varieites.

The classical von Neumann inequality ([439]) provides a bound on the norm of a polynomial evaluated at a contraction via its supremum over the unit disc. While Ando's theorem extends this result to pairs of commuting contractions, the resulting inequality is often not sharp. In pursuit of sharper estimates, Agler and McCarthy ([3]) showed that for a pair of strict commuting matrices, the von Neumann inequality holds on a distinguished variety—an algebraic subset of the bidisc defined as an algebraic curve intersecting only the distinguished part of the boundary of the bidisc. Motivated by this, we investigated whether there is a more precise dilation result for commute pairs of Hilbert space operators, leading to a sharper form of the von Neumann inequality. For a contraction T, we say T is pure if $T^{*n} \to 0$ in the strong operator topology, and we define the defect operator and the defect space of T as $D_T := (I - TT^*)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\mathcal{D}_T := \overline{\text{Ran}}(I - TT^*)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, respectively. Our main result in this context is the following explicit Ando-type dilation theorem and sharp von Neumann inequality.

Theorem 8.1 ([170]). Let (T_1, T_2) be a pair of commuting contractions such that T_1 is pure and the defect spaces of T_1 and T_2 are finite-dimensional. Then:

- (a) There exists a $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{D}_{T_1})$ -valued rational inner function Ψ such that the pair (M_z, M_{Ψ}) of multiplication operators on \mathcal{D}_{T_1} -valued Hardy space dilates (T_1, T_2) .
- (b) If T_2 is also pure then there exists a distinguished variety $\mathcal{V}\subset\overline{\mathbb{D}}^2$ such that

$$||p(T_1, T_2)|| \le \sup_{(z_1, z_2) \in \mathcal{V}} |p(z_1, z_2)|, \text{ for all } p \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, z_2].$$

The inner function Ψ that appears in this result can be explicitly realized through transfer function models, and the associated distinguished variety \mathcal{V} admits a determinantal representation in terms of Ψ . This result extends and significantly strengthens the work of Agler and McCarthy by moving from matrices to Hilbert space contractions and offers a new, concise proof of their result. Moreover, the dilation result in part (a) of the theorem is optimal in the following sense: if a pair of commuting contractions (T_1, T_2) dilates to (M_z, M_{Ψ}) on an \mathcal{E} -valued Hardy space, where \mathcal{E} is finite-dimensional and Ψ is a $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{E})$ -valued rational inner function, then T_1 must be pure and the defect spaces of T_1 and T_2 must be finite-dimensional (see [172]). The above result also illustrate that identifying operator tuples that dilate to specific classes of isometries can yield finer structural information about those tuples. This principle is further demonstrated by our dilation

result in the context of BCL pairs of isometries, as described below. The celebrated result of Berger, Coburn, and Lebow (BCL) ([81]) characterizes all possible ways in which the Hardy shift M_z can be factorized as a product of commuting isometries. Identifying classes of pairs of commuting contractions that dilate to a pair of BCL isometries leads to the following factorization theorem for a contraction.

Theorem 8.2 ([171]). Let T be a pure contraction and let $T \cong P_{\mathcal{Q}}M_z|_{\mathcal{Q}}$ be the Sz.-Nagy and Foias representation of T. Then:

- (a) A pair of commuting contractions (T_1, T_2) with T_1T_2 is pure dilates to a BCL pair of isometries on some vector-valued Hardy space.
- (b) If $T = T_1T_2$ for some pair of commuting contractions (T_1, T_2) , then there exist $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{D}_T)$ -valued polynomials φ and ψ of degree one such that

$$(T_1, T_2) \cong (P_{\mathcal{O}} M_{\mathcal{O}}|_{\mathcal{O}}, P_{\mathcal{O}} M_{\psi}|_{\mathcal{O}}).$$

The dilation result in part (a) has been applied to derive several other dilation theorems. For example, it yields an alternative proof of Ando's theorem ([104]) and has been used to construct dilations for various classes of n-tuples ($n \ge 3$) of commuting contractions defined by certain positivity conditions (see [68, 69, 70, 105]).

A polynomial in two variables whose zero set in the closed bidisc is a distinguished variety is called a toral polynomial. A pair of commuting contractions is called a toral pair if it is annihilated by a toral polynomial. A consequence of Theorem 8.1 is that if (T_1, T_2) is a pair of commuting contractions such that both T_1 and T_2 are pure contractions with finite defect, then (T_1, T_2) is toral and admits an isometric lift that is also toral. This naturally leads to the following constrained Ando dilation problem, which is closely related to the rational dilation problem on a distinguished variety of the bidisc: Does a toral pair of commuting contractions admit a toral isometric lift? In general, the answer is negative. However, we have the following positive result.

Theorem 8.3 ([173]). Any toral pair of commuting contractions with finite defect spaces admits a toral isometric lift.

This theorem implies that if a pair of commuting contractions with finite defect spaces has a distinguished variety of the bidisc as its spectral set, then there exists (possibly a different) distinguished variety that serves as a complete spectral set. It is now well known that the rational dilation problem on a distinguished variety does not hold in general; the Neil parabola is one such example where rational dilation fails. One of the questions we aim to address is the following:

Question: Under what conditions does rational dilation hold on a distinguished variety of the bidisc?

In conclusion, these works significantly advance the understanding of operators through dilation theory and sharp von Neumann inequalities on distinguished varieties. A key feature in each of these works has been the construction of explicit dilation. Looking ahead, these advances also point toward several challenging open problems, most notably the rational dilation problem on distinguished varieties of the bidisc.

9. The Weighted Discrete Semigroup Algebra $\ell^1(S,\omega)$

By H. V. Dedania [hvdedania@qmail.com] from Sardar Patel University.

A Banach algebra is an associative algebra A together with a norm $\|\cdot\|$ such that $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach space and $\|ab\| \leq \|a\| \|b\|$ $(a, b \in A)$. The classical examples of Banach algebras are $C_0(\Omega)$, BL(X), and $L^1(G)$; where Ω is a locally compact, Hausdorff space, X is a Banach space, and G is a locally compact, Hausdorff topological group. Many important algebras in analysis and in other branches of mathematics are Banach algebras. There is a strong bonding between the algebraic structure and the topological structure in Banach algebras. The algebraic structure of A determines various properties of its topological structure. For example, each multiplicative linear functional on A is continuous [163, Theorem 2.1.29].

||x|| = 1, $D_A(x) = \{ \varphi \in A^* : ||\varphi|| = 1 = \varphi(x) \}$, and $V_A(a; x) = \{ \varphi(ax) : \varphi \in D_A(x) \}$ for $a \in A$ and $x \in S(A)$. Then the set $V_A(a) = \bigcup \{V_A(a;x) : x \in S(A)\}$ is called the spatial numerical range (SNR) of a in A with respect to $\|\cdot\|$. The SNR $V_A(a)$ highly depends on both the algebra A and the norm $\|\cdot\|$. It is proved in [176, Theorem 2.1] that $V_A(a;x)$ is always convex. So the following is a natural question: Is the SNR $V_A(a)$ always convex? We do not know its answer. If A has an identity e with ||e|| = 1, then $V_A(a) = V_A(a;e)$ is convex [176, Corollary 2.1]. It is convex in many non-unital Banach algebras [177, 324]. On the other hand, Bonsall and Duncan defined the SNR for any bounded linear operator $T \in BL(X)$, which is slightly different from our definition. They constructed an operator T on \mathbb{C}^2 whose SNR $V_{BL(X)}(T)$ is not convex [124, Page-98]. Unfortunately, this operator T does not help us to find an element a in A such that $V_A(a)$ is not convex.

One of the most important Banach algebra is the weighted discrete semigroup algebra $\ell^1(S,\omega)$, where S is a semigroup and ω is a weight on S, i.e., $0<\omega(s)$ and $\omega(st)\leq\omega(s)\omega(t)$ for all $s, t \in S$ [163, Page-159]. The Banach algebra norm on it is denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{\omega}$. The Banach algebra $\ell^1(S,\omega)$ is mostly used as a counter example. However, it is studied independently also. Its Banach algebra structure is highly influenced by S and ω . For example, it is commutative iff S is abelian; and it is semisimple iff S is separating and ω is semisimple [175, Theorem 2.3]. Here we present some results on $\ell^1(S,\omega)$, which are proved by us.

If A is a semisimple Banach algebra, then we get another norm on A; namely, the operator norm $\|\cdot\|_{op}$, which is defined as $\|a\|_{op} = \sup\{\|ax\| : x \in A, \|x\| \le 1\}$ $(a \in A)$. In general, $\|\cdot\|_{op} \leq \|\cdot\|$ on A. The norm $\|\cdot\|$ is regular if $\|\cdot\|_{op} = \|\cdot\|$ on A. For example, every C^* -norm is a regular norm. A natural question is the following: When is the weighted norm $\|\cdot\|_{\omega}$ regular?, i.e., $\|\cdot\|_{\omega op} = \|\cdot\|_{\omega}$ on $\ell^1(S,\omega)$? We have proved the following.

Theorem-(A): [178] Let S be a right cancellative semigroup and ω be a weight on S. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\widetilde{\omega}_0 = \omega$. Define $\widetilde{\omega}_k(s) = \sup\{\frac{\widetilde{\omega}_{k-1}(st)}{\widetilde{\omega}_{k-1}(t)} : t \in S\}$ $(s \in S)$. Then

- (1) Each $\widetilde{\omega}_k$ is a weight on S.
- (2) $\widetilde{\omega}_{k+1} \leq \widetilde{\omega}_k$ on S for each k.
- (3) $\ell^1(S,\omega) \subseteq \ell^1(S,\widetilde{\omega}_{k-1}) \subseteq \ell^1(S,\widetilde{\omega}_k)$.
- (4) $(\ell^1(S, \widetilde{\omega}_k), \|\cdot\|_{\widetilde{\omega}_k})$ is a Banach algebra.
- (5) $\lim_{n \to \infty} \widetilde{\omega}_k(s^n)^{\frac{1}{n}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \widetilde{\omega}_{k+1}(s^n)^{\frac{1}{n}} \ (s \in S).$ (6) $\|\delta_t\|_{\widetilde{\omega}_k op} = \|\delta_t\|_{\widetilde{\omega}_{k+1}} \ (t \in S).$
- (7) $||f||_{\widetilde{\omega}_k op} \le ||f||_{\widetilde{\omega}_{k+1}} \ (f \in \ell^1(S, \omega)).$

- (8) $\widetilde{\omega}_{k-1}$ has F-property (i.e., for each finite set $\{t_1,\ldots,t_n\}\subset S$ and r<1, there is $s \in S$ such that $\frac{\widetilde{\omega}_{k-1}(t_i s)}{\widetilde{\omega}_{k-1}(s)} \ge r\widetilde{\omega}_k(t_i)$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ iff $\|\cdot\|_{\widetilde{\omega}_k op} = \|\cdot\|_{\widetilde{\omega}_{k+1}}$ on $\ell^1(S, \omega)$. (9) The 1-norm $\|\cdot\|_1$ is regular on $\ell^1(S)$.

On the other hand, for $1 \leq p < \infty$, the p-norm $\|\cdot\|_p$ is never regular on the sequence algebra ℓ^p with pointwise multiplication [178, Theorem 2.8].

An element a in a commutative Banach algebra A is said to be *compact* if the linear operator $L_a:A\longrightarrow A;x\longmapsto ax$ is a compact operator in the norm topology. Let K(A) denote the set of all compact elements in A. Then K(A) is a closed ideal in A. If A has finite dimension, then clearly K(A) = A. On the other hand, if the Gel'fand space $\Delta(A)$ of a semisimple, commutative Banach algebra A has no isolated point, then $K(A) = \{0\}$. Thus, the concept of compact elements is interesting mainly in infinite dimensional, radical, commutative Banach algebras; the convolution algebras $L^1(\mathbb{R}_+,\omega)$ and $l^1(S,\omega)$ are such Banach algebras.

The set of all compact elements of $L^1(\mathbb{R}_+,\omega)$ has been studied by Bade and Dales and for $l^1(S,\omega)$ by Grønbæk. Some more results on compact elements in $l^1(S,\omega)$ have been studied by the author. We recently proved some weighted discrete analogues of the results proved for $L^1(\mathbb{R}_+,\omega)$ about compact elements [53]. We also set the record right by correcting some statements claimed by Grønbæk. Let $K(S,\omega)$ be the set of all compact elements in $\ell^1(S,\omega)$. Our main results are the following two.

Theorem-(B): [53] Let ω be a weight on an abelian semigroup S and $f \in \ell^1(S, \omega)$. Consider the following three statements:

(a)
$$\sum \{|f(s)|\omega_0(s) : s \in S\} = 0;$$
 (b) $\lim_{s \to [\infty]} \tilde{\delta}_s * f = 0;$ (c) $f \in K(S, \omega).$

Then

- $(1) (a) \Longrightarrow (b) \Longrightarrow (c).$
- (2) If S is weakly cancellative, then $(c) \Longrightarrow (b)$.
- (3) If S is cancellative, then $(b) \Longrightarrow (a)$.

Theorem-(C): [53] Let S be cancellative and abelian, and ω be a weight on S. Then there is a semigroup ideal T in S such that $K(S,\omega) = \{f \in \ell^1(S,\omega) : \operatorname{supp} f \subseteq T\}.$

Open Problems: Following are some open problems in this area.

- (1) Let S be an infinite semigroup. Is there always an unbounded weight on S?
- (2) Let G be a discrete group. Is $\ell^1(G,\omega)$ always semisimple?
- (3) Is there a Banach algebra A such that $V_A(a)$ is not convex for some $a \in A$?
- (4) Is there an algebra A, which has finitely many (but more than one) non-equivalent Banach algebra norms?
- (5) When does the converse of Theorem-(C) hold true?, i.e., If T is a semigroup ideal in S, then does there exist a weight ω on S such that $K(S,\omega) = \ell_T^1(S,\omega)$?

10. Cartan isometries and Cartan contractions

By Surjit Kumar [surjit@iitm.ac.in] from IIT Madras; and Paramita Pramanick [paramitapramanick@gmail.com/ from ISI Kolkata.

Let \mathcal{H} be a complex separable Hilbert space. An operator T on \mathcal{H} is an isometry if $T^*T = I$. A canonical example of isometry is the unilateral shift on $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})$. By a commuting

d-tuple T, we mean a tuple of operators T_1, \dots, T_d in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ that commutes pairwise. A spherical isometry is a commuting d-tuple T which satisfies the condition $T_1^*T_1 + \dots + T_d^*T_d = I$. A remarkable result of Athavale shows that every spherical isometry is subnormal with normal spectrum contained in the unit sphere $\partial \mathbb{B}$ (see [31]). Consequently, one obtains a natural functional calculus for the ball algebra. Thus, a spherical isometry may be regarded as a multi-variable analogue of an isometry associated with the unit ball. This note explores isometries arising from classical Cartan domains, referred as Cartan isometries and associated contractions.

Let Ω be a classical Cartan domain of rank r in \mathbb{C}^d of type (r, a, b). Let S_{Ω} be the Shilov boundary of the domain Ω . Let G be the connected component of the identity in $\operatorname{Aut}(\Omega)$, the biholomorphic automorphism group of Ω . Let $\mathbb{K} = \{g \in G : g(0) = 0\}$ be a maximal compact subgroup of G. Note that \mathbb{K} is a subgroup of linear automorphism in G. The group \mathbb{K} acts on the space of analytic polynomials \mathcal{P} by composition. Under this action, \mathcal{P} decomposes into irreducible, mutually \mathbb{K} -inequivalent subspaces $\mathcal{P}_{\underline{s}}$ such that $\mathcal{P} = \sum \mathcal{P}_{\underline{s}}$, where the sum runs over all signatures, $\underline{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_r) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^r$, $s_1 \geq \ldots \geq s_r \geq 0$. Let $\{\psi_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\underline{s}}(z)\}_{\alpha=1}^{d_{\underline{s}}}$ be an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{P}_{\underline{s}}$ with respect to the Fischer-Fock inner product, where $d_{\underline{s}}$ is the dimension of $\mathcal{P}_{\underline{s}}$. The reproducing kernel $K_{\underline{s}}$ is given by $K_{\underline{s}}(z, w) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{d_{\underline{s}}} \psi_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\underline{s}}(z) \overline{\psi_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\underline{s}}(w)}$.

A Cartan isometry is a commuting subnormal d-tuple T with normal spectrum $\sigma_n(T)$ contained in S_{Ω} (see [34]). A well-known example of a Cartan isometry is the Szegö shift on the Hardy space $H^2(S_{\Omega})$. In fact, a d-tuple $T \in \mathcal{A}K(\Omega)$ is a Cartan isometry if and only if T is unitarily equivalent to the Szegö shift. For more details on $\mathcal{A}K(\Omega)$, a certain class of \mathbb{K} -homogeneous operator tuples, we refer to [202]. In [34], Athavale provided a characterization of Cartan isometries addressing each classical Cartan domain individually. Recently, in [273], we have characterized Cartan isometries for all types of classical Cartan domains, unifying them under a single framework.

Theorem 10.1. A commuting d-tuple T is a Cartan isometry if and only if

$$\Delta^{(\ell)}(z, w)(\mathbf{T}, \mathbf{T}^*) = \binom{r}{\ell} I_{\mathcal{H}} \text{ for all } 1 \le \ell \le r, \tag{10.1}$$

where $(\ell) := (1, \ldots, 1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ denotes the signature with first ℓ many ones and

$$\Delta^{(\ell)}(z,w) = \prod_{j=1}^{\ell} (1 + \frac{a}{2}(j-1)) K_{(\ell)}(z,w). \tag{10.2}$$

Consequently, we have the following results:

Corollary 10.2. Let T be a Cartan isometry. The following holds true:

- (i) The Taylor spectrum $\sigma(\mathbf{T})$ is contained in $\overline{\Omega}$.
- (ii) For every $g \in G$, g(T) is a Cartan isometry.
- (iii) Every Cartan isometry is reflexive.

The Wold-von Neumann decomposition [158, pp. 14] asserts that every isometry on a Hilbert space is unitarily equivalent to the direct sum of a unilateral shift (of possibly countable multiplicity) and a unitary operator. This result plays a central role in Beurling's characterization of z-invariant subspaces of the Hardy space over the unit disc [158, pp.23]. Using the model theory of $row\ d$ -hypercontractions, Athavale showed

that a spherical isometry T admits a Wold-type decomposition exactly when T^* is a d-hypercontraction [33, Theorem 2.1]. This naturally leads to the study of a Wold-type decomposition for Cartan isometries.

Recall that a commuting d-tuple \boldsymbol{T} is a spherical contraction if $T_1^*T_1 + \cdots + T_d^*T_d \leq I$. Equivalently, the operator $D_{\boldsymbol{T}}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ given by $D_{\boldsymbol{T}}h = (T_1h, \dots, T_dh)$ is a contraction. Analogously, we define a notion of contraction for classical Cartan domains. For $m \geq n \geq 1$, let $\Omega_{n,m} = \{z \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times m}: \|z\| < 1\}$ be the Cartan domain of type-I. Let $\boldsymbol{T} = (T_{11}, \dots, T_{1m}, T_{21}, \dots, T_{2m}, \dots, T_{n1}, \dots, T_{nm})$ be a commuting mn-tuple of operators on \mathcal{H} . Consider $D_{\boldsymbol{T}}: \mathcal{H}^{(n)} \to \mathcal{H}^{(m)}$ given by $D_{\boldsymbol{T}}(h_1, \dots, h_n) = (\sum_{i=1}^n T_{i1}h_i, \dots, \sum_{i=1}^n T_{im}h_i)$ for all $h_i \in \mathcal{H}$ and $i = 1, \dots, n$. The mn-tuple \boldsymbol{T} is said to be a Cartan contraction of type-I if $D_{\boldsymbol{T}}$ is an isometry. In a similar fashion, one can define Cartan contractions for Cartan domains of type-II and type-III. A realization formula for Schur-Agler class associated with such (strict) contraction appeared in the work of [54]. If \boldsymbol{T} is a Cartan contraction of type-I, then by [13, Lemma 1], $\sigma(\boldsymbol{T}) \subseteq \overline{\Omega}_{n,m}$. Also, $g(\boldsymbol{T})$ is a Cartan contraction of type-I for all $g \in G$.

Consider the mn-tuple $\mathbf{M}^{(\nu)}$ of multiplication operators given by $M_{ij}(f)(z) = z_{ij}f(z)$ on the weighted Bergman space $\mathcal{H}^{(\nu)}$ of holomorphic function defined on $\Omega_{n,m}$. Then, for any $\nu \in \{m, \ldots, m+n-1\} \cup (m+n-1, \infty)$, $\mathbf{M}^{(\nu)}$ is a subnormal d-tuple, and therefore, is a Cartan contraction of type-I. Furthermore, for $\nu < m$, $\mathbf{M}^{(\nu)}$ is not a Cartan contraction of type-I.

A fundamental result due to von Neumann [440] states that if T is a contraction on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , then $\|p(T)\| \leq \|p\|_{\infty,\mathbb{D}} := \sup\{|p(z)| : |z| < 1\}$ for every polynomial p. In other words, the induced homomorphism $\rho_T(p) = p(T)$ is contractive whenever T is a contraction. Sz.-Nagy's dilation theorem [416] shows that ρ_T is not only contractive but completely contractive, that is, T admits a unitary (power) dilation. Equivalently, $\|P(T)\| \leq \|P\|_{\infty,\mathbb{D}}$ for every $n \times n$ matrix valued polynomials $P(z) = (p_{i,j}(z))$. Ando's dilation theorem [15] extends the result to pairs of commuting contractions. Parrott [321] constructed an example of three commuting contractions that satisfies von Neumann's inequality but fails to admit a commuting unitary dilation. We say that a commuting d-tuple T admits a spherical dilation (normal $\partial \mathbb{B}$ -dilation in Arveson's terminology) if there exist a Hilbert space $\mathcal{K} \supset \mathcal{H}$ and a spherical isometry $S = (S_1, \ldots, S_d)$ in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ such that $T^{\alpha} = P_{\mathcal{H}} S^{\alpha} | \mathcal{H}$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_+^d$, where $P_{\mathcal{H}}$ denotes the orthogonal projection of \mathcal{K} onto \mathcal{H} . Due to a deep result of Arveson [24], it follows that T admits a normal $\partial \mathbb{B}$ -dilation if and only if the induced homomorphism ρ_T is completely contractive.

In [32], Athavale established that every d-hypercontraction admits a spherical dilation (see also [307]). Identifying an appropriate analogue of a d-hypercontraction in the setting of Cartan domains, which could potentially yield a Cartan isometric dilation, appears to be a challenging problem. On the other hand, for any spherical contractive d-tuple M of multiplication operators by the coordinate functions on a reproducing kernel Hilbert space with a $\mathcal{U}(d)$ -invariant kernel, the induced homomorphism ρ_M is contractive, that is, $\|P(M)\| \leq \|P\|_{\infty,\mathbb{B}}$ (cf. [272, Proposition 2.5]). In fact, by employing slice representation techniques (see [150, Theorem 1.10]), one can obtain a spherical dilation for such operator tuples. Looking ahead, it is natural to expect that the techniques of "slice representation" for \mathbb{K} -invariant kernels may eventually lead to a Cartan isometric dilation for Cartan

contractive multiplication tuples. Equivalently, this would establish that for any Cartan contractive d-tuple in $\mathcal{AK}(\Omega)$, the induced homomorphism is completely contractive.

11. Norms on operator space tensor products and C^* -envelopes of operator systems

By Ajay Kumar [ak7028581@gmail.com] from University of Delhi; and Preeti Luthra [preeti@ms.du.ac.in] from Mata Sundri College for Women, University of Delhi.

Von Neumann in collaboration with Murray began a mathematical quantization program. The key idea being to replace function spaces by *-algebra of bounded operators on Hilbert spaces. An operator space is a Banach space X with an extra matricial norm structure. We have norms on $M_n(X)$ of $n \times n$ matrices with entries from X, where these norms must satisfy certain consistency requirements. The systematic study of operator spaces has been done mainly by Effros and Ruan [194, 195], Blecher and Paulsen [121], Blecher and Smith [122] and Haagerup and Musat [224].

Grothendeick, in his celebrated paper [216], considered 14 natural norms defined on tensor product of two normed spaces. The foundation for a systematic study of tensor products of subspaces of C^* -algebras was done in [194, 121]. They defined various operator space tensor norms, namely, the Haagerup norm, the operator space projective and injective norms.

The Haagerup norm $\|\cdot\|_h$ and Banach space projective norm $\|\cdot\|_\gamma$ are equivalent on the algebraic tensor product $A\otimes B$ of two C^* -algebras A and B if and only if either A or B is finite dimensional or A and B are infinite dimensional and subhomogeneous. The same conclusion holds if the Banach space projective norm is replaced by the operator space projective norm. The equivalence of the Banach space projective norm and operator space projective norm $\|\cdot\|_{\wedge}$ holds if and only if A or B are subhomogeneous [268]. The Haagerup and Banach space projective norm may be equivalent for an infinite-dimensional ternary ring of operator and an infinite dimensional C^* -algebra which are not subhomogeneous. No clear criterion is available for arbitrary operator spaces. Moreover, equivalence of Schur norm $\|\cdot\|_s$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\wedge}$ is still not known even for C^* -algebras [360, 269]. Basic tools involved are Grothendieck inequality [223, 224, 345], lifting maps to second duals and to tensor product of second duals.

If A and B are C^* -algebras and $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\beta}$ are tensor norms on $A\otimes B$ such that $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha} \leq \|\cdot\|_{\beta}$, the identity map $i:A\otimes_{\beta}B\to A\otimes_{\alpha}B$ which maps elementary tensor into itself is continuous, and so can be extended uniquely to $i:A\otimes^{\beta}B\to A\otimes^{\alpha}B$. Injectivity when $\beta=\gamma$ and $\alpha=\lambda$ (the Banach space injective tensor norm) and $\beta=\wedge$ and $\alpha=\lambda$ were proved in [223, 236]. We still do not know the injectivity in case $\beta=s$ or when A and B are operator spaces [360]. The Haagerup tensor product $M\otimes^h B$, where M is a ternary ring of operators (TRO) and B a C^* -algebra has been investigated. In contrast to the C^* -algebra, a counterexample can be obtained showing that the Haagerup and maximal tensor norms can be equivalent even when both M and B are infinite dimensional using inductive limits [16, 250]. We also established an isometric embedding of $M^{**}\otimes^h B^{**}$ into $(M\otimes^h B)^{**}$. Although $M\otimes^h B$ does not admit a natural C^* -algebra or ternary ring structure, in fact we proved that $A\otimes^h B$ is a C^* -tring if and only if $A=\mathbb{C}$ or $B=\mathbb{C}$, thereby clarifying the boundary of when such structure survives even for C^* -algebras. Nevertheless, we developed an ideal-theoretic framework, classifying maximal, prime, and

primitive ideals directly in terms of the ideal of M and B. These results illustrate that the ideal structure of $M \otimes^h B$ retains much of the algebraic clarity seen in the C^* -algebraic context [250, 251].

Beside C^* -algebras and operator spaces, operator systems have attracted considerable attention of operator algebraists in recent years. Operator systems are self-adjoint unital subspaces of B(H) for a complex Hilbert space H [330]. Naturally, they are matrix ordered and matrix normed spaces just as C^* -algebras. Arveson in [23] remarked that one can generate non-*-isomorphic C^* -algebras from an operator system S depending upon the representation, these are called as C^* -covers of S. The existence of minimal amongst all these C^* -covers for an operator system S, referred to as the C^* -envelope of S and denoted by $C^*_e(S)$, was shown by Hamana [225].

In 2011, a new approach to the study operator system tensor products was introduced and a lattice structure of 6 operator system tensor products was provided in [252]. ess tensor product related to C^* -envelopes was later introduced in [196], via the embedding $S \otimes_{\text{ess}} T \subset C_e^*(S) \otimes_{\text{max}} C_e^*(T)$. The whole theory of tensor products, even the very recent one, revolves around the work of Lance [275]. It is well known that the operator space minimal (injective) tensor product and maximal (projective) tensor product do not coincide even for finite dimensional matrix algebras, e.g., $||E_{1j} \otimes E_{jj}||_{\vee} = 1 \neq \sqrt{n} = ||E_{1j} \otimes E_{jj}||_{\wedge}$ (see [268]), so the term nuclearity can not be extended to operator spaces. But due to the introduction of several tensor products in the category of operator systems, the notion of nuclearity was generalized to operator systems from C^* -algebras in [252].

The relationship of nuclearity of an operator system with the nuclearity of its C^* -envelope was considered in [221]. It was shown that nuclearity of the C^* -envelope of an operator system is equivalent to (min, ess)-nuclearity of operator system. Moreover, a unital C^* -algebra is (min, ess)-nuclear as an operator system if and only if it is nuclear as a C^* -algebra [221]. Associated to the the group C^* -algebra are finitely generated operator systems called group operator systems [196]. The exhaustive list of nuclear group operator systems associated to minimal generating sets of finitely generated groups was provided in [221]. Unlike C^* -algebras, separable exact operator systems need not embed into the Cuntz algebra \mathcal{O}_2 [255, 284]. It is the exactness of the C^* -envelope, rather than that of the operator system that makes an operator system embeddable into \mathcal{O}_2 [285]. For a separable operator system S, the C^* -envelope $C_e^*(S)$ is exact if and only if there exist a unital complete order embedding of S into \mathcal{O}_2 . The commutativity of inductive limits and C^* -envelopes was studied in [270].

The study on the quantitative theory of polynomials in operator spaces was initiated in [179]. The λ -theory, based on the tensor norms obtained from homogeneous polynomial, was extended to matrix ordered spaces and Banach *-algebras in [286].

Dosiev in [183] proposed a concrete structure of local operator systems using the multinormed C^* -algebra $C^*_{\mathcal{E}}(\mathcal{D})$. Tensor product structure in the category of local operator systems was introduced in [78] and nuclearity in this category was discussed in [80]. Further Arveson's notion of hyperrigidity of operator systems was extended to local operator systems in [79].

As a final remark, it is important to highlight that some recent studies e.g. [156, 256, 253] have integrated the theoretical framework of operator algebras with practical explorations in quantum information theory, thereby emphasizing the significance of their deep and far-reaching interconnections.

12. Bohr's Inequality and the Gleason–Kahane–Żelazko Theorem

By Sneh Lata [sneh.lata@snu.edu.in] from Shiv Nadar Institution of Eminence; and Dinesh Singh [dineshsingh1@gmail.com] from O. P. Jindal Global university.

Sneh Lata and Dinesh Singh, along with their collaborators, have made contributions—deemed significant by many—to the fields of complex analysis and functional analysis, particularly in two notable areas: Bohr's inequality and the Gleason—Kahane—Żelazko (GKZ) theorem. Their work extends important classical results that have strong implications for modern analysis to more general settings, including non-commutative spaces and new classes of function spaces.

Bohr's Inequality

The classical Bohr's inequality, established by Harald Bohr [123] in number theory, states that for $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^k \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$, the inequality

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |a_k| r^k \le ||f||_{\infty}, \quad 0 \le r \le \frac{1}{3},$$

holds. The bound $r_0 = 1/3$ is optimal, meaning the inequality fails for some functions when r > 1/3. Bohr proved it initially for $r \le 1/6$, and later Riesz [182], Schur [182], Sidon [402], Wiener [123], and Tomic [420] extended it to r = 1/3. More recently, Lata and Singh established analogues in non-commutative Hardy spaces associated with semifinite von Neumann algebras, yielding versions for von Neumann-Schatten class operators C_1 and finite matrices. Earlier, Singh with Paulsen [334] obtained a general form for Hardy spaces associated with uniform algebras, showing the inequality's independence from Fourier coefficients and its validity for more general coefficients. See also [332, 333]. Lata and Singh [276] later extended this analogue to non-commutative Hardy spaces associated with a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{M} equipped with a normal semifinite faithful trace τ .

Theorem 12.1. [276, Theorem 4.7] (Bohr's Inequality for Non-Commutative Hardy Spaces) Let $x \in H^1(\mathcal{M})$ such that $\tau(x) \geq 0$ and $Re(x) \leq y$ for some self-adjoint $y \in H^1(\mathcal{M})$ with finite trace. For a sequence $\{x_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$ in $H_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})$ with $||x_m||_{\infty} \leq 1$, let $\alpha_0 = \tau(x)$ and $\alpha_m = \tau(xx_m^*)$ for $m \geq 1$. Then:

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} |\alpha_m| r^m \le \tau(y) \tag{12.1}$$

whenever $0 \le r \le \frac{1}{3}$.

This generalized theorem yields the classical Bohr's inequality when $\mathcal{M} = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$. The theorem also provides specific optimal bounds for r depending on the von Neumann algebra \mathcal{M} . When $\mathcal{M} = M_n(\mathbb{C})$, the optimal bound for r is at most $\frac{n}{3n-2}$ for any general n, 1/2 for n=2, and $\sqrt{2}-1$ for n=3. When $\mathcal{M} = B(\mathcal{H})$ for an infinite dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H} or a commutative von Neumann algebra, the optimal bound is 1/3.

Lata and Singh's work also provides versions of Bohr's inequality under more relaxed hypotheses. For the class C_1 , they proved that an inequality similar to (12.1) can be obtained for a larger collection of operators. Additionally, for finite matrices in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$, they showed that the optimal bound for r is 1/3 for all $n \geq 2$, unlike the specific bounds

given by Theorem 12.1, as mentioned above. This was achieved by constructing specific non-trivial matrices that cause the inequality to fail for r > 1/3.

The Gleason-Kahane-Żelazko (GKZ) Theorem

The GKZ theorem [213, 249, 447] characterizes multiplicative linear functionals on Banach algebras. Lata and Singh, along with Jaikishan, developed new analogues for function spaces in a vein similar to that pursued by Mashreghi and Ransford [294], but employing new methods in different directions. In [234], they established a general GKZ theorem on the vector space of complex polynomials, showing that multiplicative linear functionals—those with F(1) = 1 and $F((z - \alpha)^n) \neq 0$ for all n and α outside a fixed open disc—are precisely point evaluations. Mathematical Reviews described this as a farreaching generalization. Their work further extends to vector spaces with topologies not tied to algebraic structure.

Theorem 12.2. [234, Theorem B] Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{F}(r,\mathbb{C})$ be a complex vector space equipped with a topology that satisfies the following properties:

- (1) for each $w \in D(0,r)$, the map $f \mapsto f(w)$ is continuous;
- (2) \mathcal{X} contains the set of complex polynomials as a dense subset.

Let $\mathcal{Y} = \{(z - \lambda)^n : n \geq 0, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \ |\lambda| \geq r\}$. If $F : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a continuous linear functional such that F(1) = 1 and $F(g) \neq 0$ for all $g \in \mathcal{Y}$, then there exists $w \in D(0,r)$ such that

$$F(f) = f(w)$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{X}$.

The authors observe that while their theorem parallels Mashreghi and Ransford's results, it relies only on a narrow class of outer functions—powers of linear outer polynomials—and, unlike their proofs, does not use the GKZ theorem.

Lata and Singh, with Jaikishan, extended the Kowalski–Słodkowski (KS) theorem [262], a generalization of the GKZ theorem, to broader topological spaces in [235]. They showed that non-zero continuous functions with values in a Banach algebra satisfying KS-type conditions can be expressed as a composition of a point evaluation and a multiplicative linear functional. Their analogue of the KS theorem stands apart from related works of Sampat [393] and Sebastian–Daniel [397]. Their result provides a several-variables analogue of the KS theorem for vector-valued functions, while Sampat's yields a GKZ version and Sebastian–Daniel's is confined to Hardy spaces on the unit disc. The proofs given in [235] are elementary, in contrast to the function-theoretic approach of [393] and the Hardy space approach of [397]. They assume the map is non-zero only on certain polynomials, introduce an essential continuity condition, and extend the result beyond analytic function spaces.

The main thrust of our plans for the future shall centre around—in addition to developing new applications and generalizations of Bohr's inequality as well as the GKZ theorem—investigations of invariant subspaces of operators on the spaces BMO and VMO and on abstract function spaces associated with compact Abelian groups and group algebras.

13. VON NEUMANN ALGEBRAS

By Kunal Krishna Mukherjee [kunal@iitm.ac.in] from IIT Madras.

In India, the community of researchers working in von Neumann algebras is led by the author alongside P. Bikram, I. Patri, K. Bakshi, V. Gupta, V. Kodiyalam, S. Ghosh, and their students and postdoctoral collaborators. Broadly speaking, the first three-Mukherjee, Bikram, and Patri—have advanced the analytical, algebraic, and dynamical aspects of von Neumann algebras, while the latter group-Bakshi, Gupta, Kodiyalam, and Ghosh-have primarily concentrated on II_1 factors and subfactor theory. It is important to emphasize that the development of von Neumann algebras in India reflects a clear generational leap: the field has evolved from an early focus almost exclusively on II₁ factors and subfactor theory to a much broader engagement with factors of all types. This shift marks a significant success story in the Indian operator algebra community, positioning it to contribute meaningfully to global research trends. This article, in particular, concentrates on the analytical, algebraic, and dynamical aspects of von Neumann algebras, without restricting attention to any specific type of factor, thereby reflecting this broader and more mature research landscape. Here, we highlight several of the major results obtained over the past decade, which together illustrate both the depth and the breadth of these investigations.

The recent paper [64] studied the relationship between the dynamics of the action α of a discrete group G on a von Neumann algebra M, and structural properties of the associated crossed product inclusion $L(G) \subseteq M \rtimes_{\alpha} G$, and its intermediate subalgebras. The underlying group is only assumed to be discrete, regardless of its cardinality, and the ambient von Neumann algebra is just assumed to be σ -finite. A key tool in the setting of a noncommutative dynamical system is the set of quasinormalizers for an inclusion of von Neumann algebras. It was shown that the von Neumann algebra generated by the quasinormalizers captures analytical properties of the inclusion $L(G) \subseteq M \rtimes_{\alpha} G$, such as the Haagerup Approximation Property, and is essential to capturing almost periodic behaviour in the dynamical system. This yields a new description of the Furstenberg-Zimmer distal tower for an ergodic action on a probability space. New versions of the Furstenberg-Zimmer structure theorem for general, tracial W^* -dynamical systems were obtained. This work builds upon more than eighty years of profound developments in the theory of operator algebras, with Dixmier's seminal contributions in the 1950s (notably Dixmier, 1954) marking the starting point of systematic investigations into the structure of von Neumann algebras. The study of quasinormalizers, in particular, has revealed a remarkably rich and intricate structure that continues to pose challenging open questions. We believe that, despite the substantial progress achieved to date, there remains a long trajectory ahead before a comprehensive understanding of these objects is reached.

A long paper [DM] (in a series of five) takes up a comprehensive study of uniformly left bounded (resp. left-right bounded) orthonormal bases in GNS spaces of infinite-dimensional von Neumann algebras in the framework of both faithful normal states and f.n.s. weights. Necessary and sufficient conditions on a closed subspace of a GNS space were provided to guarantee the existence of an orthonormal basis of uniformly left bounded (resp. left-right bounded) vectors. In the context of states, while a basis of the first kind exists for all GNS spaces, $\mathbf{B}(\ell^2)$ (and purely atomic algebras in general) is excluded for a basis of the latter kind. However, in the context of weights, there are no such aforesaid

obstructions. In the context of weights, the GNS space of every infinite-dimensional von Neumann algebra admits a uniformly left and right bounded orthonormal basis such that the aforesaid bound is arbitrarily small.

If M is an infinite-dimensional factor and φ is a faithful normal state on M, then given $\epsilon > 0$, the associated GNS space admits a uniformly left bounded orthonormal basis \mathcal{O} such that $\sup_{\xi \in \mathcal{O}} \|L_{\xi}\| \leq (1 + \sqrt{2}) + \epsilon$. Similar statements were obtained for left-right bounded bases when M is either of type II or III_{λ} with $\lambda \in [0,1)$. As an outcome, it follows that the GNS space of any type II_1 factor with respect to its tracial state admits an orthonormal basis consisting of images of self-adjoint operators from the ball of radius $(1+\sqrt{2})+\epsilon$, for every $\epsilon > 0$. Related questions regarding orthounitary bases remain open and untouched since the Baton-Rouge conference '67.

The factoriality of q-deformed Araki-Woods algebras (algebras associated with deformed harmonic oscillator) which was open since 2001 after repeated abortive attempts by stellar researchers in the field was settled except for one case in [107] and [108]. This led to stimulus for others because recently the last case has been settled by others. The constructions of such algebras were first dreamt of in 1974 to create field theories that allow 'small violations' of Pauli's exclusion principle. Since such algebras are of type III and the generators generate abelian algebras which usually lack appropriate conditional expectation, there is little to perform calculations. This difficulty was bypassed by choosing an appropriate generator that generates a maximal abelian subalgebra with conditional expectation and that which interacts with the other generators so as to allow calculation of associated bimodules. This was the first calculation of masa-bimodules in the type III setting, the S-invariant of Connes was calculated successfully and it was shown that in the case the factor turns out to be type III₁, they saisfy the bicentralizer conjecture of Connes. Several subsequent papers, both in India and internationally, have pursued the study of deformed Araki-Woods von Neumann algebras. However, this represents a noteworthy instance where the direction of inquiry was not one of following existing trends but, rather, one in which our work set the precedent and was later followed by others.

A systematic and comprehensive study of joinings of non-commutative dynamical systems was carried out in a series of 3 papers [65, 67, 66]. The study of actions of non-commutative groups on von Neumann algebras was extended to a significant height, strengthening a well-known result of Hoegh-Khron, Landstad and Størmer on actions of compact groups on von Neumann algebras that appeared in Ann. Math. in '82. The result is as follows: If a locally compact group G acts ergodically on von Neumann algebra M with separable predual preserving a faithful normal state φ , then any finite-dimensional invariant subspace of the associated Koopman representation in the GNS Hilbert space is contained inside the image of the centralizer M^{φ} . Consequently, if $M^{\varphi} = \mathbb{C}1$ i.e., M is a III₁ factor, then any such ergodic action is weak mixing. It basically means non-commutative dynamics are chaotic on large regions of the phase space.

A comprehensive study of compact bicrossed products, a construction in the theory of Quantum Groups, was carried out in [FMP] and an infinite family of discrete quantum groups with property (T) (of Khazdan and Margulis) were exhibited, a single example of which was unknown then.

The paper in [MP] initiated the study of non-commutative dynamical systems of the form (\mathbb{G}, Γ) , where a discrete group acts on a compact quantum group (CQG) by quantum automorphisms. Combinatorial conditions for such dynamical systems to be ergodic,

mixing, compact, etc., were obtained, and a wide variety of examples to illustrate these conditions were provided. A well-known theorem of Halmos to demonstrate 'reversal of arrows' in the ergodic hierarchy relevant to the context was generalized. Also, a study of spectral measures for actions of (non-commutative) groups was made. An investigation of the structure of such dynamical systems was made, and under certain restrictions, the existence and uniqueness of the maximal ergodic invariant normal subgroup of such systems was established. As an application, the size of normalizing algebras of masas arising from groups in von Neumann algebraic CQGs was studied, and it was shown that the normalizing algebra of such masas is the von Neumann algebra generated by co-commutative CQGs.

14. Applications of Birkhoff-James orthogonality in studying the geometry of operators between Banach spaces

By Kallol Paul [kalloldada@gmail.com] from Jadavpur University; and Debmalya Sain [saindebmalya@gmail.com] from IIIT Raichur, Karnataka

Birkhoff-James orthogonality is arguably the most natural and well-studied concept of orthogonality in the setting of Banach spaces. Introduced by Birkhoff [109] and later developed by James [237], it provides key insights on the structure of Banach spaces and perhaps more importantly, bounded linear operators between them. For elements x, y in a Banach space \mathbb{X} , x is Birkhoff-James orthogonal to y (denoted as $x \perp_B y$) if $||x + \lambda y|| \ge ||x||$, for all scalars λ . A significant part of our research in the last two decades is dedicated to exploring bounded linear operators by employing orthogonality techniques. Letters X, Y denote Banach spaces and H a Hilbert space. The dual space of \mathbb{X} is denoted by \mathbb{X}^* . $B_{\mathbb{X}}$ and $S_{\mathbb{X}}$ stand for the unit ball and the unit sphere of \mathbb{X} , respectively. Let $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$ (resp. $\mathbb{K}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$) be the space of all bounded (resp. compact) linear operators between X and Y. The space of all bounded (resp. compact) linear operators on \mathbb{X} is denoted by $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X})$ (resp. $\mathbb{K}(\mathbb{X})$). Given $T \in \mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$, the norm attainment set of T, denoted by M_T , is defined as $M_T = \{x \in S_{\mathbb{X}} : ||Tx|| = ||T||\}$. A useful characterization of Birkhoff-James orthogonality in $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{H})$, where \mathbb{H} is an Euclidean space, was obtained in [96, 327]. It is worth mentioning that the following conjecture in [96] was one of the key motivators for our study in this direction:

"If $T, A \in \mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X})$, where \mathbb{X} is a finite-dimensional Banach space, are such that $T \perp_B A$ then there exists $x \in M_T$ such that $Tx \perp_B Ax$."

In this context, our main contribution in [387] is to illustrate the importance of the norm attainment set M_T in the whole scheme of things. More precisely, we show that for real Banach spaces, the above conjecture is true whenever $M_T = \pm D$, where D is a connected set. On the other hand, easy counter-examples to the above conjecture can be constructed by considering M_T to be not of this form. This insight also allowed us to characterize Euclidean spaces: "A finite-dimensional real Banach space \mathbb{X} is a Hilbert space if and only if for any $T \in \mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X})$, M_T is the unit sphere of some subspace of \mathbb{X} ." Furthermore, in [388], we extended the characterization to compact operators $T \in \mathbb{K}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$, where \mathbb{X} is a reflexive Banach space. In the most general setting of $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$, where norm attainment is not a priori guaranteed, complete characterizations of Birkhoff-James orthogonality have

been obtained in [289] and [388], with important applications to the study of Gateaux differentiability (also called smoothness in the language of geometry) in operator spaces.

Let us recall that an element $x \in \mathbb{X}$ is said to be smooth if $\{f \in S_{\mathbb{X}^*} : f(x) = ||x||\}$ is a singleton. Smoothness of an element is fundamentally related to orthogonality in the following way: A non-zero vector $x \in \mathbb{X}$ is smooth if and only if Birkhoff-James orthogonality at x is right additive, i.e., $x \perp_B y$ and $x \perp_B z \Longrightarrow x \perp_B (y+z)$. By using the previously mentioned characterizations of Birkhoff-James orthogonality, we studied the smoothness of bounded linear operators. In [328], complete characterizations of smooth operators in $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{H})$ and in $\mathbb{K}(\mathbb{X})$ have been obtained, for a reflexive real Banach space \mathbb{X} . These results were further generalized in [389], where the smooth operators in $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})$ have been characterized. We have also explored a generalized notion of smoothness, namely, the k-smoothness. An element $x \in S_{\mathbb{X}}$ is said to be k-smooth if $\dim span\{f \in S_{\mathbb{X}^*} : f(x) = ||x||\} = k$. A complete identification of k-smooth operators in $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{H})$ has been obtained in [287]. Some related results have also been presented for operators on ℓ_1^n and ℓ_∞^n . We have further extended this study in [392], where we have solved the k-smoothness problem for operators between polyhedral Banach spaces.

We have also explored another fundamental geometric notion in the space of bounded linear operators, namely, the extreme contractions. We recall that extreme contractions are simply the extreme points of the unit ball of the space of all bounded linear operators. Although the extreme contractions in $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{H})$ have been characterized nearly seven decades ago, a tractable solution in a general Banach space setting remains elusive, even in the finite-dimensional case. In [386], we completely characterized these special points in $\mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$, where \mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y} are two-dimensional strictly convex and smooth Banach spaces. We further study this problem for finite-dimensional polyhedral spaces in [390], where it was shown that if \mathbb{X} is an n-dimensional polyhedral Banach space and $T \in \mathbb{L}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$ is an extreme contraction, then M_T contains n linearly independent extreme points of $B_{\mathbb{X}}$. Throughout these studies, Birkhoff-James orthogonality has played a central role.

More recently, we have applied our work on Birkhoff-James orthogonality to the theory optimization in Banach spaces, focusing on classical best approximation and best coapproximation problems. In [385], best approximations to compact operators between Banach spaces and Hilbert spaces have been studied from the view point of Birkhoff-James orthogonality. As an application, some distance formulae have been presented in the space of compact operators. Later this work has been further extended and generalized in [288], where we have obtained several distance formulae for a compact operator to a subspace. The best coapproximation problem, a much less explored but equally natural counterpart of the classical best approximation problem, was studied in [391]. We have completely characterized best coapproximation points from an $n \times n$ matrix to a subspace of diagonal matrices and moreover, identified the coproximinal and the co-Chebyshev subspaces in this setting, which are important for many practical purposes.

In a nutshell, our research on Birkhoff-James orthogonality and its various applications in the isometric theory of Banach spaces illustrate the importance of orthogonality in understanding the analytic as well as the geometric properties of Banach spaces and of bounded linear operators between them. In the last decade, several groups of Banach space theorists have become interested in applying orthogonality techniques in the setting of operator spaces. We strongly expect this trend to continue for good reasons and it is our intention to further explore orthogonality related topics in the more general framework of topological vector spaces.

15. Commutators and Lie algebras of compact operators

By Sasmita Patnaik [sasmita@iitk.ac.in] from IIT Kanpur. [Dedicated to the memory of Gary Weiss]

This article centers around two long-standing open questions spanning over four decades: the Pearcy-Topping's compact commutator problem [337, Section 2, Problem 1] and the Wojtyński's Lie algebra simplicity problem [446, Question 3]. We briefly summarize the progress made with emphasis on the approach to these problems.

Commutators are operators of the form AB-BA, where A and B are bounded operators on a complex Hilbert space. When the Hilbert space is finite dimensional, then a matrix is a commutator if and only if its trace is zero [409]. The situation changes in the infinitedimensional Hilbert space setting. In 1965, Brown-Pearcy characterized all commutators of bounded operators: a bounded operator is a commutator if and only if it is not a nonzero scalar perturbation of a compact operator [127, Theorem 3]. Later, Pearcy-Topping initiated the study of commutators of compact operators by asking four seminal questions on its structure. Among them, the following remains unresolved [337, Section 2, Problem 1] (1971): is every compact operator a commutator of compact operators? In this direction, Anderson constructed infinite block matrices whose commutator is a rankone projection operator (infinite kernel) [14, Theorem 1], thereby affirmatively answering the key test question posed by Pearcy-Topping in [337]. This was a groundbreaking work of Anderson and the starting point of our research in the subject. By making a modest modification of Anderson's matrix model, we (joint with Gary Weiss) answered a 35-yearold test question posed by Gary Weiss [76, Theorem 3.1]: there is a rich class of strictly positive (zero kernel) compact operators with repeating eigenvalues that are commutators of compact operators.

The work mentioned in this paragraph is a joint work with Jirch Loreaux, John Petrovic, and Gary Weiss. In continuation of our earlier work on commutators, by making a controlled perturbation of Anderson's matrices and extending the techniques of Anderson's matrix model, we further enlarged the known class by constructing a family of strictly positive compact operators with distinct eigenvalues [280, Theorem 2.10]. After the successful implementation of certain variations of Anderson matrix model, we encountered obstacles in the use of Anderson's matrix model that had to do with the arithmetic growth size of its block matrices [280, Theorem 3.4, Corollary 3.5]. A deeper analysis of Anderson's matrix model opened a new vein in our study of commutators - sparsification of matrices in universal block tridiagonal matrix forms [326, Theorem 20.4, Theorems 20.7-20.8], which is a joint work with John Petrovic and Gary Weiss. We note for the reader that any progress that has been made so far on this problem involved alterations in the Anderson's matrix model - a very matricial approach. After getting soaked in the matrix constructions for a while, we next viewed this problem from a different angle independent of matrix representations. We gave a fresh new perspective to the Pearcy-Topping

problem by presenting more general constraints on the solutions of the commutator equation CZ - ZC = T in question. They are of two different types; quantitative in terms of s-numbers [280, Proposition 4.1] and qualitative in terms of principal ideals generated by the operators T, C, and Z [280, Corollary 4.8]. Several questions popped up in this direction which one could take up to explore in [280, Section 4].

Our work over a decade on commutators of compact operators has led to various off-shoots that adds perspective in several directions. For instance, Jirch Loreaux and Gary Weiss found connecting threads between our study of single commutators of compact operators with the concept of generalized traces (beyond spectral traces) on operator ideals [281, Paragraph following Theorem 9]; and with the splitting of infinite matrix representations of compact operators and the membership of its parts in operator ideals [281, Paragraph 6]. Our universal block tridiagonal matrix form associated with a compact operator allowed us to reformulate an equivalent Pearcy—Topping question as follows: a compact operator is a commutator of compact operators if and only if one can solve a certain infinite system of finite matrix equations. Solving an infinite system of finite matrices with varying sizes has its own challenges, but this equivalence broadly links the study of elementary operators with the study of finite matrix theory.

The commutator operation AB - BA on the space of bounded linear operators gives a non-associative structure to it, which is called a Lie algebra [325, Definition 2.5]. A concept in Lie algebra that inherits both an algebraic and topological property is the topological simplicity of Lie algebras (i.e., if it has no nontrivial closed Lie ideals). The Lie algebra of bounded operators is not topologically simple because the closed Lie ideal of compact operators is a nontrivial Lie ideal. In 1976, Wojtyński proved that if the Banach-Lie algebra of compact quasinilpotent operators contains a nonzero finite-rank operator, then the Lie algebra is not topologically simple [446, Theorem 6]. And in that spirit, he raised the question [446, Question 3]: Does every Banach-Lie algebra of compact quasinilpotent operators on a Banach space contain a nontrivial closed Lie ideal? Some partial results centered around this question were obtained by Brešar, Shulman, and Turovskii in [128]. To the best of our knowledge, in any of the developments made so far on this problem, the consideration of the adjoint representation of Lie algebras in the study of the simplicity of Lie algebras seemed inevitable.

In 2022, the author of this article offered a new and direct hands-on approach to the study of simplicity of Lie algebras of compact operators acting on an infinite-dimensional separable complex Hilbert space that avoids the adjoint representation technique. We achieved this goal by first focusing on the study of the algebraic simplicity of Lie algebras of compact operators by addressing the question [325, Section 1, Paragraph 2]: Which infinite-dimensional Lie algebras of compact operators on a Hilbert space are algebraically simple? By employing the notion of soft-edged ideals in the theory of operator ideals, we obtained a sufficient condition that guarantees the non-simplicity of Lie algebras of compact operators [325, Theorem 3.5 and Corollary 3.8]. Soft-edged ideals were first introduced by Kaftal and Weiss and these ideals have played a significant role in various aspects of operator ideal theory, see [247]-[248] and the references therein. This approach establishes a bridge connecting a purely algebraic problem (simplicity) with an analytic behaviour of certain operator ideals (ideal-softness). We also emphasized that the investigation of simplicity of Lie algebras of finite-rank operators requires a separate treatment [325, Question]. Ultimately, we intend to address the Wojtyński question in the

Hilbert space framework hoping that the operator ideal techniques might shed some light on the problem unlike the intractability of the problem in more general Banach spaces.

16. On subclasses of norm attaining operators on Hilbert spaces

By G. Ramesh [rameshg@math.iith.ac.in] from IIT Hyderabad

Norm attaining operators on Banach spaces have been studied extensively for several decades. When considered on Hilbert spaces, these operators exhibit richer structural and geometric properties. In recent years, significant attention has been devoted to both norm attaining operators and their subclasses, as well as to minimum attaining operators and their subclasses. In particular, both classes form dense subsets of $\mathcal{B}(H)$, the Banach space of all bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space H, equipped with the operator norm.

In this note, we focus on two central themes in operator theory: the *norm attaining* property and the *invariant subspace property* for certain subclasses of norm attaining and minimum attaining operators. We describe these details in the following.

Recall that a closed subspace M of H is said to be an **invariant subspace** for T or **invariant** under T if $T(M) \subseteq M$; that is, $Tx \in M$, whenever $x \in M$. Moreover, M is said to be **reducing** for T if both M and its orthogonal complement M^{\perp} in H are invariant under T. If M is invariant for every $S \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ that commutes with T, then M is said to be **hyperinvariant** under T. The invariant subspace (respectively, hyperinvariant subspace) problem can be stated as follows:

Problem 16.1. Let H be a separable, infinite-dimensional Hilbert space. Does every $T \in \mathcal{B}(H) \setminus \mathbb{C}I$ admit a nontrivial invariant (respectively, hyperinvariant) subspace?

Absolutely Norm attaining Operators: We say $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ is norm attaining if there exists $x \in H$ with ||x|| = 1 such that ||Tx|| = ||T|| and is absolutely norm attaining (or \mathcal{AN} -operator, for short) if for every non-zero closed subspace M of H, the restriction operator $T|_M: M \to H$ is norm attaining. We denote the set of all absolutely norm attaining operators on H by $\mathcal{AN}(H)$.

The class of absolutely norm attaining operators was introduced in [130] based on the properties of compact operators and isometries, with the motivation of studying the invariant subspace problem. It includes compact operators, isometries, and partial isometries with finite-dimensional kernels.

Several characterizations of positive \mathcal{AN} -operators are provided in [319, 369, 366, 436], while characterizations for normal \mathcal{AN} -operators appeared in [50, 369, 436]. The self-adjoint case is treated in [50, 436].

A central motivation for studying this class is its connection to the invariant subspace problem, which can be approached via various representations of such operators. For instance, the spectral decomposition of absolutely norm attaining normal operators is discussed in [50, 369], and the hyponormal case is considered in [50]. A key question here is: When does a hyponormal operator become normal? It is well known that compact hyponormal operators are normal. In [50], it is shown that a hyponormal \mathcal{AN} -operator whose Weyl spectrum coincides with its essential spectrum must be normal. This result

has been generalized to the operator norm closure of \mathcal{AN} -operators in [362]. For developments on the functional calculus of \mathcal{AN} -operators, we refer to [364], and for results on the stability of \mathcal{AN} -operators under the induced Aluthge transform, we refer to [363].

Another noteworthy subclass is the set of bounded operators attaining their norm on every non-zero reducing subspace. This class does not contain the operator norm closure of the \mathcal{AN} -class, nor does it contained the operator norm closure of $\mathcal{AN}(H)$. However, it is dense in $\mathcal{B}(H)$ with respect to the operator norm. In particular, every bounded operator can be approximated by an operator in this class with a nontrivial invariant subspace (see [361] for details).

Absolutely Minimum attaining Operators: A natural counterpart to the class of \mathcal{AN} operators is the class of absolutely minimum attaining operators. Recall that $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ is minimum attaining if there exists $x \in H$ with ||x|| = 1 such that ||Tx|| = m(T), the
minimum modulus of T, where

$$m(T) = \inf\{\|Tx\| : x \in H, \ \|x\| = 1\}.$$

It has been shown that the set of minimum attaining operators is dense in $\mathcal{B}(H)$ with respect to the operator norm [266], and moreover, a Bishop-Phelps-Bollobás type theorem holds for this class [51]. We say $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ to be absolutely minimum attaining (or \mathcal{AM} , for short) if for every non-zero closed subspace M of H, the restriction operator $T|_M: M \to H$ is minimum attaining. The collection of all such operators is denoted by $\mathcal{AM}(H)$, a class first introduced in [131].

The behaviour of \mathcal{AM} -operators contrasts sharply with that of \mathcal{AN} -operators. For instance, every \mathcal{AM} -operator has closed range, whereas an infinite-rank compact operator can be \mathcal{AN} without having closed range. Characterizations and properties of positive \mathcal{AM} -operators are given in [200], and several spectral characterizations appear in [49].

The existence of hyperinvariant subspaces for Toeplitz and Hankel operators in both \mathcal{AN} and \mathcal{AM} classes has been studied in [367, 365]. Interestingly, the operator norm closures of $\mathcal{AN}(H)$ and $\mathcal{AM}(H)$ coincide. Specifically,

$$\overline{\mathcal{AN}(H)} = \overline{\mathcal{AM}(H)}$$
= $\{K + \alpha V : K \text{ compact}, V \text{ partial isometry with }, \dim(\ker(V)) < \infty, \alpha \ge 0\}.$

For further details, see [366]. This class includes compact perturbations of unitaries, an important class of operators in operator theory. The existence of invariant (hyperinvariant) subspaces for this class remains an open problem. In this direction, recent progress [52] shows that if $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ satisfies $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(T^*T) = \{\alpha\}$ for some $\alpha \geq 0$ and the sequence $(\alpha - \lambda_n) \in \ell^p(\mathbb{N})$ for some $1 , where <math>\lambda_n \in \sigma_d(T^*T)$, then T has a nontrivial hyperinvariant subspace. Here, $\sigma_{\text{ess}}(A)$ and $\sigma_d(A)$ denote the essential and discrete spectra, respectively, of a self-adjoint operator $A \in \mathcal{B}(H)$. As a consequence we can easily recover a well known result: If $T \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ with $I - T^*T \in \mathcal{K}_p(H)$ (the Schatten-p class) for some 1 , then <math>T admits a non-trivial hyperinvariant subspace.

For a comprehensive survey on the spectral theory of unbounded absolutely minimumattaining operators, we refer the reader to [267].

The first step towards generalizing \mathcal{AN} -operators to Banach space operators is to obtain a representation of compact operators on Banach spaces, as established in [370].

17. GENERALIZED PARROTT HOMOMORPHISMS AND BANACH SPACE GEOMETRY

By Samya Kumar Ray [samyaray7777@gmail.com] from The Institute of Mathematical Sciences (HBNI), Chennai; Rajeev Gupta [rajeev@iitgoa.ac.in] from IIT Goa; and Arpita Mal [arpitamalju@gmail.com] from Dhirubhai Ambani University.

For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let \mathcal{C}_n be the set of *n*-tuples of commuting contractions and $\mathbb{C}_k[z]$ be the set of polynomials of degree at most k. Define

$$\mathcal{C}_k(n) := \sup \left\{ \|p(T)\| : \|p\|_{\infty,\mathbb{D}^n} \leqslant 1, \ p \in \mathbb{C}_k[z], \ T \in \mathcal{C}_n \right\}, \qquad \mathcal{C}(n) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathcal{C}_k(n).$$

We have $\mathcal{C}(1) = \mathcal{C}(2) = 1$ by dilation theorem of Sz.-Nagy [418] and Andö [15] respectively. For $n \ge 3$, C(n) grows faster than any power of n [199], but it is unknown whether $\mathcal{C}(3)$ (or any $\mathcal{C}(n)$, $n \geq 3$) is finite [343]. Varopoulos-Kaijser's [434] construction shows $\mathcal{C}_2(3) > 1$, raising the problem of whether $(\mathcal{C}_2(n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded. Varopoulos [435] proved that $K_G^{\mathbb{C}} \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} C_2(n) \leq 2K_G^{\mathbb{C}}$, where $K_G^{\mathbb{C}}$ is the complex Grothendieck constant. Since $K_G^{\mathbb{C}} > 1$, this Varopoulos inequality shows the eventual failure of von Neumann's inequality in high dimensions. He asked whether the limit equals $K_G^{\mathbb{C}}$? In [219] this question was answered in the negative by proving $\lim_{n\to\infty} C_2(n) \geqslant 1.118 K_G^{\mathbb{C}}$. Arveson [30] provided a remarkable equivalent criterion for $\partial \mathbb{D}^3$ -normal dilation in terms of contractivity vs. complete contractivity. Parrott's example [321] showed that a unital contractive homomorphism on $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^3)$ need not admit a $\partial \mathbb{D}^3$ -normal dilation, revealing that complete contractivity can fail in higher dimensions. Here, $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^n)$ is the closure in $C(\overline{\mathbb{D}^n})$ of all complex polynomials in n variables. Misra and his coauthors [300, 301, 298, 38, 295] further studied these examples in detail and extended this to Euclidean balls in \mathbb{C}^n for all $n \geq 2$. Based on these examples, it is natural to study the Generalized Parrott homomorphisms described below.

Fix $\ell, m \in \mathbb{N}$. We denote $(X)_1$, as the open unit ball of a d-dimensional complex Banach space X. Let J_{ℓ} denote the standard Jordan block of size $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$. and $\mathcal{C}(\ell, m)$ denote the set of all d-tuples of square matrices of size $m(\ell+1)$ of the form $T_{\mathbf{V}} := (V_1 \otimes J_{\ell+1}, \ldots, (V_d \otimes J_{\ell+1}), \text{ where } \mathbf{V} := (V_1, \ldots, V_d) \text{ is a } d$ -tuple of commuting matrices of size m. Let us consider the algebra homomorphism : $\Phi_{\ell,\mathbf{V}} : f \mapsto f(T_{\mathbf{V}})$ from $\mathcal{O}((X)_1)$ to $M_{m(l+1)}$. Define

$$\alpha(\ell, X) := \sup\{\|\Phi_{\ell, \mathbf{V}}\|_{cb} : \|\Phi_{\ell, \mathbf{V}}\| \le 1, \mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{C}(\ell, m), m \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

$$(17.1)$$

Question 17.1. For a fixed $\ell \geq 2$, when is $\alpha(\ell, X) = 1$?

Note that $\alpha(1,X)$ is nothing but the constant $\alpha(X)$ studied earlier by Paulsen [331]. He observed that if every contractive homomorphism induced by $T_V^{(0)}$ is completely contractive, then $\alpha(X) = 1$ and vice versa. It is known that $\alpha(\ell_{\infty}(2)) = \alpha(\ell_1(2)) = 1$, while $\alpha(X) > 1$ whenever $\dim(X) \ge 3$, see [342, 331]. Moreover, $\alpha(X) = 1$ if and only if X admits unique operator space structure [331]. These results highlight the gap between contractivity and complete contractivity, linking dilation theory to the geometry of domains and operator spaces. These connections were further revealed in [39] where the contractivity vs. complete contractivity of a certain class of Parrott-like homomorphisms (called little Parrott homomorphisms [218]) were shown to be equivalent to the so-called 2-summing property or Property P. Let us elaborate further. We use the natural notion of positivity for elements of $E \otimes E$, namely, an element $A \in E \otimes E$ is positive (written

 $A \ge 0$) if it is in the convex hull of the set of symmetric tensors $x \otimes x$, $x \in E$. Given a finite-dimensional complex Banach space E, let

$$\gamma(E) := \sup \{ \langle A, B \rangle_{HS} : ||A||_{E \to E^*} \le 1, ||B||_{E^* \to E} \le 1, A \ge 0, B \ge 0 \},$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{HS}$ denotes the Hilbert-Schmidt inner product. Then, in the terminology of [39], E is said to possess Property P if $\gamma(E) \leq 1$. Real Banach spaces with the 2-summing property have been completely characterized by [17]. In [296] the authors proved the remarkable result that a two-dimensional subspace of $(M_2(\mathbb{C}), \|\cdot\|_{op})$ has Property P if and only if it is isometric to $\ell_{\infty}(2)$. Thereafter, it is natural to ask whether this kind of example covers other familiar complex Banach spaces such as $\ell_p(2)$ for $1 \leqslant p \neq 2 < \infty$ for which Property P has been well-studied [39]. Using unitary dilation of contractions it was shown by Gupta and Reza [220] that $\ell_1(n)$ does not embed into $(M_k(\mathbb{C}), \|\cdot\|_{op})$ for all $n \geq 2$. However, Pisier (see [220]) raised the question if this result can be generalized to compact operators and G. Misra asked whether $\ell_p(n)$ embeds isometrically into $M_k(\mathbb{C})$. All these questions were resolved in a series of papers [376], [138], [139]; along the way these papers established noncommutative analogues of some well-known results of isometric embeddability between finite dimensional ℓ_p -spaces. Problems regarding isometric embedding of Schatten-p classes or in general noncommutative L_p -spaces are very useful (see [228, 227], [451]). The tools developed in [376], [138], [139] perhaps can be used to tackle some problems mentioned in [246]. Moreover, in [376] many two-dimensional Banach spaces were produced without Property P which were outside the scope of [296] and [39]. However, Despite all this work, it is still not known whether there is a two-dimensional complex Banach space X having Property P but $\alpha(X) > 1$. In \mathbb{C}^3 , let x = (1,0,a) and y = (0,1,b), with $|a+b| \lor |a-b| < 1$ but |a|+|b| > 1, and set $X = \operatorname{span}\{x,y\}$. It is known [17] that X possesses the 2-summing property. It would be interesting to know whether $\alpha(X) = 1$? This would answer a long-standing open problem [342].

If a space E does not have the 2-summing property, then it is natural to find the exact value of $\gamma(E)$. Since $\{A \in E \otimes E : \|A\|_{E \to E^*} \leq 1, A \geq 0\}$ and $\{B \in E \otimes E : \|B\|_{E^* \to E} \leq 1, B \geq 0\}$ are convex sets, the supremum in $\gamma(E)$ is attained at the extreme points of these sets. Using these it is proved that $\gamma(\ell_1^{\mathbb{R}}(3)) = 1.125$ [217]. One more interesting observation which goes back to [39] is that $\sup\{\gamma(\ell_1(n)) : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is nothing but the positive Grothendieck constant. Motivated by this and some recent work as in [35], [377] and in [218] we introduced the Grothendieck constant for a pair of Banach spaces. We prove that for a Banach space F and a sequence of Banach spaces $(E_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ with dim $E_n = n$, if there is a C > 0 such that

$$||A \otimes \mathrm{id}_F||_{E_m \check{\otimes} F \to E_n^* \hat{\otimes} F} \leqslant C||A||_{E_m \to E_n^*} \tag{*}$$

for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, then both F and F^* must have finite cotype. Moreover, assuming that F has the bounded approximation property and that the conjecture in [344] has an affirmative answer, we show that $(E_n^*)_{n\geqslant 1}$ satisfies G.T. uniformly [218]. For contractive little Parrott homomorphisms $\Phi_{\ell,\mathbf{V}}: \mathcal{O}(\Omega) \to M_n$, where Ω is the dual unit ball of a finite dimensional Banach space $(E, \|\cdot\|)$, we prove the sharp estimate $\|\Phi_{\ell,\mathbf{V}}\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \leqslant \sqrt{\gamma(E)}$. This yields a new proof of [155, Theorem 2.1] using the lower bound $K_G^+(\ell_\infty(4), \ell_2(2)) \geqslant 1.1658$, for the complex positive Grothendieck constant for 4×4 positive matrices, obtained in the same paper. It would be interesting to classify Banach spaces satisfying (*).

Fix $d, n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \ge 2$. Next, for any row vectors $x_1, \ldots, x_d \in \mathbb{C}^n$, define the operators

$$V_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & D_{x_{1}} \otimes I_{n-2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & x_{1}^{t} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \dots, V_{d} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x_{d} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & D_{x_{d}} \otimes I_{n-2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & x_{d}^{t} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (17.2)$$

where for each j = 1, ..., d, D_{x_j} denotes the diagonal operator with diagonal x_j . Note that $\mathbf{V} := (V_1, ..., V_d)$ is a commuting tuple and V_j is a contraction if and only if $||x_j||_2 \leq 1$. Let $\mathcal{V}_{d,n}$ denote the collection of all the tuples \mathbf{V} as defined by (17.2) such that V_j is a contraction for each j = 1, ..., d. Let $C^{\sharp}(d, n)$ denote the smallest constant C such that

$$||p(\mathbf{V})|| = \Big|\sum_{|\alpha|=n} a_{\alpha}[x_{\alpha_1}, \dots, x_{\alpha_n}]\Big| \leqslant C||p||_{\infty, \mathbb{D}^d},$$

where $[x_{\alpha_1}, \ldots, x_{\alpha_n}] = \sum_{j=1}^n x_{\alpha_1}^{(j)} \cdots x_{\alpha_n}^{(j)}$, $|\alpha| := \sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_j$, for all $\mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{V}_{\mathbb{D}^d,n}$ and any polynomial $p(z_1, \ldots, z_d) = \sum_{|\alpha|=n} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha}$. The constant $C^{\sharp}(d, n)$ is closely related to the higher dimensional Grothendieck constant (cf. [421]).

Question 17.2. What is $\lim_{d,n\to\infty} C^{\sharp}(d,n)$?

By [226]
$$C^{\sharp}(d,n) \lesssim_d (\log(n+1))^{d-3}$$
.

18. Large time behaviour of operator semigroups

By Sachi Srivastava [ssrivastava@maths.du.ac.in] from University of Delhi.

A strongly continuous operator semigroup or C_0 -semigroup on a Banach space X is a one parameter family $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ of bounded linear operators on X satisfying (i) $T_0=I_X$, (ii) $T_tT_s=T_{t+s},t,s\geq 0$ (iii) $t\mapsto T_tx$ is continuous for each $x\in X$. Strongly continuous semigroups are important for solving the abstract Cauchy problem of the form $u'(t)=Au(t),u(0)=x_0$ where A is a closed and densely defined linear operator on a Banach space X. In fact, this problem is well posed in the sense that for every $x_0\in X$ it admits a mild solution (given by $u(t)=T_tx_0$) if and only if A is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, that is, $D(A)=\{x\in X: \lim_{t\downarrow 0}\frac{T_t(x)-x}{t} \text{ exists in } X\}$ and $Ax=\lim_{t\to 0}\frac{T_t(x)-x}{t},x\in D(A)$. However, the difficulty is that in most applications, the operator A is available, but the semigroup is not known explicitly.

Driven by applications in evolution equations, control theory and mathematical physics, the study of asymptotic behaviour of C_0 -semigroups has garnered increasing attention in the last few decades, particularly in the context of stability, non-uniform stability and decay rates [125, 72, 73, 152, 153, 154]. A semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is uniformly exponentially stable if $\|T_t\| \leq Me^{-wt}$ for all t>0 where $M\geq 1, w>0$ (that is, the semigroup decays to zero at an exponential rate), strongly stable if $\|T_tx\| \to 0$ as $t\to\infty$ for each $x\in X$ and if $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is uniformly bounded it is said to be polynomially stable (of order α) if there is a constant M>0 such that $\|T_tA^{-1}\|\leq \frac{M}{t^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}} \forall t>0$. Building on work done in [72], Borichev and Tomilov [125] characterised polynomial decay of the semigroup via resolvent estimates for the Hilbert space case. These remarkable results have far reaching ramifications, particularly in the study of rates of decay of solutions of PDE's, like for example, the damped wave equation. While exponential stability behaves

as expected under perturbations of the generator of the semigroup, perturbation results in the context of strong and polynomial stability have been few and far between except for those appearing in Paunnonen's work [335, 336]. Interestingly, Rastogi and Srivastava proved the following perturbation result in [375]:

If (B, D(B)) is the generator of a polynomially stable C_0 -semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ with order $\alpha > 0$ on a Hilbert space H and C is a closed linear operator on H such that $D(B) \subset D(C)$, then (B+C, D(B)) generates a polynomially stable perturbed C_0 -semigroup $\{T_{B+C}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ with order $\alpha > 0$ on the Hilbert space H provided there exists $M_0 \in [0, 1)$ such that (a) $\sup_{\mathrm{Re} \lambda \geq 0} \|CR(\lambda, B)\| \leq M_0$, and (b) $\sup_{\mathrm{Re} \lambda \geq 0} \|R(\lambda, B)Cy\| \leq M_0 \|y\|$, $\forall y \in D(C)$.

Furthermore, they applied this and similar results to conduct an in-depth analysis of strong and polynomial stability of a particular class of semigroups - the class of delay semigroups. A delay semigroup is a C_0 -semigroup generated by an opertor matrix of the form $\mathcal{A} = \begin{pmatrix} B & \Phi \\ 0 & \frac{d}{d\sigma} \end{pmatrix}$ associated to an abstract differential equation of the form

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = Bu(t) + \Phi u_t, & t > 0, \\ u(0) = x, \\ u_0 = f, \end{cases}$$

where, $\Phi: W^{1,p}([-1,0],X) \to X$ is a bounded linear operator, called the delay operator $A: D(A) \subseteq X \to X$ is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ on a Banach space X; $f \in L^p([-1,0],X), 1 \leq p < \infty$ and $u: [-1,\infty) \to X$, and $u_t: [-1,0] \to X$ is defined by $u_t(\sigma) := u(t+\sigma), \ \sigma \in [-1,0], \ t \geq 0$. Such equations arise in the study of systems where the current state depends on the past state, for example, population dynamics and control systems. Rastogi and Srivastava also study the non-analytic growth bound (first introduced and studied in [74]) of the delay semigroup in [374]. The delay operator considered throughout in the above instances is linear and bounded. A comprehensive framework to address such problems using semigroup theory, when the delay term in not necessarily linear and nor is the underlying semigroup, has not been developed yet. This is a part of ongoing work.

An important but basic question in the study of asymptotics of C_0 -semigroups is whether or not the exponential growth bound $w_0(T)$ of the semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ coincides with the spectral bound s(A) of the generator A. This equality is often called the Lyapunov property. In [444] Weis proved that if $X = L^p(\mu)$, where (Ω, μ) is a measure space and $1 and <math>T_t \geq 0 \forall t \geq 0$ then indeed $w_0(T) = s(A)$. In [437], Vogt gave an elementry proof of this result and along the way proved that in Weis's result positivity of the semigroup can be replaced by (uniform) eventual positivity. Prajapati, Sinha and Srivastava studied this problem for C_0 -semigroups defined on non-commutative L^p spaces for $1 \leq p < \infty$ in [359]. They gave direct proofs that the property holds for the case p = 1, 2 and also for consistent families of C_0 -semigroups under added conditions. A complete analog of Weis's result for the non-commutative case remains an open problem. Further in the context of non-commutative spaces, non-commutative versions of characterisations in terms of generating forms, for domination of one C_0 -semigroup by another, where both semigroups act on a classical L^2 space, due to Ouhabaaz [316] and Barthélemy [71], have been obtained by Arora, Chill and Srivastava in [22] for C_0 -semigroups acting

on non-commutative L^2 -spaces. Yet another strand connecting asymptotics and semigroups defined on non-commutative spaces has been the study of stability of Quantum Dynamical Semigroups undertaken by Bhat and Srivastava [94] (for bounded generators) and Kumar, Sinha and Srivastava [271] for the general setting. Here, a one parameter family $\mathcal{T} = \{\mathcal{T}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a Quantum Dynamical Semigroup or QDS on $\mathcal{B}(H)$ if (a) for each $t\geq 0, \mathcal{T}_t: \mathcal{B}(H) \to \mathcal{B}(H)$ is a completely positive, sub-Markovian, normal map; (b) $\mathcal{T}_0(x) = x, \mathcal{T}_{s+t} = \mathcal{T}_s \mathcal{T}_t$ for all $s, t \geq 0, x \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ and (c) for each $x \in \mathcal{B}(H)$, the map $t \to \mathcal{T}_t(x)$ is continuous with respect to the $weak^*$ topology of $\mathcal{B}(H)$.

Asymptotic anlaysis of positive C_0 -semigroups, (that is, T_t maps the positive cone of the underlying space into the positive cone) is by now an almost classical area in semi-group theory. In recent years, the area has witnessed a renaissance of sorts with the work of Daners, Gluck and Kennedy who introduced and developed an abstract theory of eventually positive C_0 -semigroups on Banach lattices in a series of papers starting with [165, 166, 167]. A C_0 -semigroup is said to be (uniformly) eventually positive if there exists $t_0 > 0$ such that $T_t \geq 0$ for all $t \geq t_0$. Related notions include individual eventual positivity, asymptotic positivity and local eventual positivity (see [21]). In [168], Daners and Glück studied the eventual positivity of semigroups under bounded perturbations of the generator and concretely demonstrated that the perturbation theory for eventually positive semigroups is quite different from that of positive semigroups. The case of unbounded perturbations of the generator in this context is treated by Pappu, Rastogi and Srivastava in [320]. The authors then use their results to deduce eventual positivity of delay semigroups under some conditions. Eventually positive C_0 -semigroups are a rich and active subject of research with several open problems.

19. Recent developments in E_0 -semigroups and product systems

By S. Sundar@imsc.res.in, sundarsobers@gmail.com] from The Institute of Mathematical Sciences (HBNI), Chennai.

Broadly speaking, E_0 -semigroups and product systems fall under the broad framework of non-commutative dynamical systems. The theory of E_0 -semigroups which is the study of semigroups of endomorphisms on von Neumann algebras was introduced by Powers ([356]). Arveson in his seminal papers ([25], [27], [26], [28]) gave an alternative way of viewing them by introducing product systems. Most of the papers that appeared during the 80's, 90's and the early 2000's focussed solely (rightfully so) on the 1-parameter case. Both the notion of E_0 -semigroups and product systems generalise easily to more general semigroups, and it is worthwhile to investigate them in more generality.

We give a brief summary of the results obtained in this regard. Most of the work was done by the author in collaboration with mathematicians (Anbu Arjunan, S.P. Murugan, R. Srinivasan, Piyasa Sarkar, and C.H. Namitha) who worked/are working in Chennai (CMI/IMSc) during the last ten years.

Main results

Let P be a measurable semigroup, and let H be a separable Hilbert space. A semigroup $\alpha = \{\alpha_x\}_{x \in P}$ of unital, normal *-endomorphisms of B(H) is called an E_0 -semigroup on B(H). Two E_0 -semigroups α and β on B(H) are said to be cocycle conjugate if $\alpha_x(.) = U_x \beta_x(.) U_x^*$ for some family of unitaries $\{U_x\}_{x \in P}$ such that $U_x \alpha_x(U_y) = U_{xy}$ for

every $x, y \in P$. A product system over P is a semigroup E together with a surjective semigroup homomorphism $p: E \to P$ such that the fibres $E(x) := p^{-1}(x)$ are separable Hilbert spaces, and the map $E(x) \otimes E(y) \ni u \otimes v \to uv$ is a unitary operator for every $x, y \in P$. The measurable structures involved are ignored for this report.

Given an E_0 -semigroup α , we can attach a family of Hilbert spaces $E_\alpha := \{E(x)\}_{x \in P}$ as follows: set

$$E(x) := \{ T \in B(H) : \alpha_x(A)T = TA \ \forall A \in B(H) \}.$$

Then, $E_{\alpha} := \{E(x)\}_{x \in P}$ is a product system over P with the product rule given by composition, and with the inner product on E(x) given by $\langle S|T \rangle = S^*T$.

The first question that requires settling is to answer whether every product system arises this way which will then reduce the study of E_0 -semigroups to that of product systems. We have the following to say concerning the current status of the problem.

Theorem 19.1 ([411]). Let G be a locally compact group, and let $P \subset G$ be a subsemigroup with non-empty interior. Suppose that one of the following conditions hold:

- (1) G is discrete, and P is normal in G, i.e. $gPg^{-1} = P$ for all $g \in G$.
- (2) The group G is abelian.
- (3) There exists $a \in P$ such that $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} Pa^{-n} = G$.

Then, the association $\alpha \to E_{\alpha}$ is a bijection between the class of E_0 -semigroups (up to cocycle conjugacy) and the class of product systems over P (up to isomorphism).

The above result was first proved by Arveson for $P = (0, \infty)$, and by the author and Murugan ([306]) for the case of higher dimensional cones in \mathbb{R}^d . We will explain the remaining results in the language of product systems. For, we can then translate them to E_0 -semigroups in light of Thm. 19.1.

Let $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a closed convex cone in \mathbb{R}^d . For an isometric representation V of P, let $E^V(x)$ and $F^V(x)$ be the symmetric and the antisymmetric Fock space of $Ker(V_x^*)$. Then, $E^V := \{E^V(x)\}_{x \in P}$ is a product system, where the product rule on the exponential vectors is given by $e(\xi) \cdot e(\eta) := e(\xi + V_x \eta)$ for $\xi \in Ker(V_x^*)$, $\eta \in Ker(V_y^*)$. We can make F^V a product system by defining a product as follows:

$$(\xi_1 \wedge \xi_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge \xi_m) \odot (\eta_1 \wedge \eta_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge \eta_n) = V_x \eta_1 \wedge V_x \eta_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge V_x \eta_n \wedge \xi_1 \wedge \xi_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge \xi_m.$$

The product systems E^V and F^V are the simplest examples of product systems, and they are called CCR (canonical commutation relation) and CAR (canonical anticommutation relation) flows respectively.

A deep classification result of Arveson ([29]), in the 1-parameter case, states that decomposable product systems¹ are precisely those of CCR flows. This is not true in the higher dimensional case, and we have the following structure theorem.

Theorem 19.2 ([308], [412]). Let $\Gamma: P \times P \to H$ be a weakly measurable map such that $\Gamma(x,y) \in Ker(V_y^*)$ for every $x,y \in P$. Suppose that there exists a measurable map

¹This means that each fibre E(x) has enough decomposable vectors. A vector $u \in E(x)$ is decomposable if x = y + z, then there exists $v \in E(y)$ and $w \in E(z)$ such that u = vw.

 $\alpha: P \times P \to \mathbb{T}$ such that for $x, y, z \in P$,

$$\Gamma(x, y + z) + V_y \Gamma(y, z) = \Gamma(x, y) + V_y \Gamma(x + y, z), \text{ and}$$

$$\frac{\alpha(x, y)\alpha(x + y, z)}{\alpha(x, y + z)\alpha(y, z)} = e^{iIm\langle\Gamma(x, y + z)|V_y\Gamma(y, z)\rangle}.$$

Define a new product \square on E^V by $u \square v = \alpha(x,y)W(V_x\Gamma(x,y))(u \cdot v)$, where $W(\cdot)$ are the Weyl operators. Then, (E^V, \square) is a decomposable product system, and every decomposable product system (up to isomorphism) is of this form. If a decomposable product system has a unit², then it is isomorphic to the product system of a CCR flow.

In the 1-parameter case, up to isomorphism, we can take $\Gamma = 0$. This is not true in the higher dimensional case as was shown in [308] by an explicit computation of the space of 2-cocycles Γ (modulo coboundaries) for a class of examples.

Other results, which are of equal importance as Thm. 19.2, in the multiparameter theory are listed below; some are in total contrast to the 1-parameter case.

- (1) The 'map' $V \to E^V$ is injective ([412], [395]), and so is the 'map' $V \to F^V$ ([309]).
- (2) There are uncountably many mutually inequivalent isometric representations V of P such that
 - E^V is not type one³([19], [20]),
 - E^V is of type one, prime and has index k for any given $k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ ([395], [396]),
 - F^V is not isomorphic to E^V ([18], [309], [410]), and
 - the gauge group of F^V does not act transitively on the set of units.
- (3) The isometric representations of P with commuting range projections such that F^V is type I are precisely those that are direct sums of pullbacks of the standard shift semigroup $\{S_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ on $L^2([0,\infty))$. In particular, in contrast to CCR flows, only pullbacks of the shift semigroup can give rise to type I, index one CAR flows if we restrict attention to semigroups of isometries with commuting range projections ([309]).

Future directions

The above results indicate that the multiparameter theory is vastly different from that of the 1-parameter case. This makes it a fertile ground for future research. The author wishes to pose a couple of concrete questions in this regard.

- (1) Is it true that the conclusion of Thm. 19.1 holds for every subsemigroup P of a locally compact group?
- (2) Is there an example of an isometric representation V of a cone P (say \mathbb{R}^2_+) such that V is not a pullback of the shift semigroup but F^V is type one and has index one?

Power's approach ([355], [356], [357], [358]) to E_0 -semigroups, and the probabilistic approach of Tsireslon ([423], [424], [425]) via random sets, stochastic processes, point processes etc. to product systems remain unexplored in higher dimensions. The author is fairly confident that the analysis of the resulting models of E_0 -semigroups and product systems will result in deep and interesting mathematics.

²A unit is a non-zero cross section that is multiplicative.

³This means that E^V does not have enough units.

20. C^* -ALGEBRAS, K-THEORY AND DYNAMICS

By Prahlad Vaidyanathan [prahlad@iiserb.ac.in] from IISER Bhopal.

A C^* -algebra is a norm-closed self-adjoint subalgebra of the space of bounded linear operators on a complex Hilbert space. These algebras were introduced in the 1930s by von Neumann, Gelfand, and many others. In the 1970s, the subject received a dramatic revitalization due to the work of Brown-Douglas-Fillmore, Elliott, Kasparov and others. Specifically, the introduction of K-theory and related tools from algebraic topology have brought two disparate areas closer together, and deepened our understanding of both. In what follows, we will describe the work that we, along with our collaborators, have done in this field in the recent past.

Nonstable K-theory: K-theory is a pair of abelian groups associated to a C^* -algebra. These functors are powerful invariants and are central to the classification programme. However, in constructing these groups, one necessarily loses a great deal of information. Specifically, the K-groups are inductive limits of certain homotopy groups associated to the C^* -algebra [419]. Nonstable K-theory is the branch of study that attempts to understand these homotopy groups by themselves, and how they behave before one passes to the limit.

The subject began in the 1980s, when Rieffel [379] introduced the notions of connected and general stable rank, which control the behaviour of the maps in the inductive limit mentioned above. Nica [312] further developed the theory of these two stable ranks, and proved that they are homotopy invariant. In [430], we determined how these ranks behave with respect to some natural constructions, most notably pullbacks. As a result, we were able to compute these ranks for various classes of C^* -algebras. In [313], we estimated these ranks for C(X)-algebras, and for a variety of group C^* -algebras and crossed products.

While computing these ranks helps us understand the behaviour of nonstable K-groups, we do not have many tools to compute these groups explicitly. Therefore, we began studying K-stability; a phenomenon exhibited by a number of infinite dimensional C^* -algebras, where the nonstable K-groups naturally coincide with the stable K-groups.

In [399], we showed that a continuous C(X)-algebra with K-stable fibers must itself be K-stable. In [398], we showed that AF-algebras are K-stable provided they have slow dimension growth. We were also able to compute the rational homotopy groups of the unitary groups of finite dimensional algebras. Using that, we showed that an AF-algebra is K-stable if and only if it is rationally K-stable; a condition that is much easier to verify. In [401], we showed that AT-algebras exhibit the same phenomenon, raising an interesting question about AH-algebras in general. In an attempt to understand this further, we showed in [400] that the notions of rational K-stability and K-stability are indeed distinct in general, and that the results of [399] were also true for rational K-stability.

At the moment, the subject has a number of open questions. We do not, as yet, have explicit calculations of nonstable K-groups, nor do we know how these groups behave under natural constructions. Moreover, we do not know if all simple, real rank zero C^* -algebras are K-stable. This is a long-standing conjecture of Zhang [452].

Rokhlin Dimension: The study of group actions on C^* -algebras is an integral part of operator algebra theory. Given a group action on a C^* -algebra, one is often interested in the structure of the associated crossed product C^* -algebra, and an important question in

this context is to determine when certain 'regularity' properties pass from the underlying algebra to the crossed product. These include many properties that are useful from the point of view of the classification programme such as finiteness of nuclear dimension, simplicity, \mathcal{Z} -stability, etc. Rokhlin dimension, introduced in [229], is a notion analogous to covering dimension for group actions which has proved useful in this context.

This has been studied for actions of finite groups and the integers [229], compact groups [201] and for residually finite groups [415]. In each case, it was proved that actions with finite Rokhlin dimension allow us to deduce a number of regularity properties of the crossed product C^* -algebra from those of the underlying algebra (particularly in the compact case, and under the 'commuting towers' hypothesis).

In [431], we showed that C(X)-linear actions of compact groups on C(X)-algebras have finite Rokhlin dimension provided the induced action on their fibers have finite Rokhlin dimension. This allowed us to produce new classes of classifiable C^* -algebras associated to equivariant vector bundles. In [413], we studied Rokhlin dimension for actions of residually finite groups, building on the work of [415]. We showed a number of useful permanence properties, and also described the ideal structure of the associated crossed product. In [414], we studied automorphisms of AF-algebras, and showed that under certain conditions, the corresponding crossed product is an AT-algebra.

Once again, there are a number of interesting avenues of research in this field. Even in the well-studied case of integer actions, it is unclear what values of Rokhlin dimension are admissible. This is primarily because we do not have a computable obstruction which would provide us with lower bounds for the Rokhlin dimension. It would also be interesting to look at certain natural actions on specific classes of C^* -algebras, and compute their Rokhlin dimension. Finally, we have yet to give an appropriate definition of Rokhlin dimension for actions of locally compact groups. These are amongst the questions that we plan to pursue in the future.

In conclusion, the projects described above involve a synthesis of ideas from topology, algebra and analysis, and therefore have a wide appeal. A number of new tools have been discovered in these fields in the past decade, and this has led to renewed interest in these problems. Nonstable K-theory is a mature field, and the open problems require genuinely novel ideas. Rokhlin dimension, on the other hand, is relatively young and exciting. It is hoped that many of those outstanding problems will be resolved in the coming years.

References

- [1] J. Agler, Z. Lykova, and N. J. Young, Algebraic and geometric aspects of rational Γ-inner functions, Adv. Math. 328 (2018), 133–159.
- [2] J. Agler, Z. Lykova, and N. J. Young, Nicholas Geodesics, retracts, and the norm-preserving extension property in the symmetrized bidisc, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 258 (2019), no. 1242, vii+108 pp.
- [3] J. Agler and J. McCarthy, Distinguished varieties, Acta. Math. 194 (2005), 133–153.
- [4] J. Agler and N. J. Young, A commutant lifting theorem for a domain in \mathbb{C}^2 , and spectral interpolation. J. Funct. Anal. 161 (1999), no. 2, 452–477.
- [5] J. Agler and N. J. Young, A model theory for Γ-contractions, J. Operator Theory 49 (2003), no. 1, 45–60.
- [6] J. Agler and N. J. Young, *The magic functions and automorphisms of a domain*, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 2 (2008), no. 3, 383–404.
- [7] A. B. Aleksandrov, Existence of inner functions in the unit ball, Mat. Sb. 118 (1982), no. 160, N2(6), 147–163.

- [8] A. B. Aleksandrov and V. V. Peller, Trace formulae for perturbations of class S_m , J. Spectr. Theory 1 (2011), no. 1, 1–26.
- [9] A. B. Aleksandrov and V. V. Peller, Krein's trace formula for unitary operators and operator Lipschitz functions (in Russian), Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen., 50 (2016), no. 3, 1–11. English Transl.: Funct. Anal. Appl., 50 (2016), no. 3, 167–175.
- [10] A. B. Aleksandrov and V. V. Peller, Functions of self-adjoint operators under relatively bounded and relatively trace class perturbations, Math. Nachr. (2025), 1–22.
- [11] A. B. Aleksandrov, V. V. Peller, and D. S. Potapov, On a trace formula for functions of noncommuting operators (in Russian), Mat. Zametki 106 (2019), no. 4, 483–490. English Transl.: Math Notes 106 (2019), no. 3-4, 481–487.
- [12] D. Alpay, T. Bhattacharyya, A. Jindal, and P. Kumar, A dilation theoretic approach to approximation by inner functions, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 55 (2023), 2840-2855.
- [13] C. Ambrozie and D. Timotin, A von Neumann type inequality for certain domains in \mathbb{C}^n , Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 131 (2003), no. 3, 859-869.
- [14] J. Anderson, Commutators of compact operators, J. Reine Angew. Math. 291 (1977), 128–132.
- [15] T. Ando, On a pair of commutative contractions, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 24 (1963), 88 90.
- [16] J. Antony, A. Kumar, and P. Luthra, Operator space tensor products and inductive limits, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 470 (2019), no.1, 235–250.
- [17] A. Arias, T. Figiel, W. B. Johnson, and G. Schechtman, Banach spaces with the 2-summing property. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 347 (1995), no. 10, 3835–3857.
- [18] A. Arjunan, Decomposability of multiparameter car flows, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2). 66 (2023), no. 1, 1–22.
- [19] A. Arjunan, R. Srinivasan, and S. Sundar, *E-semigroups over closed convex cones*, J. Operator Theory. 84 (2020), no. 2, 289–322.
- [20] A. Arjunan, and S. Sundar, *CCR flows associated to closed convex cones*, Münster J. of Math. 13 (2020), 115–143.
- [21] S. Arora, Locally eventually positive operator semigroups, Journal of Operator Theory, 88, (2022), no. 1, 203–242.
- [22] S. Arora, R. Chill, and S. Srivastava, Domination of Semigroups on standard forms of von Nuemann Algebras, Arch. Math. 121, (2023) 715-729.
- [23] W. Arveson, Subalgebras of C^* -algebras, Acta Math. 123 (1969), 141–224.
- [24] W. Arveson, Subalgebras of C*-algebras II, Acta Math., 128 (1972), 271-308.
- [25] W. Arveson, Continuous analogues of Fock space I, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1989), no. 409.
- [26] W. Arveson, Continuous analogues of Fock space. III. Singular states, J. Operator Theory. 22 (1989), no. 1, 165–205.
- [27] W. Arveson, Continuous analogues of Fock space. II. The spectral C*-algebra, J. Funct. Anal. 90 (1990), no. 1, 138–205.
- [28] W. Arveson, Continuous analogues of Fock space. IV. Essential states, Acta Math. 164 (1990), no. 3-4, 265–300.
- [29] W. Arveson, *Path spaces, continuous tensor products, and E*₀-semigroups, Operator algebras and applications (Samos, 1996), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., vol. 495, 1997, pp. 1–111.
- [30] W. Arveson, Subalgebras of C^* -algebras III: Multivariable operator theory. Acta Math., 181 (1998), no. 2, 159-228.
- [31] A. Athavale, On the intertwining of joint isometries, J. Operator Theory, 23 (1990), 339–350.
- [32] A. Athavale, Model theory on the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^n , J. Operator Theory, 27 (1992), 347-358.
- [33] A. Athavale, A multivariate generalization of the von Neumann-Wold decomposition, New York J. math. 24 (2018), 43-51.
- [34] A. Athavale, A note on Cartan isometries, New York J. Math., 25 (2019), 934–948.
- [35] G. Aubrun, G., L. Lami, C. Palazuelos, S. Szarek, and A. Winter, *Universal gaps for XOR games from estimates on tensor norm ratios*. Comm. Math. Phys., 375 (2020), no. 1, 679-724.
- [36] N. A. Azamov, A. L. Carey, P. G. Dodds, and F. Sukochev, Operator integrals, spectral shift, and spectral flow, Canad. J. Math. 61 (2009), no. 2, 241–263.

- [37] N. A. Azamov, A. L. Carey, and F. Sukochev, The spectral shift function and spectral flow, Comm. Math. Phys. 276 (2007), no. 1, 51–91.
- [38] B. Bagchi, T. Bhattacharyya, and Misra, G, Some thoughts on Ando's theorem and Parrott's example. Linear algebra and its applications, 341 (2002), 357-367.
- [39] B. Bagchi, and G. Misra, Contractive homomorphisms and tensor product norms. Integral Equations Operator Theory, 21 (1995), no. 3, 255–269.
- [40] K. C. Bakshi and R. Bhat, *Unitary orthonormal bases of finite dimensional inclusions*, Int. Math. Res. Not. (IMRN) (to appear). Preprint available at https://arxiv.org/pdf/2502.11821.
- [41] K. C. Bakshi, S. Das, Z. Liu, and Y. Ren, An angle between intermediate subfactors and its rigidity, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.371 (2019), no. 8, 5973-5991.
- [42] K. C. Bakshi, S. Guin, B. Pal, and Shruthymurali, Higher reflections and entropy of canonical shifts for inclusions of C*-algebras with finite Watatani index, preprint available at https://arxiv.org/pdf/2506.16130.
- [43] K.C. Bakshi, S. Guin, and Sruthymurali, Fourier theoretic inequalities for inclusions of simple C*-algebras, New York J. Math. 29 (2023), 335–362.
- [44] K. C. Bakshi and V.P. Gupta, A note on irreducible quadrilaterals of II₁-factors, Internat. J. Math. 30 (2019), no. 12, 1950061 (22 pages).
- [45] K. C. Bakshi and V.P. Gupta, On orthogonal systems, two-sided bases and regular subfactors, New York J. Math. 26 (2020), 817–835.
- [46] K. C. Bakshi and V.P. Gupta, Lattice of intermediate subalgebras, J. Lond. Math. Soc. 104 (2021), no. 5, 2082–2127.
- [47] K. C. Bakshi and V.P. Gupta, A few remarks on Pimsner-Popa bases and regular subfactors of depth 2, Glasg. Math. J. 64 (2022), no. 3, 586–602.
- [48] K. C. Bakshi and V.P. Gupta, Regular inclusions of simple unital C*-algebras, Münster J. Math. (to appear). Preprint available at https://arxiv.org/abs/2404.06959.
- [49] N. Bala and G. Ramesh, Spectral properties of absolutely minimum attaining operators, Banach J. Math. Anal. 14 (2020), no. 3, 630–649.
- [50] N. Bala and G. Ramesh, A representation of hyponormal absolutely norm attaining operators, Bull. Sci. Math. 171 (2021), Paper No. 103020, 15 pp.
- [51] N. Bala and G. Ramesh, A Bishop-Phelps-Bollobás type property for minimum attaining operators, Oper. Matrices. 15 (2021), no. 2, 497–513.
- [52] N. Bala and G. Ramesh, Hyperinvariant subspaces for normaloid essential isometric operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 543 (2025), no. 2, Paper No. 128998, 10 pp.
- [53] K. R. Baleviya, and H. V. Dedania, Compact Elements in Weighted Discrete Abelian Semigroup Algebras, Proc.-Math. Sci., 135(Art. No.13) (2025), https://doi.org/10.1007/s12044-025-00822-9.
- [54] J. A. Ball and V. Bolotnikov, Realization and interpolation for Schur-Agler-class functions on domains with matrix polynomial defining function in \mathbb{C}^n , J. Funct. Anal., 213 (2004), no. 1, 45-87.
- [55] P. Bandyopadhyay, S. Dutta, and A. Sensarma, Almost isometric ideals and non-separable Gurariy spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 462 (2018), no. 1, 279–284.
- [56] P. Bandyopadhyay, S. Dutta, and A. Sensarma, Polyhedral preduals of ℓ_1 and their representing matrices, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 468 (2018), no. 2, 1082–1089.
- [57] P. Bandyopadhyay, J. Ganesh, and Deepak Gothwal, On the uniform Mazur intersection property, Studia Math. 260 (2021), no. 3, 273–283.
- [58] P. Bandyopadhyay and Deepak Gothwal, *The generalised (uniform) Mazur intersection property*, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 523: Paper No. 127001, 11, 2023.
- [59] P. Bandyopadhyay and D. Gothwal, (Asymptotic) uniform smoothness, ball separation and residuality results, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2502.18217, 2025.
- [60] P. Bandyopadhyay and D. Gothwal, A short note on hereditary Mazur intersection property, submitted.
- [61] P. Bandyopadhyay and A. Sensarma, Representing diagrams and M-Ideals in L₁-predual spaces, J. Convex Anal. 29 (2022), No. 2, 333–344.
- [62] P. Bandyopadhyay and A. Sensarma, A note on commutative and noncommutative Gurariy spaces, Arch. Math. (Basel) 118 (2022), no. 1, 65–72.

- [63] T. Banerjee, B. V. R. Bhat, and M. Kumar, C^* -extreme points of positive operator valued measures and unital completely positive maps, Comm. Math. Phys. 388 (2021), no. 3, 1235–1280.
- [64] J. Bannon, J. Cameron, I. Chifan, K. Mukherjee, R. Smith and A. Wiggins, Quasinormalizers in crossed products of von Neumann algebras, Adv. Math, vol. 443, Paper No. 109535, 59, (2024).
- [65] J. Bannon, J. Cameron, and K. Mukherjee, On noncommutative joinings, Intl. Math. Res. Not. vol. 15, 4734–4779, 59, (2018).
- [66] J. Bannon, J. Cameron, and K. Mukherjee, On noncommutative joinings III, Oper. Matrices. vol. 14(2), 469–490 (2020).
- [67] J. Bannon, J. Cameron, and K. Mukherjee, *Noncommutative joinings II*, Groups Geom. Dyn. vol. 15(2), 553–575 (2021).
- [68] S. Barik and B.K. Das, *Isometric dilations of commuting contractions and Brehmer positivity*, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 16 (2022), no. 5, Paper No. 69.
- [69] S. Barik, B.K. Das, K.J. Haria, and J. Sarkar, Isometric dilations and von Neumann inequality for a class of tuples in the polydisc, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 372 (2019), no. 2, 1429 - 1450.
- [70] S. Barik, B.K. Das, and J. Sarkar, *Isometric dilations and von Neumann inequality for finite rank commuting contractions*, Bull. Sci. Math. 165 (2020), 102915.
- [71] L. Barthélemy, Invariance dun convex fermé par un semi-groupe associé à une forme non linéaire, Abst. Appl. Anal., 1, (1996) 237–262.
- [72] C.J.K. Batty and T. Duyckaerts, Non-uniform stability for bounded semigroups on Banach spaces, J. Evol. Equ. 8 (2008), no. 4, 765-780.
- [73] C.J.K. Batty, R. Chill, and Y. Tomilov, *Fine scales of decay of operator semigroups*, Journal of the European Mathematical Society, 18 (2016), no. 4, 853-929.
- [74] C.J.K. Batty, M. D. Blake, S. Srivastava, A non-analytic growth bound for Laplace transforms and semigroups of operators, Integral Equations Operator Theory 45 (2003) 125 –154.
- [75] S. R. Bell, The Bergman kernel function and proper holomorphic mappings, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 270 (1982), no. 2, 685–691.
- [76] D. Beltita, S. Patnaik, and G. Weiss, B(H)-commutators: a historical survey II and recent advances on commutators of compact operators, The Varied Landscape of Operator Theory, Vol. 17 of Theta Ser. Adv. Math., Theta, Bucharest, 2014.
- [77] C. Bender, D. Chakrabarti, L. Edholm, and M. Mainkar, L^p-regularity of the Bergman projection on quotient domains, Canad. J. Math. 74 (2022), no. 3, 732–772.
- [78] S. Beniwal, A. Kumar and P. Luthra, Local operator system structures and their tensor products, Adv. Oper. Theory. 6 (2021), no. 2, Paper No. 39, 21 pp.
- [79] S. Beniwal, A. Kumar and P. Luthra, Quantized Hilbert modules over local operator algebras and hyperrigidity of local operator systems, Ann. Funct. Anal. 13 (2022), no. 1, Paper No. 1, 11 pp.
- [80] S. Beniwal, A. Kumar and P. Luthra, Local version of approximation theorem and of λ -tensor product of operator systems, Adv. Oper. Theory. 7 (2022), no. 3, Paper No. 35, 16 pp.
- [81] C. Berger, L. Coburn and A. Lebow, Representation and index theory for C*-algebras generated by commuting isometries, J. Funct. Anal. 27 (1978), 51 99.
- [82] B. V. R. Bhat, An index theory for quantum dynamical semigroups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348, 561–583 (1996).
- [83] B. V. R. Bhat, P. Bikram, S. De, and N. Rakshit, *Poisson boundary on full Fock space*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 375 (2022), no. 8, 5645–5668.
- [84] B. V. R. Bhat, R. Devendra, N. Mallick, and K. Sumesh, C*-extreme points of entanglement breaking maps, Rev. Math. Phys. 35 (2023), no. 3, Paper No. 2350005, 17 pp.
- [85] B. V. R. Bhat and C. Gopalakrishna, *Iterative square roots of functions*, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems 43 (2023), no. 7, 2201–2227.
- [86] B. V. R. Bhat and C. Gopalakrishna, The non-iterates are dense in the space of continuous self-maps, Nonlinearity 36 (2023), no. 6, 3419–3430.
- [87] B. V. R. Bhat and C. Gopalakrishna, *Iterative roots of multifunctions*, Fund. Math. 265 (2024), no. 2, 141–163.
- [88] B. V. R. Bhat, R. Hillier, N. Mallick, and Vijaya Kumar U. Roots of completely positive maps, Linear Algebra Appl. 587 (2020), 143–165.

- [89] B. V. R. Bhat, T. C. John, and R. Srinivasan, Infinite Mode Quantum Gaussian States, Reviews in Mathematical Physics 31, 1950030 (2019).
- [90] B. V. R. Bhat, S. Kar, and B. Talwar, *Peripheral Poisson boundary*, To appear in Israel J. of Math. (Arxiv: 2209.07731).
- [91] B. V. R. Bhat and M. Kumar, C*-extreme maps and nests, J. Funct. Anal. 282 (2022), no. 8, Paper No. 109397, 40 pp.
- [92] B. V. R. Bhat and M. Kumar, *Lattices of logmodular algebras*, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 60 (2024), no. 3, 507–537.
- [93] B. V. R. Bhat, K. R. Parthasarathy, and R. Sengupta, On the equivalence of separability and extendability of quantum states, Rev. Math. Phys. 29 (2017), no. 4, 1750012, 16 pp.
- [94] B.V.R. Bhat and S. Srivastava, *Stability of Quantum dynamical semigroups*, Operator semigroups meet Complex Analysis, Harmonic Analysis and Mathematical Physics, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, Vol 250, (2015) 67-85, Birkhauser.
- [95] R. Bhatia, T. Jain, and R. Sengupta, A Szegó type theorem and distribution of symplectic eigenvalues, J. Spectr. Theory 11 (2021), no. 3, 1369–1389.
- [96] R. Bhatia and P. Semrl, Orthogonality of matrices and some distance problems, Linear Algebra Appl., 287 (1999) 77-85.
- [97] T. Bhattacharyya, M. Bhowmik, and P. Kumar, Herglotz's representation and Carathéeodory's approximation, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 56 (2024), no. 12, 3752–3776.
- [98] T. Bhattacharyya, M. Bhowmik, and H. Sau, Hankel operators and Projective Hilbert modules on quotients of bounded symmetric domains, arXiv:2409.04582.
- [99] T. Bhattacharyya, B. K. Das, and H. Sau, Toeplitz operators on the symmetrized bidisc, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2021, no. 11, 8492–8520.
- [100] T. Bhattacharyya, P. Kumar, and H. Sau, Distinguished varieties through the Berger-Coburn-Lebow theorem, Anal. PDE 15 (2022), no. 2, 477–506.
- [101] T. Bhattacharyya, S. Pal, and S. Shyam Roy, Dilations of Γ-contractions by solving operator equations, Adv. Math. 230 (2012), no. 2, 577–606.
- [102] T. Bhattacharyya and H. Sau, Holomorphic functions on the symmetrized bidisk—realization, interpolation and extension, J. Funct. Anal. 274 (2018), no. 2, 504–524.
- [103] T. Bhattacharyya, A. Chattopadhyay, S. Giri and C. Pradhan, *Lipschitz estimates and an application to trace formulae*, (2025), Banach J. Math. Anal. (to appear), arXiv:2312.08706 [math.FA].
- [104] M. Bhattacharjee, and B.K. Das, Factors of hypercontractions, J. Operator Theory 85 (2021), 443 462.
- [105] M. Bhattacharjee, B.K. Das, R. Debnath, and S. Panja, Dilations and operator models of W-hypercontractions, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 17 (2023), no. 2, Paper No. 22.
- [106] M. Bhowmik, and P. Kumar, Function theory on quotient domains related to the polydisc, J. Funct. Anal., 289 (2025), no. 6, Paper No. 110978, 29 pp.
- [107] P. Bikram and K. Mukherjee, Generator masas in q-deformed Araki-Woods von Neumann algebras and factoriality, J. Funct. Anal. 273(4) (2017), 1443–1478.
- [108] P. Bikram, K. Mukherjee E. Ricard, and S. Wang, On the factoriality of q-deformed Araki-Woods von Neumann algebras, Comm. Math. Phys. 398(2) (2023), 797–821.
- [109] G. Birkhoff, Orthogonality in linear metric spaces, Duke Math. J. 1 (1935), 169–172.
- [110] M. S. Birman and M. Z. Solomyak, *Double Stieltjes operator integrals*, Problems of mathematical physics, Izdat. Leningrad. Univ., (1966), 33–67.
- [111] D. Bisch, Bimodules, higher relative commutants and the fusion algebra associated to a subfactor, The Fields Institute Communications, vol. 13 (1997), 13–63.
- [112] S. Biswas, S. Datta, G. Ghosh and S. Shyam Roy, Reducing submodules of Hilbert modules and Chevalley-Shephard-Todd theorem, Adv. Math. 403 (2022), Paper No. 108366, 54 pp.
- [113] S. Biswas, P. Deb, S. Hazra, D. K. Keshari and G. Misra, *Homogeneous analytic Hilbert modules the case of non-transitive action*, arXiv:2502.03883.
- [114] S. Biswas, G. Ghosh, G. Misra and S. Shyam Roy, On reducing submodules of Hilbert modules with \mathfrak{S}_n -invariant kernels, J. Funct. Anal. 276 (2019), no. 3, 751–784.

- [115] S. Biswas, G. Ghosh, E. K. Narayanan and S. Shyam Roy, Contractive Hilbert modules on quotient domains, arXiv:2409.11101.
- [116] S. Biswas, D. K. Keshari and G. Misra, Infinitely divisible metrics and curvature inequalities for operators in the Cowen-Douglas class, J. London Math. Soc., 88 (2013), 941 956.
- [117] S. Biswas, G. Misra and M. Putinar, *Unitary invariants for Hilbert modules of finite rank*, J. Reine Angew. Math., 662 (2012), 165 204.
- [118] S. Biswas and G. Misra, Resolution of singularities for a class of Hilbert modules, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 61 (2012), 1019 1050.
- [119] S. Biswas, G. Misra, S. Sen, Geometric invariants for a class of submodules of analytic Hilbert modules via the sheaf model, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 17 (2023), Paper No. 2, 24 pp.
- [120] S. Biswas, S. Shyam Roy, Functional models of Γ -contractions and characterization of Γ_n -isometries, J. Funct. Anal. 266 (2014), no. 10, 6224–6255.
- [121] D. P. Blecher and V. I. Paulsen, Tensor products of operator spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 99 (1991), no. 2, 262–292.
- [122] D. P. Blecher and R. R. Smith, The dual of the Haagerup tensor product, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 45 (1992), no. 1, 126-144.
- [123] H. Bohr, A theorem concerning power series, Proc. London Math. Soc. 2 (1914), 1-5.
- [124] F. F. Bonsall, and J. Duncan, Numerical ranges of operators on normed spaces and of elements of normed algebras, Cambridge University Press, London, 1971.
- [125] A. Borichev and Y. Tomilov, Optimal polynomial decay of functions and operator semigroups, Math. Ann. 347 (2010), no. 2, 455-478.
- [126] J. M. Borwein, M. Fabian, On convex functions having points of Gateaux differentiability which are not points of Fréchet differentiability, Canad. J. Math. 45 (1993), no. 6, 1121–1134.
- [127] A. Brown and C. Pearcy, Structure of commutators of operators, Annals of Mathematics. Second Series, Vol. 82, 1965.
- [128] M. Brešar, Victor S. Shulman, Yuri V. Turovskii, On tractability and ideal problem in non-associative operator algebras, Integral Equations Operator Theory, 67, 2010.
- [129] C. Carathéodory, *Theory of functions of a complex variable*, Volume Two, Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1954.
- [130] X. Carvajal and W. Neves, *Operators that achieve the norm*, Integral Equations Operator Theory. 72 (2012), no. 2, 179–195.
- [131] X. Carvajal and W. Neves, Operators that attain their minima, Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 45 (2014), no. 2, 293–312.
- [132] A. Chattopadhyay, C. Coine, S. Giri and C. Pradhan, Trace formulas for S^p -perturbations and extension of Koplienko-Neidhardt trace formulas, (2024), preprint, arXiv:2411.16426 [math.FA].
- [133] A. Chattopadhyay, C. Coine, S. Giri and C. Pradhan, Higher order S^p-differentiability: The unitary case, J. Spectr. Theory 15 (2025), no. 1, 195–222.
- [134] A. Chattopadhyay, S. Das and C. Pradhan, The Koplienko-Neidhardt trace formula for unitaries—a new proof, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 505 (2022), no. 1, Paper No. 125467, 21.
- [135] A. Chattopadhyay, S. Das and C. Pradhan, Second-order trace formulas, Math. Nachr. 297 (2024), no. 7, 2581–2608.
- [136] A. Chattopadhyay, S. Giri and C. Pradhan, Estimates and higher-order spectral shift measures in several variables, Linear Algebra Appl. 698 (2024), 102–134.
- [137] A. Chattopadhyay, S. Giri, C. Pradhan and A. Usachev, *Trace formulas in higher dimensions*, (2023), preprint, arXiv:2303.13298 [math.FA].
- [138] A. Chattopadhyay, G. Hong, A. Pal, C. Pradhan, and S. K. Ray, Isometric embeddability of S_q^m into S_p^n . J. Funct. Anal., 282 (2022), no. 1, Paper No. 109281, 29 pp.
- [139] A. Chattopadhyay, G. Hong, C. Pradhan, and S. K. Ray, On isometric embeddability of S_q^m into S_p^n as non-commutative quasi-Banach spaces. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 154 (2024), no. 4, 1180–1203.
- [140] A. Chattopadhyay, T. D. H. van Nuland and C. Pradhan, Differentiation, Taylor series, and all order spectral shift functions, for relatively bounded perturbations, (2024), preprint, arXiv:2404.18422 [math.FA].

- [141] A. Chattopadhyay and C. Pradhan, Higher-order spectral shift for pairs of contractions via multiplicative path, New York J. Math. 29 (2023), 261–285.
- [142] A. Chattopadhyay, C. Pradhan and A. Skripka Approximation of the spectral action functional in the case of τ-compact resolvents, Integral Equations Operator Theory 95 (2023), no. 3, Paper No. 20, 15.
- [143] A. Chattopadhyay, C. Pradhan and A. Skripka Higher-Order Trace Formulas for Contractive and Dissipative Operators, Canad. J. Math. (2025), doi: https://doi.org/10.4153/S0008414X25101296.
- [144] A. Chattopadhyay and K. B. Sinha, *Koplienko trace formula*, Integral Equations Operator Theory 73 (2012), no. 4, 573–587.
- [145] A. Chattopadhyay and K. B. Sinha, *Third order trace formula*, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 123 (2013), no. 4, 547–575.
- [146] A. Chattopadhyay and K. B. Sinha, Trace formula for two variables, preprint, (2014), arXiv:1402.0792 [math.FA].
- [147] A. Chattopadhyay and K. B. Sinha, On the Carey-Helton-Howe-Pincus trace formula, J. Funct. Anal. 274 (2018), no. 8, 2265–2290.
- [148] A. Chattopadhyay and K. B. Sinha, Trace formula for contractions and its representation in \mathbb{D} , J. Operator Theory 88 (2022), no. 2, 275–288.
- [149] A. Chattopadhyay and A. Skripka, *Trace formulas for relative Schatten class perturbations*, J. Funct. Anal. 274 (2018), no. 12, 3377–3410.
- [150] S. Chavan and S. Kumar, Spherically balanced Hilbert spaces of formal power series in several variables-I, J. Operator Theory, 72 (2014), 405-428.
- [151] Dongjian Chen, Bor-Luh Lin, On B-convex and Mazur sets of Banach spaces, Bull. Polish Acad. Sci. Math., 43 (1995), 191-198.
- [152] R. Chill, Y. Tomilov, Stability of operator semigroups: ideas and results Perspectives in operator theory, Banach Center Publ., Vol. 75, (2007), Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, 71-109.
- [153] R. Chill, D. Seifert, Y. Tomilov, Semi-uniform stability of operator semigroups and energy decay of damped waves Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. A, 378 (2020) No. 2185, 20190614, 24 pp.
- [154] R. Chill, L. Paunonen, D. Seifert, R. Stahn, Y. Tomilov, Nonuniform stability of damped contraction semigroups, Analysis and PDE, 16(5), (2023), 1089-1132.
- [155] M.D. Choi, and K. R. Davidson, $A 3 \times 3$ dilation counterexample. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc., 45 (2013), no. 3, 511–519.
- [156] R. Cleve, L. Liu and V. I. Paulsen, Perfect embezzlement of entanglement, J. Math. Phys. 58 (2017), no. 1, 012204, 18 pp.
- [157] C. Coine, C. Le Merdy and F. Sukochev, When do triple operator integrals take value in the trace class?, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 71 (2021), no. 4, 1393–1448.
- [158] J. Conway, , *The Theory of Subnormal Operators*, Math. Surveys Monographs, vol 36, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, RI 1991.
- [159] M. J. Cowen, and R. G. Douglas, Complex geometry and operator theory, Acta Math. 141 (1978), no. 3-4, 187–261.
- [160] J. Crann, D. W. Kribs, and R. J. Pereira, Orthogonal unitary bases and a subfactor conjecture, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 151 (2023), no. 9, 3793–3799.
- [161] R. E. Curto and N. Salinas, Generalized Bergman kernels and the Cowen-Douglas theory, Amer. J. Math. 106 (1984), no. 2, 447–488.
- [162] M. Dadarlat & P. Vaidyanathan, E-Theory for C[0,1]-Algebras with Finitely Many Singular Points. Journal Of K-Theory. 13 (2014), 249-274.
- [163] H. G. Dales, *Banach Algebras and Automatic Continuity*, London Math. Soc. Monographs, Vol.24, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2000.
- [164] H. G. Dales, and H. V. Dedania Weighted Convolution Algebras on Subsemigroups of the Real Line, Dissertationes Mathematicae, Institute of Mathematics, Polish Acad. of Sci., Vol.459, 2009.
- [165] D. Daners, J. Glück, J.B. Kennedy, Eventually positive semigroups of linear operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 433, (2016), 1561-1593.
- [166] D. Daners, J. Glück, J.B. Kennedy, Eventually and asymptotically positive semigroups on Banach lattices, J. Differ. Equ. 261, (2016), 2607–2649.

- [167] D. Daners, J. Glück, The role of domination and smoothing conditions in the theory of eventually positive semigroups, Bull. Aust. Math. Soc. 96, (2017), 286–298.
- [168] D. Daners, J. Glück, Towards a perturbation theory for eventually positive semigroups, J. Operator Theory, 79, (2018), 345 372.
- [169] D. Daners, J. Glück, A Criterian for the Uniform eventual positivity of Operator semigroups, Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory, 90, 46 (2018).
- [170] B.K. Das and J. Sarkar, Ando dilations, von Neumann inequality, and distinguished varieties, J. Funct. Anal. 272 (2017), 2114 2131.
- [171] B.K. Das, S. Sarkar and J. Sarkar, Factorizations of contractions, Adv. Math. 322 (2017), 186 -200.
- [172] B.K. Das and H. Sau, Pure inner functions, distinguished varieties and toral algebraic commutative contractive pairs, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 152 (2024), no. 3, 1067–1081.
- [173] B.K. Das and H. Sau, Algebraic varieties as a complete spectral set, preprint.
- [174] B. K. Das and H. Sau, Algebraic properties of Toeplitz operators on the symmetrized polydisk, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 15 (2021), no. 3, Paper No. 60, 28 pp.
- [DM] D. De and K. Mukherjee, On bounded coordinates in GNS spaces, Dissertationes Math. 583 (2023), 1–106.
- [175] H. V. Dedania, On the Gelfand Space of Weighted Discrete Abelian Semigroup Algebras, Mathematics Today, 19(2)(2001)15-24.
- [176] H. V. Dedania, and A. B. Patel, *The Spatial Numerical Range in Non-unital, Normed Algebras and Their Unitizations*, Sarajevo Journal of Mathematics, vol.20(33), No.2, (2024)255-262.
- [177] H. V. Dedania, and A. B. Patel, On the Convexity of Spatial Numerical Range in Normed Algebras, Indian J. Pure & Appl. Math., (2024), https://doi.org/10.1007/s13226-024-00720-2.
- [178] H. V. Dedania, and J. G. Patel, The Operator Norms on Weighted Discrete Semigroup Algebras $\ell^1(S,\omega)$, Proc. American Math. Soc., 149(12)(2021)5313-5319.
- [179] A. Defant and D. Wiesner, *Polynomials in operator space theory*, J. Funct. Anal. 266 (2014), no. 9, 5493–5525.
- [180] R. Devendra, T.C. John, and K. Sumesh, What is a Gaussian channel, and when is it physically implementable using a multiport interferometer?, arXiv:2505.02834.
- [181] B. Dickinson, Ph. Delsarte, Y. Genin, and Y. Kamp, *Minimal realizations of pseudo-positive and pseudo-bounded rational matrices*, IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems, 32 (1985), no. 6, 603–605.
- [182] P. G. Dixon, Banach algebras satisfying the non-unital von Neumann inequality, Bull. London Math. Soc. 27 (1995), 359-362.
- [183] A. A. Dosiev, Local operator spaces, unbounded operators and multinormed C*-algebras, J. Funct. Anal. 255 (2008), no. 7, 1724–1760.
- [184] R. G. Douglas, G. Misra, and C. Varughese, On quotient modules the case of arbitrary multiplicity, J. Func. Anal., 174 (2000), 364 - 398.
- [185] R. G. Douglas, G. Misra, and C. Varughese, Geometric invariants for quotient modules from resolutions of Hilbert modules, IN Operator Theory: Advances and Application, 129 (2001), 241 270.
- [186] R. G. Douglas, M. Putinar and K. Wang, Reducing subspaces for analytic multipliers of the Bergman space, J. Funct. Anal. 263 (2012), no. 6, 1744–1765.
- [187] S. Drury, *Remarks on von Neumann's inequality*. Banach spaces, Harmonic analysis, and probability theory. Proceedings (edited by R. Blei and S. Syd-ney), Storrs 80/81. Springer Lecture Notes 995, 14-32.
- [188] Y. Duan and K. Guo, Dimension formula for localization of Hilbert modules, J. Operator Theory 62 (2009), no. 2, 439-452.
- [189] S. Dutta, D. Khurana, and A. Sensarma, Representing matrices, M-ideals and tensor products of L_1 -preduct spaces, Extracta Math. 33 (2018), no. 1, 33–50.
- [190] S. Dutta and Bor-Luh Lin, Local U-Convexity, J. Convex Anal. 18 (2011), no. 3, 811–821.
- [191] K. Dykema and A. Skripka, Higher order spectral shift, J. Funct. Anal. 257 (2009), no. 4, 1092–1132.

- [192] K. Dykema and A. Skripka, Perturbation formulas for traces on normed ideals, Comm. Math. Phys. 325 (2014), no. 3, 1107–1138.
- [193] A. Edigarian and W. Zwonek, Geometry of the symmetrized polydisc, Arch. Math. (Basel) 84 (2005), no. 4, 364–374.
- [194] E. G. Effros and Z.-J. Ruan, Self-duality for the Haagerup tensor product and Hilbert space factorizations, J. Funct. Anal. 100 (1991), no. 2, 257–284.
- [195] E. G. Effros and Z.-J. Ruan, *Operator spaces*, London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, 23, Oxford Univ. Press, New York, 2000.
- [196] D. R. Farenick et al., Operator systems from discrete groups, Comm. Math. Phys. 329 (2014), no. 1, 207–238.
- [FMP] P. Fima, K. Mukherjee, and I. Patri, On Compact Bicrossed Products, J. Noncommut. Geom. vol. 11(4), 1521–1591 (2017).
- [197] S. Fisher, The convex hull of the finite Blaschke products, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 74 (1968), 1128–1129.
- [198] S. Fisher, On Schwarz's lemma and inner functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 138 (1969), 229–240.
- [199] D. Galicer, S. Muro and P. Sevilla-Peris. Asymptotic estimates on the von Neumann inequality for homogeneous polynomials. J. Reine Angew. Math. 743 (2018), 213–227.
- [200] J. Ganesh, G. Ramesh and D. Sukumar, A characterization of absolutely minimum attaining operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 468 (2018), no. 1, 567–583.
- [201] E. Gardella, *Rokhlin Dimension for Compact Group Actions*. Indiana University Mathematics Journal. 66 (2017), 659-703.
- [202] S. Ghara, S. Kumar, and P. Pramanick, K-homogeneous tuple of operators on bounded symmetric domains, Israel J. Math., 247 (2022), 331-360.
- [203] S. Ghara and G. Misra, Decomposition of the tensor product of two Hilbert modules, Operator Theory, Operator Algebras and Their Interactions with Geometry and Topology Ronald G. Douglas Memorial Volume, 221 - 265, Eds. R. Curto, W. Helton, W. Lin, X. Tang, R. Yang, G. Yu, Birkhauser, 2020.
- [204] S. Ghara and G. Misra, The relationship of the Gaussian curvature with the curvature of a Cowen-Douglas operator, Fields Inst. Commun., 87 Springer, Cham, 2023, 399 - 417.
- [205] S. Ghara, S. Kumar, G. Misra and P. Pramanick, Commuting tuple of multiplication operators homogeneous under the unitary group, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 109 (2024), no. 4, Paper No. e12890, 37 pp.
- [206] G. Ghosh, The weighted Bergman spaces and complex reflection groups, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 548 (2025), no. 2, Paper No. 129366, 24 pp.
- [207] G. Ghosh, Multiplication operators on the Bergman space by proper holomorphic mappings, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 510 (2022), no. 2, Paper No. 126026, 12 pp.
- [208] A. Ghosh and G. Ghosh, L^p regularity of Szegö projections on quotient domains, New York J. Math. 29 (2023), 911–930.
- [209] G. Ghosh and S. Hazra, On analytic structure of weighted shifts on generalized directed semi-trees. Linear Multilinear Algebra 71 (2023), no. 9, 1545–1564.
- [210] G. Ghosh and E. K. Narayanan, Toeplitz operators on the weighted Bergman spaces of quotient domains, Bull. Sci. Math. 188 (2023), Paper No. 103340, 29 pp.
- [211] G. Ghosh and S. Shyam Roy, Brown-Halmos type Theorems on the proper images of bounded symmetric domains, arXiv:2405.08002.
- [212] J. R. Giles, D. A. Gregory, Brailey Sims, Characterisation of normed linear spaces with Mazur's intersection property, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 18 (1978), 105-123.
- [213] A. M. Gleason, A characterization of maximal ideals, J. Anal. Math. 19 (1967), 171-172.
- [214] D. Gothwal, More on the (uniform) Mazur intersection property, Studia Math. 278 (2024), no. 1, 49–67.
- [215] H. Grunsky, Lectures on theory of functions in multiply connected domains, Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, Göttingen, 1978, Studia Mathematica, Skript 4.
- [216] A. Grothendieck, Résumé de la théorie métrique des produits tensoriels topologiques, Bol. Soc. Mat. São Paulo. 8 (1953), 1–79.

- [217] R. Gupta, A. Mal, G. Misra, and S. K. Ray, Extreme points, Polytopes and the Grothendieck constant, Pre-print, 2025.
- [218] R. Gupta, G. Misra, and S. K. Ray, On a variant of the Grothendieck inequality and estimates on tensor product norms. arXiv:2305.13270v2
- [219] R. Gupta, and S. K. Ray, On a question of N. Th. Varopoulos and the constant $C_2(n)$. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 68 (2018), no. 6, 2613–2634.
- [220] R. Gupta, R. and Md. Ramiz Reza, Operator space structures on $\ell^1(n)$. Houston J. Math., 44 (2018), no. 4, 1205–1212.
- [221] V. P. Gupta and P. Luthra, Operator system nuclearity via C*-envelopes, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 101 (2016), no. 3, 356–375.
- [222] V. P. Gupta and D. Sharma, On possible values of the interior angle between intermediate subalgebras, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 117 (2024), no. 1, 44-66.
- [223] U. Haagerup, The Grothendieck inequality for bilinear forms on C*-algebras, Adv. in Math. 56 (1985), no. 2, 93–116.
- [224] U. Haagerup and M. Muşat, The Effros-Ruan conjecture for bilinear forms on C^* -algebras, Invent. Math. 174 (2008), no. 1, 139–163.
- [225] M. Hamana, *Injective envelopes of operator systems*, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 15 (1979), no. 3, 773–785.
- [226] M. Hartz, On von Neumann's inequality on the polydisc, Math. Ann., 391 (2025), no. 4, 5235-5264.
- [227] O. Heinävaara, Tracial joint spectral measures. Invent. Math., 239 (2025), no. 2, 505–526.
- [228] O. Heinävaara, Planes in Schatten-3. J. Funct. Anal., 287 (2024), no. 2, Paper No. 110469, 19 pp.
- [229] I. Hirshberg, W. Winter & J. Zacharias, Rokhlin Dimension and C*-Dynamics. Communications In Mathematical Physics. 335 (2015), 637-670.
- [230] H. Huang and D. Zheng, Multiplication operators on the Bergman space of bounded domains, Adv. Math. 461 (2025), Paper No. 110045, 35 pp.
- [231] Y. Hou, K. Ji, S. Ji and J. Xu, Geometry of holomorphic vector bundles and similarity of commuting tuples of operators, J. Operator Theory, 91 (2024), 169–202.
- [232] Z. Huo and B. D. Wick, L^p -regularity of the Bergman projection on the symmetrized polydisc, arXiv:2303.10002.
- [233] S. Ino and Y. Watatani, Perturbation of intermediate C^* -subalgebras for simple C^* -algebras, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 46 (2014), 469–480.
- [234] Jaiksihan, S. Lata and D. Singh, Multiplicativity of linear functionals on function spaces on an open disc, Archiv der Mathematik 123 (2024), 65-74.
- [235] Jaiksihan, S. Lata and D. Singh, A several variables Kowalski-Słodkowski theorem for topological spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:2410.04131 (2024).
- [236] R. Jain and A. Kumar, Operator space tensor products of C*-algebras, Math. Z. 260 (2008), no. 4, 805–811.
- [237] R. C. James, Orthogonality and linear functionals in normed linear spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., **61** (1947), 265-292.
- [238] K. Ji, C. Jiang, D. K. Keshari and G. Misra, Rigidity of the flag structure for a class of Cowen-Douglas operators, J. Func. Anal., 272 (2017), 2899 2932.
- [239] K. Ji; H-K Kwon, J. Sarkar, and J. Xu, A subclass of the Cowen-Douglas class and similarity, Math. Nachr. 295 (2022), 2197 - 2222.
- [240] J. Jiang and Ji, Kui, Similarity classification of holomorphic curves, Adv. Math., 215 (2007), 446 - 468.
- [241] C. Jiang, K. Ji, and G. Misra, Classification quasi-homogeneous holomorphic curves and operators in the Cowen-Douglas class, J. Func. Anal. 273 (2017), 2870 2915.
- [242] C. Jiang, K. Ji, and D. Keshari, Geometric similarity invariants of Cowen-Douglas operators, J. Noncommut. Geom., 17 (2023), 573–608.
- [243] C. Jiang and Z. Wang, Strongly irreducible operators on Hilbert space, Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, vol. 389, Longman, Harlow, 1998.

- [244] T. C. John and K. R. Parthasarathy, A common parametrization for finite mode Gaussian states, their symmetries, and associated contractions with some applications, J. Math. Phys. 62, 022102 (2021).
- [245] V. Jones, *Index for subfactors*, Invent. Math. 72 (1983), 1–25.
- [246] M. Junge, and J. Parcet, Mixed-norm inequalities and operator space L_p embedding theory. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 203 (2010), vi+155 pp.
- [247] V. Kaftal and G. Weiss, *Soft ideals and arithmetic mean ideals*, Integral Equations Operator Theory, Vol. 58, 2007.
- [248] V. Kaftal and G. Weiss, *Traces, ideals, and arithmetic means*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, Vol. 99, 2002.
- [249] J. P. Kahane and W. Zelazko, A characterization of maximal ideals in commutative Banach algebras, Studia Math. 29 (1968), 339-343.
- [250] A. Kansal and A. Kumar, Haagerup tensor product of C*-ternary rings, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 528 (2023), no. 1, Paper No. 127482, 20 pp.
- [251] A. Kansal and A. Kumar, *Ideals in Haagerup tensor product of C*-ternary rings and TROs*, Oper. Matrices. 17 (2023), no. 3, 731–748.
- [252] A. Ş. Kavruk et al., Tensor products of operator systems, J. Funct. Anal. 261 (2011), no. 2, 267–299.
- [253] M. Kennedy, N. A. Manor and V. I. Paulsen, *Composition of PPT maps*, Quantum Inf. Comput. 18 (2018), no. 5-6, 472–480.
- [254] V. B. Kiran Kumar and A. Tonny, On approximating the symplectic spectrum of infinite-dimensional operators, J. Math. Phys. 65 (2024), no. 4, Paper No. 042201, 19 pp.
- [255] E. Kirchberg and S. Wassermann, C^* -algebras generated by operator systems, J. Funct. Anal. 155 (1998), no. 2, 324–351.
- [256] S.-J. Kim, V. I. Paulsen and C. P. Schafhauser, A synchronous game for binary constraint systems, J. Math. Phys. 59 (2018), no. 3, 032201, 17 pp.
- [257] A. Koranyi and G. Misra, Homogeneous Hermitian holomorphic vector bundles and the Cowen-Douglas class over bounded symmetric domains, Adv. Math., 351 (2019), 1105 - 1138.
- [258] A. Koranyi and G. Misra, A classification of homogeneous operators in the Cowen-Douglas class, Adv. Math., 226 (2011) 5338 5360.
- [259] G. Knese, Kummert's approach to realization on the bidisc, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 70 (2021), no. 6, 2369-2403.
- [260] G. Knese, Polynomials with no zeros on the bidisk, Analysis and PDE, 3 (2020), no. 2, 109-149.
- [261] L. S. Koplienko, Trace formula for perturbations of nonnuclear type, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 25 (1984), no. 5, 62–71 (in Russian). English Transl.: Siberian Math. J. 25 (1984), 735–743.
- [262] S. Kowalski and Z. Słodkowski, A characterization of multiplicative linear functionals in Banach algebras, Studia Math. 67 (1980), 215–223.
- [263] M. G. Krein, On the trace formula in perturbation theory, Mat. Sbornik N.S. 33 (75) (1953), 597–626.
- [264] M. G. Krein, On perturbation determinants and a trace formula for unitary and self-adjoint operators, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 144 (1962), 268–271.
- [265] M. G. Krein, Perturbation determinants and a trace formula for some classes of pairs of operators, J. Operator Theory 17 (1987), no. 1, 129–187.
- [266] S. H. Kulkarni and G. Ramesh, On the denseness of minimum attaining operators, Oper. Matrices. 12 (2018), no. 3, 699–709.
- [267] S. H. Kulkarni and G. Ramesh, Absolutely minimum attaining closed operators: a survey, in Inverse problems, regularization methods and related topics—a volume in honour of Thamban Nair, 273–302, Ind. Appl. Math., Springer, Singapore.
- [268] A. Kumar and A. M. Sinclair, Equivalence of norms on operator space tensor products of C*-algebras, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 350 (1998), no. 5, 2033–2048.
- [269] A. Kumar, Operator space projective tensor product of C*-algebras, Math. Z. 237 (2001), no. 2, 211–217.
- [270] A. Kumar and P. Luthra, Nuclearity properties and C*-envelopes of operator system inductive limits, J. Korean Math. Soc. 55 (2018), no. 5, 1045–1061.

- [271] D. Kumar, K. B. Sinha, S. Srivastava. Quantum dynamical semigroups and stability, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 516, no. 1, (2022), 126492, 21 pp.
- [272] S. Kumar, Spherically balanced Hilbert spaces of formal power series in several variables-II, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory, 10 (2016), 505-526.
- [273] S. Kumar, M. K. Mal, and P. Pramanick, Cartan Isometries and Toeplitz Operators on Cartan domains, https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2505.24325.
- [274] H-K. Kwon and S. Treil, Curvature condition for non-contractions does not imply similarity to the backward shift, Integral Equations Operator Theory, 66 (2010), 529 538.
- [275] E.C. Lance, On nuclear C*-algebras, J. Functional Analysis. 12 (1973), 157–176.
- [276] S. Lata and D. Singh, Bohr's inequality for non-commutative Hardy spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 150 (2022), 201-211.
- [277] E. Levy and O.R. Shalit, Dilation theory in finite dimensions: the possible, the impossible and the unknown, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 44 (2014), no. 1, 203–221.
- [278] I. M. Lifshitz, On a problem of the theory of perturbations connected with quantum statistics, Uspehi Matem. Nauk (N.S.) 7 (1952), no. 1 (47), 171–180.
- [279] R. Longo, Conformal subnets and intermediate subfactors, Commun. Math. Phys. 237 (2003), 7-30.
- [280] J. Loreaux, S. Patnaik, S. Petrovic, G. Weiss, On Commutators of Compact Operators: Generalizations and Limitations of Anderson's Approach, Integral Equations and Operator Equations, 2024.
- [281] J. Loreaux and G. Weiss, Matrix Splitting and ideals in $B(\mathcal{H})$, Operators and Matrices, Vol. 16, 2022.
- [282] J. Loreaux and G. Weiss, *Traces on ideals and the commutator property*, Theta Ser. Adv. Math., Vol. 20, Theta, Bucharest, 2018.
- [283] S. Lord, F. Sukochev and D. Zanin, *Singular traces. Vol. 1. Theory*, De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics, vol. 46/1, De Gruyter, Berlin, 2021.
- [284] M. Lupini, Fraïssé limits in functional analysis, Adv. Math. 338 (2018), 93-174.
- [285] P. Luthra and A. Kumar, Embeddings and C*-envelopes of exact operator systems, Bull. Aust. Math. Soc. 96 (2017), no. 2, 274–285.
- [286] P. Luthra, A. Kumar and V. Rajpal, Polynomials in operator space theory: matrix ordering and algebraic aspects, Positivity. 22 (2018), no. 2, 629–652.
- [287] A. Mal, S. Dey and K. Paul, Characterization of k-smoothness of operators defined between infinite-dimensional spaces, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 70 (2022) 3477-3489.
- [288] A. Mal and K. Paul, Distance formulae and best approximation in the space of compact operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 509 (2022) 125952.
- [289] A. Mal, K. Paul and D. Sain, Birkhoff-James Orthogonality and Geometry of Operator Spaces, Infosys Science Foundation Series, Springer Singapore (2024) ISBN:978-981-99-7110-7.
- [290] M. M. Malamud and H. Neidhardt, Trace formulas for additive and non-additive perturbations, Adv. Math. 274 (2015), 736–832.
- [291] M. M. Malamud, H. Neidhardt and V. V. Peller, Absolute continuity of spectral shift, J. Funct. Anal. 276 (2019), no. 5, 1575–1621.
- [292] S. A. M. Marcantognini and M. D. Morán, Koplienko-Neidhardt trace formula for pairs of contraction operators and pairs of maximal dissipative operators, Math. Nachr. 279 (2006), no. 7, 784–797.
- [293] J. Mashreghi and T. Ransford, Approximation in the closed unit ball, New Trends in Approximation Theory: In Memory of Andre Boivin (2018), 89–129.
- [294] J. Mashreghi and T. Ransford, A Gleason-Kahane-Żelazko theorem for modules and applications to holomorphic function spaces, Bull. London Math. Soc. 47 (2015), 1014-1020.
- [295] G. Misra, Completely contractive Hilbert modules and Parrott's example. Acta Math. Hungar. 63 (1994), no. 3, 291-303.
- [296] G. Misra, A. Pal, and C. Varughese, Contractivity and complete contractivity for finite dimensional Banach spaces. J. Operator Theory, 82 (2019), no. 1, 23–47.
- [297] G. Misra, S. Shyam Roy and G. Zhang, Reproducing kernel for a class of weighted Bergman spaces on the symmetrized polydisc, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 141 (2013), no. 7, 2361–2370.

- [298] G. Misra, G. and V. Pati, Contractive and completely contractive modules, matricial tangent vectors and distance decreasing metrics. J. Operator Theory, 30 (1993), no. 2, 353-380.
- [299] G. Misra and R. Md. Reza Curvature inequalities and extremal operators, Illinois J. Math. 63 (2019), 193 - 217.
- [300] G. Misra, and N. N. Sastry, Bounded modules, extremal problems, and a curvature inequality. J. Funct. Anal., 88 (1990), no. 1, 118-134.
- [301] G. Misra, and N. N. Sastry, Completely bounded modules and associated extremal problems. J. Funct. Anal., 91 (1990), no. 2, 213-220.
- [302] G. Misra and H. Upmeier, Singular Hilbert modules on Jordan-Kepler varieties, Operator Theory, Operator Algebras and Their Interactions with Geometry and Topology Ronald G. Douglas Memorial Volume, 425 453, Eds. R. Curto, W. Helton, W. Lin, X. Tang, R. Yang, G. Yu, Birkhauser, 2020.
- [303] G. Misra and H. Upmeier, Homogeenous vector bundles and intertwining operators for symmetric domains, Adv. Math., 303 (2016), 1077 1121.
- [304] A. N. Mohapatra and K. B. Sinha, Spectral shift function and trace formula. Spectral and inverse spectral theory, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 104 (1994), no. 4, 819–853.
- [305] A. N. Mohapatra and K. B. Sinha, Spectral shift function and trace formula for unitaries—a new proof, Integral Equations Operator Theory 24 (1996), no. 3, 285–297.
- [MP] K. Mukherjee and I. Patri, Automorphisms of compact Quantum Groups, J. Lond. Math. Soc. vol. 116(2), 330–377 (2018).
- [306] S. P. Murugan and S. Sundar, On the existence of E₀-semigroups—the multiparameter case, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 21 (2018), no. 2, 1850007, 20.
- [307] V. Müller and F. Vasilescu, Standard models for some commuting multioperators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 117 (1993), 979-989.
- [308] C. H. Namitha and S. Sundar, Multiparameter decomposable product systems, Houston J. Math. 50 (2024), no. 1, 29–82.
- [309] C.H. Namitha and S. Sundar, On multiparameter CAR (canonical anticommutation relation) flows, to appear in Canad. J. Math., arxiv:2312.06433.
- [310] H. Neidhardt, Spectral shift function and Hilbert-Schmidt perturbation: extensions of some work of L. S. Koplienko, Math. Nachr. 138 (1988), 7–25.
- [311] O. Nevanlinna, Matrix valued versions of a result of von Neumann with an application to time discretization, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 12 & 13 (1985), 475-489.
- [312] B. Nica, Homotopical Stable Ranks for Banach Algebras. Journal Of Functional Analysis. 261 (2011), 803-830.
- [313] A. Nirbhay & P. Vaidyanathan, Homotopical stable ranks for certain C*-algebras associated to groups. Studia Mathematica. 261 (2021), 307-328.
- [314] D. Nikshych and L. Vainermann, A characterization of depth 2 subfactors of II₁ factors, J. Funct. Anal. 171 (2000), 278–307.
- [315] A. Olofsson, Parts of adjoint weighted shifts, J. Operator Theory, vol. 74. No. 2 (Fall 2015), pp. 249-280.
- [316] E. M. Ouhabaz, Invariance of closed convex sets and domination criteria for semigroups, Potential Anal., 5(6), (1996) 611–625.
- [317] A. Pal, On Γ_n -contractions and their conditional dilations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 510 (2022), no. 2, Paper No. 126016, 36 pp.
- [318] S. Pal and O. Shalit, Spectral sets and distinguished varieties in the symmetrized bidisc, J. Funct. Anal. 266 (2014), no. 9, 5779–5800.
- [319] S. K. Pandey and V. I. Paulsen, A spectral characterization of AN operators, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 102 (2017), no. 3, 369–391.
- [320] Pappu, S. Rastogi, S. Srivastava, Eventual Positivity, Perturbations and Delay Semigroups, Positivity 29, (2025), no. 1, 12, 24 pp.
- [321] S. Parrott, Unitary dilations for commuting contractions. Pacific J. Math., 34 (1970), 481-490.
- [322] K. R. Parthasarathy, Computation of sandwiched relative α-entropy of two n-mode Gaussian states, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 25 (2022), no. 2, Paper No. 2250008, 10 pp.
- [323] K. R. Parthasarathy, What is a Gaussian state?, Commun. Stoch. Anal. 4, 143–160 (2010).

- [324] A. B. Patel, The Convexity of the Spatial Numerical Range in the Beurling Algebra $L^1(G, \omega)$, Indian J. Pure & Appl. Math., (2025), https://doi.org/10.1007/s13226-025-00843-0.
- [325] S. Patnaik, On simplicity of Lie algebras of compact operators: a direct approach, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 510, 2022.
- [326] S. Patnaik, S. Petrovic, G. Weiss, Universal block tridiagonalization in $B(\mathcal{H})$ and beyond, Adv. Anal. Geom., 2, De Gruyter, Berlin, 2020.
- [327] K. Paul, Translatable radii of an operator in the direction of another operator, Sci. Math., 2 (1999) 119-122.
- [328] K. Paul, D. Sain and P. Ghosh, Birkhoff-James orthogonality and smoothness of bounded linear operators, Linear Algebra Appl., **506** (2016) 551-563.
- [329] K. Paul, D. Sain, A. Mal, and K. Mandal, Orthogonality of bounded linear operators on complex Banach spaces, Adv. Oper. Theory, 3 (2018) 699-709.
- [330] V. Paulsen, Completely bounded maps and operator algebras, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 78, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [331] V. I. Paulsen, Representations of function algebras, abstract operator spaces, and Banach space geometry. J. Funct. Anal., 109 (1992), no. 1, 113–129.
- [332] V. Paulsen, G. Popescu and D. Singh, On Bohr's inequality, Proc. London Math. Soc. 85 (2002), 493-512.
- [333] V. Paulsen and D. Singh, Extensions of Bohr's inequality, Bull. London Math. Soc. 38 (2006), 991-999.
- [334] V. Paulsen and D. Singh, Bohr's inequality for uniform algebras, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 132 (2004), 3577-3579.
- [335] L. Paunonen, Robustness of polynomial stability with respect to unbounded perturbations, Systems Control Lett. 62 (2013), no. 4, 331-337.
- [336] L. Paunonen, Polynomial stability of semigroups generated by operator matrices, J. Evol. Equ., 14, (2014), no. 4-5, 885-911.
- [337] Carl Pearcy and David Topping, On commutators in ideals of compact operators, Michigan Mathematical Journal, Vol. 18, 1971.
- [338] V. V. Peller, An extension of the Koplienko-Neidhardt trace formulae, J. Funct. Anal. 221 (2005), no. 2, 456–481.
- [339] V. V. Peller, Multiple operator integrals and higher operator derivatives, J. Funct. Anal. 233 (2006), no. 2, 515–544.
- [340] V. V. Peller, The Lifshitz-Krein trace formula and operator Lipschitz functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 144 (2016), no. 12, 5207–5215.
- [341] M. Pimsner and S. Popa, Entropy and index for subfactors, Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. 19 (1986), no.4, 57–106.
- [342] G. Pisier, *Introduction to operator space theory*. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 294. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003, viii+478 pp.
- [343] G. Pisier, Similarity Problems and Completely Bounded Maps. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1618, Springer, 2nd edition, 2001, viii+198 pp.
- [344] G. Pisier, On the duality between type and cotype. In: Chao, JA., Woyczyński, W.A. (eds) Martingale Theory in Harmonic Analysis and Banach Spaces. Lecture Notes in Math., 939, Springer, Berlin, 1982, 131–144.
- [345] G. Pisier and D. Shlyakhtenko, *Grothendieck's theorem for operator spaces*, Invent. Math. 150 (2002), no. 1, 185–217.
- [346] S. Popa, Asymptotic orthogonalization of subalgebras in II_1 -factors, Publ. RIMS Kyoto Univ. 55 (2019), 795–809.
- [347] V. P. Potapov, The multiplicative structure of J-nonexpansive matrix functions, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obsc. (1955), 125-236 (in Russian); English trasl. in: Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (2) 15(1960), 131-243.
- [348] D. Potapov, A. Skripka and F. Sukochev, Spectral shift function of higher order, Invent. Math. 193 (2013), no. 3, 501–538.

- [349] D. Potapov, A. Skripka and F. Sukochev, Higher-order spectral shift for contractions, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 108 (2014), no. 2, 327–349.
- [350] D. Potapov, A. Skripka and F. Sukochev, *Trace formulas for resolvent comparable operators*, Adv. Math. 272 (2015), 630–651.
- [351] D. Potapov, A. Skripka and F. Sukochev, Functions of unitary operators: derivatives and trace formulas, J. Funct. Anal. 270 (2016), no. 6, 2048–2072.
- [352] D. Potapov and F. Sukochev, Koplienko spectral shift function on the unit circle, Comm. Math. Phys. 309 (2012), no. 3, 693–702.
- [353] D. Potapov, F. Sukochev and D. Zanin, Krein's trace theorem revisited, J. Spectr. Theory 4 (2014), no. 2, 415–430.
- [354] M. Putinar and S. Sandberg, *Privilege on strictly convex domains*, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei (9) Mat. Appl. 15 (2004), no. 1, 39–45.
- [355] Robert T. Powers, A nonspatial continuous semigroup of *-endomorphisms of B(H), Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 23 (1987), no. 6, 1053–1069.
- [356] Robert T. Powers, An index theory for semigroups of *-endomorphisms of B(H) and type II_1 factors, Canad. J. Math. 40 (1988), no. 1, 86–114.
- [357] Robert T. Powers, New examples of continuous spatial semigroups of *-endomorphisms of B(H), Internat. J. Math. 10 (1999), no. 2, 215–288.
- [358] Robert T. Powers, Continuous spatial semigroups of completely positive maps of B(H), New York J. Math. 9 (2003), 165–269.
- [359] T. Prajapati, K.B. Sinha and S. Srivastava, Lyapunov property of positive C₀ semigroups on non-commutative Lp spaces, Operators and Matrices, Volume 13, (2019), No.4, 907-919.
- [360] V. Rajpal, A. Kumar and T. Itoh, Schur tensor product of operator spaces, Forum Math. 27 (2015), no. 6, 3635–3655.
- [361] G. Ramesh, H. Osaka and S. S. Sequeira, Denseness of a subclass of norm attaining operators with invariant subspaces, to appear in J. Operator Theory, 12pp.
- [362] G. Ramesh and S. S. Sequeira, Representation and normality of hyponormal operators in the closure of AN-operators, Acta Math. Hungar. 174 (2024), no. 2, 341–359.
- [363] G. Ramesh; H. Osaka; Y. Udagawa; T. Yamazaki, Stability of AN-property for the induced Aluthge transformations, Linear Algebra Appl. 678 (2023), 206–226.
- [364] G. Ramesh; H. Osaka; Y. Udagawa; T. Yamazaki, Stability of AN-operators under functional calculus, Anal. Math. 49 (2023), no. 3, 825–839.
- [365] G. Ramesh and S. S. Sequeira, Absolutely minimum attaining Toeplitz and absolutely norm attaining Hankel operators, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris. 361 (2023), 973–977.
- [366] G. Ramesh and S. S. Sequeira, On the closure of absolutely norm attaining operators, Linear Multilinear Algebra. 71 (2023), no. 18, 2894–2914.
- [367] G. Ramesh and S. S. Sequeira, Absolutely norm attaining Toeplitz and absolutely minimum attaining Hankel operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 516 (2022), no. 1, Paper No. 126497, 12 pp.
- [368] G. Ramesh and H. Osaka, On a subclass of norm attaining operators, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged). 87 (2021), no. 1-2, 247–263.
- [369] G. Ramesh, Absolutely norm attaining paranormal operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 465 (2018), no. 1, 547–556.
- [370] G. Ramesh, M. Veena Sangeetha, and Shanola S. Sequeira, Representation of compact operators between Banach spaces, J. Operator Theory 94(2025), no. 1, 3-21.
- [371] T. S. S. R. K. Rao, On almost isometric ideals in Banach spaces, Monatsh. Math. 181 (2016), no. 1, 169–176.
- [372] T. S. S. R. K. Rao, Into isometries that preserve finite dimensional structure of the range, Problems and recent methods in operator theory, 219–224, Contemp. Math. 687, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2017.
- [373] S. Rastogi, Polynomial stability and delay semigroups, Nonlinear Studies, 25 (2018), no. 4, 911-920.
- [374] S. Rastogi, S. Srivastava, Non-analytic growth bound and delay semigroups, Semigroup Forum 99, no. 3, 788-813, 2019.

- [375] S. Rastogi, and S. Srivastava, Strong and polynomial stability for delay semigroups, J. Evolution Equations, 21 (2021), no. 1, 441-472.
- [376] S. K. Ray, On isometric embedding $\ell_p^m \to S_\infty$ and unique operator space structure. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc., 52 (2020), no. 3, 437–447.
- [377] S. K. Ray, Grothendieck Inequality. Diss. 2016.
- [378] R. Md. Reza, Curvature inequalities for operators in the Cowen-Douglas class of a planar domain, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 67 (2018), 1255 - 1279.
- [379] M. Rieffel, Dimension and Stable Rank in the K-Theory of C*-Algebras. Proceedings Of The London Mathematical Society. s3-46 (1983), 301-333.
- [380] M. Rieffel, The Homotopy Groups of the Unitary Groups of Non-Commutative Tori. Journal Of Operator Theory. 17 (1987), 237-254.
- [381] J. Rozendaal, D. Seifert, and R. Stahn, Optimal rates of decay for operator semigroups on Hilbert spaces, Adv. Math. 346 (2019), 359-388.
- [382] W. Rudin, Inner functions in the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^N , J. Funct. Anal. 50 (1983), 100–120.
- [383] W. Rudin, Proper holomorphic maps and finite reflection groups, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 31 (1982), no. 5, 701–720.
- [384] W. Rudin, Function theory in polydiscs, W. A. Benjamin, Inc., 1969.
- [385] D. Sain, On best approximations to compact operators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 149 (2021) 4273–4286.
- [386] D. Sain, A. Mal. and K. Paul, Some remarks on Birkhoff-James orthogonality of linear operators, Expo. Math., 38 (2020) 138-147.
- [387] D. Sain and K. Paul, Operator norm attainment and inner product spaces, Linear Alg. Appl. 439 (2013), 2448-2452.
- [388] D. Sain, K. Paul and A. Mal, A complete characterization of Birkhoff-James orthogonality in infinite dimensional normed space, J. Operator Theory, 80 (2018) 399-413.
- [389] D. Sain, K. Paul, A. Mal and A. Ray, A complete characterization of smoothness in the space of bounded linear operators, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 68 (2020) 2484-2494.
- [390] D. Sain, A. Ray and K. Paul, Extreme contractions on finite-dimensional polygonal Banach spaces, J. Convex Anal. 26 (2019) 877-885.
- [391] D. Sain, S. Sohel, S. Ghosh and K. Paul, On best coapproximations in subspaces of diagonal matrices, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 71 (2023), 47-62.
- [392] D. Sain, S. Sohel and K. Paul, On k-smoothness of operators between Banach spaces, Bull. Sci. Math. 196 (2024) 103486.
- [393] J. Sampat, Cyclicity preserving operators on spaces of analytic functions in \mathbb{C}^n , Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory 93 (2021), 1-20.
- [394] J. Sarkar, Operator theory on symmetrized bidisc, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 64 (2015), no. 3, 847–873.
- [395] Piyasa Sarkar and S. Sundar, Examples of multiparameter CCR flows with non-trivial index, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 65 (2022), no. 3, 799–832.
- [396] Piyasa Sarkar and S. Sundar, *Induced isometric representations*, New York J. Math. 30 (2024), 1534–1555.
- [397] G. Sebastian and S. Daniel, A weaker Gleason–Kahane–Żelazko theorem for modules and applications to Hardy spaces, Colloquium Mathematicum 164 (2021), 273-282.
- [398] A. Seth and P. Vaidyanathan, AF-algebras and Rational Homotopy Theory. New York J. Math. 26 (2020), 931-949.
- [399] A. Seth, and P. Vaidyanathan, K-Stability of Continuous C(X)-Algebras. Proceedings Of The American Mathematical Society. 148 (2020), 3897-3909.
- [400] A. Seth, & P. Vaidyanathan, Rational K-Stability of Continuous C(X)-Algebras. Journal Of The Australian Mathematical Society. 115 (2023), 119-144.
- [401] A. Seth & P. Vaidyanathan, K-Stability of AT-algebras. Journal Of Mathematical Analysis And Applications. 522 (2023), 126957.
- [402] S. Sidon, Über einen Satz von Herrn Bohr, Math. Zietschrift 26 (1927), 731-732.
- [403] A. Skripka, Higher order spectral shift, II. Unbounded case, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 59 (2010), no. 2, 691–706.

- [404] A. Skripka, Asymptotic expansions for trace functionals, J. Funct. Anal. 266 (2014), no. 5, 2845–2866.
- [405] A. Skripka, *Trace formulas for multivariate operator functions*, Integral Equations Operator Theory 81 (2015), no. 4, 559–580.
- [406] A. Skripka, Estimates and trace formulas for unitary and resolvent comparable perturbations, Adv. Math. 311 (2017), 481–509.
- [407] A. Skripka, Taylor asymptotics of spectral action functionals, J. Operator Theory 80 (2018), no. 1, 113–124.
- [408] A. Skripka and A. Tomskova, Multilinear operator integrals. Theory and applications, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2250, Springer, Cham, 2019.
- [409] K. Shoda, Einige Sätze über Matrizen, Jap. J. Math, 13, 1936.
- [410] R. Srinivasan, CCR and CAR flows over convex cones, arxiv/math.OA:1908.00188v1.
- [411] S. Sundar, Is Every Product System Concrete?, to appear in Trans. Lond. Math. Soc., arXiv:2402.07607v3.
- [412] S. Sundar, Arveson's characterisation of CCR flows: the multiparameter case, J. Funct. Anal. 280 (2021), no. 1.
- [413] Sureshkumar M. & P. Vaidyanathan, Rokhlin Dimension: Permanence Properties and Ideal Separation. Groups, Geometry, And Dynamics. (2024)
- [414] Sureshkumar M. & P. Vaidyanathan, Rokhlin Dimension and Inductive Limit Actions on AF-algebras. (arXiv,2024)
- [415] G. Szabó, J. Wu & J. Zacharias, Rokhlin Dimension for Actions of Residually Finite Groups. Ergodic Theory And Dynamical Systems. 39 (2019), 2248-2304.
- [416] B. Sz.-Nagy, Sur les contractions de l'espace de Hilbert, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged), 15 (1953), 87-92.
- [417] B. Sz.-Nagy and C. Foias, Harmonic analysis of operators on Hilbert space. North-Holland, Amsterdam-London, 1970.
- [418] B. Sz.-Nagy, C. Foiaș, H. Bercovici, and L. Kérchy, *Harmonic Analysis of Operators on Hilbert Space*. Springer, 2nd edition, 2010, xiv+474 pp.
- [419] K. Thomsen, Nonstable K-Theory for Operator Algebras. K-Theory. 4 (1991), 245-267.
- [420] M. Tomić, Sur un théorème de H. Bohr, Math. Scand. 11 (1962), 103-106.
- [421] A. M. Tonge, The von Neumann inequality for polynomials in several Hilbert-Schmidt operators, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 18 (1978), no. 3, 519-526.
- [422] M. Trybuła, Proper holomorphic mappings, Bell's formula, and the Lu Qi-Keng problem on the tetrablock, Arch. Math. (Basel) 101 (2013), no. 6, 549–558.
- [423] Boris Tsirelson, From random sets to continuous tensor products: answers to three questions of W. Arveson, arxiv/math.FA:0001070.
- [424] Boris Tsirelson, *Non-isomorphic product systems*, Advances in quantum dynamics, Contemp. Math., vol. 335, 2003, pp. 273–328.
- [425] Boris Tsirelson, *Non-isomorphic product systems*, Advances in quantum dynamics (South Hadley, MA, 2002), Contemp. Math., vol. 335, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003, pp. 273–328.
- [426] M. Uchiyama, Curvatures and similarity of operators with holomorphic eigenvectors, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 319 (1990), 405–415.
- [427] H. Upmeier, Stratified Hilbert modules on bounded symmetric domains, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory, 17 (2023), Paper No. 74, 33 pp.
- [428] H. Upmeier, K-invariant Hilbert modules and singular vector bundles on bounded symmetric domains, J. Reine Angew. Math. 799 (2023), 155–187.
- [429] H. Upmeier, Hilbert modules and Kähler geometry, Bol. Soc. Mat. Mex. (2025) 31:126.
- [430] P. Vaidyanathan, Homotopical stable ranks for certain C*-algebras. Studia Mathematica. 247 (2019), 299-328.
- [431] P. Vaidyanathan, Rokhlin Dimension and Equivariant Bundles. Journal Of Operator Theory. 87 (2022), 487-509.
- [432] T. D. H. van Nuland and A. Skripka, Spectral shift for relative Schatten class perturbations, J. Spectr. Theory 12 (2022), no. 4, 1347–1382.

- [433] T. D. H. van Nuland and A. Skripka, *Higher-order spectral shift function for resolvent comparable perturbations*, J. Operator Theory (to appear), arXiv:2211.03330 [math.FA].
- [434] N. Th. Varopoulos, On an inequality of von Neumann and an application of the metric theory of tensor products to operator theory. J. Funct. Anal., 16 (1974), 83-100.
- [435] N. Th. Varopoulos, On a commuting family of contractions on a Hilbert space. Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl., 21 (1976), no. 9, 1283–1285.
- [436] D. Venku Naidu and G. Ramesh, On absolutely norm attaining operators, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 129 (2019), no. 4, Paper No. 54, 17 pp.
- [437] H. Vogt, Stability of uniformly eventually positive C_0 -semigroups on L_p -spaces Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 150 (2022) No. 8, 3513–3515.
- [438] D. Voiculescu, On a trace formula of M. G. Krein, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. vol. 24, pages 329–332. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1987.
- [439] J. von Neumann, Eine Spektraltheorie fur allgemeine Operatoren eines unitdren Raumes, Math. Nachr. 4 (1951), 258-281.
- [440] J. von Neumann, Allgemeine Eigenwerttheorie Hermitescher Funktionaloperatoren, Math. Ann., 102 (1929), 49–131.
- [441] K. Wang, and G. Zhang, Curvature inequalities for operators of the Cowen-Douglas class, Israel J. Math. 222 (2017), 279 296.
- [442] K. Wang and S. Zhang, The non-tangential boundary behavior of the matrix-valued rational inner functions on bounded symmetric domain, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 151 (2023), no. 4, 1539–1551.
- [443] Y. Watatani, Index for C*-subalgebras, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 83 (1990).
- [444] L. Weis, A short proof for the stability theorem for positive semigroups on $L_p(\mu)$, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 126, (1998), Number 11, 3253-3256.
- [445] J. H. M. Whitfield, V. Zizler, *Uniform Mazur's intersection property of balls*, Canad. Math. Bull. 30 (1987), 455-460.
- [446] W. Wojtyński, Banach-Lie algebras of compact operators, Studia Math., Vol. 59, 1976.
- [447] W. Żelazko, A characterization of multiplicative linear functionals in complex Banach algebras, Studia Math. 30 (1968), 83-85.
- [448] Y. Xie and K. Ji, Operators of the Cowen-Douglas class with strong flag structure Rev. R. Acad. Cienc. Exactas Fís. Nat. Ser. A Mat. RACSAM, 118 (2024), Paper No. 132, 21 pp.
- [449] D. R. Yafaev, A trace formula for the Dirac operator, Bull. London Math. Soc. 37 (2005), no. 6, 908–918.
- [450] J. Yang and K. Ji, On the similarity of powers of operators with flag structure, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 152 (2024), no. 10, 4463 4477.
- [451] H. Zhang, (2020). Optimal 2-uniform convexity of Schatten classes revisited. arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.00354.
- [452] S. Zhang, Matricial Structure and Homotopy Type of Simple C*-Algebras with Real Rank Zero. Journal Of Operator Theory. (1991).
- [453] K. Zhu, Reducing subspaces for a class of multiplication operators, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 62 (2000), no. 2, 553–568.

Indian Statistical Institute, Statistics and Mathematics Unit, 8th Mile, Mysore Road, Bangalore, 560059, India

Email address: jaydeb@gmail.com, jay@isibang.ac.in